














• Lakeridge Citizens for Clean Water  
• Earthroots 
• STORM 
• Rural Burlington Greenbelt 

Coalition 
• Clarington Citizens for Clean 

Water and Soil 
• Tecumseth Pines Residents 

Association 
• East Gwillimbury Citizens for 

Clean Water 
• North West Whitby Residents for 

Clean Water 
• Concerned Citizens of 

Bloomington 
• STORM 
• Concerned Citizens of King 

Township  
• Concerned Citizens of the City of 

Kawartha Lakes 
• Gravel Watch   … 

Ontario Soil Regulation Task Force 

Helping to find sustainable and 
responsible solutions for excess 
soil management.   



Project Clean Dirt 

• Model Site-Alteration By-law 
 

• Model Large Scale Fill Site Legal Agreement 
 

• Model Fill Management Plan  
 

• Rationale Document 
 

• Presentations Across Southern Ontario 



Why Project Clean 
Dirt? 





Some Fill Industry Concerns 

Contamination  

 

Non-compliance Issues 

 

Inappropriate Location of Receiving Site 

 

Legislative Loopholes and Knowledge Gaps 

 

 

 

 



Lakeridge Site, Scugog 
Region of Durham 

Adjacent to Natural Core Area 
on the Oak Ridges Moraine. 

Among many other contaminants, 
cyanide found at 3000 times the 
acceptable limit. 



Sideline 14, Pickering 
Region of Durham  

“Clean fill” dumped at a rural home 
subsequently found to be many times the 
limit for petroleum hydrocarbons in all 
samples tested. Fill ordered removed. 



City of Kawartha Lakes, Taylor’s Rd. fill site 

Unpermitted fill operation with soil certified to be acceptable, 
found to greatly exceed limits in most samples and for many 
contaminants. 



 
 

City of Kawartha, Taylor’s Rd. fill site 

Independent Testing by the MOE’s  Peterborough Office 



Independent testing revealed 
exceedances in heavy metal 
concentrations that are toxic 
to livestock. 

Sheep Farm in Bailieboro 
Ontario, 
County of Peterborough 

“Clean” Fill 

March 2, 2015 Soil Broker  
convicted with dumping 
contaminated fill on 
March 2, 2015, Provincial 
Offences Court, 
Peterborough 



Expired Pit, East Gwillimbury 
York Region 

Filling in violation of agreement with municipality. 
Lands overfilled and covering active farmland. 



Morgan’s Rd. Site,  
Clarington 

Region of Durham 

Initiated without permits. Some 
material found exceeding MOE 
limits for a potable groundwater 
area. Site remains overfilled. 



Source Water Protection Area 
in Whitchurch Stouffville, 

 York Region 
 

Before Filling Operations 



 
 

Filling in violation of municipal agreement.  
Overfilled by an estimated 25,000 truckloads. 

 

Note run-off onto adjacent 
property to east. 



Greenbank Airport Fill Operations in Scugog 
 

Township borehole testing reveals significant 
contamination on site, May 4, 2015 Staff Report 

Hailed by previous Mayor as 
being a “lighthouse” project 
with the “BEST” agreement and 
oversight.  
 



Project	Clean	Dirt	

OSRTF Site Alteration By-Law Project Information 

The Ontario Soil Regulation Task Force (OSRTF) is a collection of environmental NGOs and citizens groups 

helping to find sustainable and responsible solutions for excess soil management.  The dumping of excess 

construction soil from condo excavations, transit projects, redeveloped industrial lands, and other sources 

threatens the rural landforms, soil, and water quality.  The multi-pronged solution involves federal, provincial, 

and municipal jurisdictions.   

For the OGRA/ROMA 2015 Conference, OSRTF is presenting its proposals for improved municipal site 

alteration by-laws.  Starting this spring, OSRTF will be presenting proposals to municipal governments in Ontario 

consisting of: 

� a Site Alteration By-Law Model,  

� the Fill Agreement Model,  

� the Fill Management Plan Model , and 

� a Rationale Document. 

This USB contains our current drafts of the Fill Agreement Model, and the Fill Management Plan Model.  They 

are specific to Large Scale Fill Receiving Sites that accept over 1000 cubic metres of soil, however typically the 

applications are for much greater volumes-anywhere between 100,000 cubic metres to millions of cubic metres. 

The material in the USB directory By-Law - Agreement - Fill Management Plan Models contains part of a larger 

package that will be presenting to municipalities across the province starting spring 2015.   

We reviewed several current large fill agreements and site alteration by-laws in southern Ontario and pulled out 

the very best parts out of those documents for our Models.  We reconciled our Models to the MOECC Best 

Management Practices regarding the Movement of Excess Soils. We have incorporated over 4 and half years of 

dedicated research on fill issues into the documents which are the result of several months of work and hundreds 

of volunteer hours.  Our drafts have been reviewed by technical consultants, professional engineers, professional 

geoscientists in the industry and the by-law model is getting reviewed by an environmental lawyer.  We also 

sought comments from senior hydrogeologists and planning staff with Conservation Authorities and incorporated 

their recommendations into the Models, specifically for the Erosion and Sedimentation Control and Groundwater 

Monitoring Sections contained in the Agreement Model.  The draft documents are currently being circulated to 

industry, conservation authority, municipal, farming, environmental NGO, and MOECC representatives for 

review. 

 

The USB also contains reference documents on other aspects of fill, including a call for a provincial Clean Soil 

Act and on the ability of municipalities to regulate fill at aerodromes. 

 

The protection of the environment and citizens must be first and foremost when regulating Large Scale Fill 

Receiving Sites.   

More information can be found at www.osrtf.ca and at the Lakeridge Citizens for Clean Water website, 

www.lakeridgecitizens.ca for details of our work and research on excess soils issues.  

 



DRAFT Model Agreement for Large Scale Fill Receiving Sites 
 

THIS AGREEMENT made this (date here) BETWEEN: 
 

THE Municipality of ______________________- 

 

 
and 

 
 
 
 
 

______________________________ (the Owner) 
 
WHEREAS the Owner is the owner of the lands located at __________(address) (the Receiving 
Site); 
 
AND WHEREAS Section 142 of the Municipal Act, 2001 S.O. 2001, c.25, authorizes a 
municipality to prohibit or regulate the placing or dumping of fill; 
 
AND WHEREAS section (___) of  By-law Number (____) (the By-law) allows the Municipality 
to enter into an Agreement with the Owner. 
 
NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH that in consideration of the mutual 
covenants hereinafter contained the Parties hereto hereby covenant and agree as follows: 
 
The following Appendices shall form part of the Agreement: 
 
Appendix A - Fill Management Plan 

Appendix B - Ground Water Monitoring Plan 

Appendix C - Grading Plan/Site Plan 

Appendix D - Mud and Dust Control Plan 

Appendix E - Sediment and Erosion Control Plan 

Appendix F- Hauling Routes 

Appendix G - MTO/Region or County Permits (as applicable) 

Appendix H - Complaint Protocol 

Appendix I - Proof of Insurance 

Appendix J - Terms of Reference for the Public Liaison Committee (PLC) 

 
 
 
 
 

Comment [WU1]: This Model 
Agreement was prepared drawing 
inclusions and concepts from various 
existing agreements and Provincial 
Guidelines such as but not limited to the 
Ministry of the Environment and Climate 
Change document entitled, “Soil 
Management – A Guide for Best 
Management Practices January 2014” 
(MOECC BMP), the Dagmar Agreement 
with the Twp. of Uxbridge, the Uxbridge 
Site-alteration By-law, the MAP 
Agreement with East Gwillimbury, the 
East Gwillimbury By-law, The USM 
Agreement with Whitchurch-Stouffville 
and Whitchurch-Stouffville Site-alteration 
By-law, the Greenbank Agreement with 
ScugogTwp. and  Scugog Site-alteration 
By-law, and the Halton Hills Site-
alteration By-law. 

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 1 
 



 
 
 

1. Term 
 
(a) This Agreement shall be in place for a term of one (1) year from the date of signing.  
(b) A full review of the Agreement shall be conducted no later than six (6) months after the 

signing date, at which time the Municipality, acting reasonably, may amend, remove or 
add terms to the Agreement or revoke the Agreement in its entirety, at their sole 
discretion.  

(c) Notwithstanding section 1(b), the Parties may agree to extend this Agreement at the end 
of one (1) year for a period of no more than six (6) months for each extension. 

(d) The Parties agree that the Municipality, at its sole discretion and at any time, may cancel, 
amend, remove or add terms to the Agreement as it deems necessary. 

 
2. Definitions 
 
The following words or phrases have the following meaning:  
 
Director: the municipal staff in charge of administering the site-alteration permit and shall  
include any person authorized by the Director to carry out any of the powers or duties of the 
Director pursuant to this By-Law 
 
Fill means any type of material deposited or placed on or removed from a Site and includes but 
is not limited to earth, Topsoil, stone, brick, concrete, asphalt, sod or turf, either singly or in 
combination 
 
Qualified Person: means a licensed professional as stated in the EPA Section 168.1 and further 
described at length in Part II of O. Reg. 153/04 
 
3. Qualified Person 
 

(a) The Owner shall retain the services of a Qualified Person (QP) as defined in section 5 of 
Ontario Regulation 153/04, as amended. The QP shall be approved by the Director of 
Public Works and Parks  (Director), the Chief Building Official and/or the Chief 
Administrative Officer (CAO) for the Municipality prior to any fill being received at the 
Receiving Site; 

(b) Any change in the QP responsible for the Receiving Site must also be pre-approved by 
the Director;  

(c) Any and all QPs must sign a declaration that they have no conflict of interest including 
but not limited to direct, indirect or any other relations other than providing professional 
environmental services for compliance with this Agreement and related Environmental 
Laws and Regulations.  

 
4. Fill Management Plan  
 

(a) The Owner shall ensure that the Site Alteration, authorized under this Agreement, the 
Application for the Site Alteration, the Site Alteration Permit, and the plans submitted 

Comment [CM2]: The Municipality 
shall be defined to be a political unit such 
as a town, village, or any other entity 
incorporated for local self-government. 

Comment [U3]: RG – Formatting - I 
would suggest that sentences within 
Sections end in periods and that semi-
colons only be used when a colon has 
been used – i.e. refer to Section 4. 
Subsection C).  

Comment [WU4]: Definitions Section 
to be inserted here. We have included a 
few terms. 

Comment [WU5]: Insert correct title if 
different than this. The Director shall 
include any person authorized by the 
Director to carry out any of the powers or 
duties of the Director pursuant to this 
Agreement. 

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 2 
 



with the Application and Appendices attached to this Agreement do not cause an adverse 
effect, as defined in Section 1 of the Environmental Protection Act, or a degradation of 
the pre-existing soil and ground water quality conditions at the Site;  

(b) The Owner shall also ensure that operations at the Receiving Site do not cause an adverse 
effect, as defined in Section 1 of the Environmental Protection Act, or a degradation of 
the pre-existing soil and ground water quality conditions at adjacent properties. 

(c) The Owner shall ensure that the Natural Environment, as defined in the Environmental 
Protection Act, R.S.O.1990, Chapter E. 19, as amended, is not contaminated as a result of 
the Receiving Site activities related to the deposition or movement of fill at the Receiving 
Site. 

(d) The Owner shall at all times comply with the Fill Management Plan for the Receiving 
Site, which is attached to this Agreement as Appendix A; 

(e) Notwithstanding section 4(f) of this Agreement, the Fill Management Plan will, at a 
minimum, contain requirements approved by the Municipal Council, the Director or their 
designate and that reconcile to the document released by the Ministry of the Environment 
and Climate Change (MOECC) in January 2014 entitled, Soil Management – A Guide for 
Best Management Practices, January 2014 or as amended; 

(f) The Fill Management Plan shall contain the following requirements, as a minimum: 
i. No fill may be received from a Source Site unless there is a comprehensive Soil 

Management Plan for that Source Site, which has been reviewed and approved by 
the QP of the Source Site and the QP for the Receiving Site and the QP retained 
by the Municipality.  

ii. All loads received at the Receiving Site must be segregated as per the Fill 
Management Plan until such time that it has been confirmed by sampling or other 
acceptable means that the soil is acceptable for receipt at the Receiving Site.  

iii. Placement of fill must not cause an adverse effect or a degradation of the pre-
existing soil and ground water quality conditions at the Site. Polluting up” of the 
native, uncontaminated soil at the Receiving Site is not permitted. 

iv. Every load received at the Receiving Site must be screened (i.e. visually inspected 
and screened for odours, staining, debris or other forms of contamination whether 
known or suspected. The use of a photoionization detector (PID) or flame 
ionization detector (FID) should be used to screen for VOCs) such that it is 
confirmed that each load meets the requirements of the Fill Management Plan.  

v. Audit testing at the Receiving Site must be done on an ongoing basis and should 
be based on the volume of Fill received from each Source Site, to confirm the 
acceptability and quality of the Fill. A minimum of one audit sample per day, per 
source site shall be collected and submitted to an approved laboratory for 
confirmatory chemical analysis. 

(g) Amendments to the Fill Management Plan will require the advance written approval of 
Council and the Director.  

 
5. Ground Water Monitoring  
 

a) The Owner Shall at all times comply with the Ground Water Monitoring Plan which is 
attached to this Agreement as Appendix B;  

b) The Owner shall retain the services of a professional geoscientist or engineer to provide 
hydrogeological services to prepare the Ground Water Monitoring Plan; 

c) The Parties agree and acknowledge that upon completion of the fill operations, as 
authorized under this Agreement, a quarterly ground water monitoring program, as 

Comment [WU6]: Where a 
municipality issues both an Agreement 
and a Site Alteration Permit, references 
should be included throughout to ensure 
that both documents are referenced 
where applicable. So in this section, one 
might add “and the Site Alteration 
Permit”. 

Comment [CM7]: Note:  formatting of 
subsections is not consistent and needs 
attention. 

Comment [CM8]: This is a term used 
by the Canadian Council of Ministers of 
the Environment to mean that no new 
contaminants may be brought to a site, 
nor should the concentration of any onsite 
contaminant be increased.  
 
The Owner shall ensure a pre-assessment 
of the ambient soils on the Receiving Site. 
Soil placement should not degrade the 
existing conditions at a Receiving Site. The 
natural Background quality of soil shall be 
maintained 
 
Therefore, in most instances, the Table 1 
Standard of the Soil, Ground Water and 
Sediment Standards for use Under Part 
XV.1 of the Environmental Protection Act, 
dated April 15, 2011 is recommended.  
 
 

Comment [WU9]: As a minimum, the 
following specific requirements should 
form part of the Groundwater Monitoring 
Plan:  

•Characterization of the site using 
relevant geological reports, maps, 
water well records, hydraulic data, 
test/bore hole data and constructed 
wells as necessary which are needed to 
inform the monitoring locations and 
Plan 
•Provide at least 2 hydrogeologic cross 
sections of the Receiving Site, indicating 
the interpreted subsurface geological 
units encountered in the wells (private 
and on-site) drilled within the 1 km of 
the site  
•Conduct a door to door survey of 
adjacent landowners within 250 metres 
of the Receiving Site with background 
water quality samples from all wells 
prior to the commencement of 
filling/grading operations (with 
landowner's permission)  
•Installation of test wells at the 
Receiving Site at upstream, 
downstream and cross gradient 
locations to confirm flow paths in the 
shallow water table and any other 
aquifer zones that may reasonably be 
impacted  
•Undertake 2 test well sampling events 
prior to filling and grading at the 
Receiving Site. At a minimum, the 
samples collected will be analysed for ...

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 3 
 



approved by the Director, will be implemented and maintained by the Owner for a period 
consistent with the geological/hydrogeological setting (minimum of two (2) years) after 
fill operations and all associated grading ceases at the Receiving Site; 

d) The results of the sampling shall be reported to the Director in a manner and timeframe 
specified by the Director; 

e) At the discretion of the Municipality or its agents, acting reasonably, ground water 
monitoring may be extended beyond the two year period for such time as may be 
required to assess or mitigate issues arising as a result of the fill activities at the 
Receiving Site;  

f) In the event that the ground water monitoring results indicate any negative impact on the 
quality of ground water at or in the vicinity the Receiving Site, including any impact on 
neighbouring private potable water supply wells, attributable to the filling operations at 
the Receiving Site, the Owner shall take all reasonable measures necessary to remediate 
any such impacts and to prevent further impacts arising; 

g) In such cases, additional monitoring parameters and/or increased frequency of monitoring 
may be required; 

h) The Owner may be directed to engage any experts necessary, such as hydrogeologists, 
which may be required to determine the impact and the appropriate remediation referred 
to above; and  

i) Notwithstanding any other conditions in this Agreement, the Municipality may retain the 
Security Deposit as defined in Section 23 of this Agreement until such time that the 
Ground Water Monitoring Program has been completed to the satisfaction of the 
Director. 

j) The Owner shall be responsible for the future (or as necessary) decommissioning of any 
or all monitoring wells in accordance with Regulation 903 under the Ontario Water 
Resources Act (OWRA). 

k) The Owner agrees that more advanced characterization of geological and hydraulic 
properties and monitoring may be required if the Receiving Site is an identified area of 
significance such as but not limited to an Area of Natural and Scientific Interest(AINSI), 
a Wellhead Protection Area (WHPA), a High Aquifer Vulnerability Area (HAV), a 
Significant Ground Water Recharge Area (SGRA) or Ecologically Significant Ground 
Water Recharge Area (ESGRA) 
 

6. Grading Plan/Site Plan 
 

a) The Owner shall at all times comply with the Grading Plan/Site Plan which is attached to 
this Agreement as Appendix C; 

b) The Owner shall retain an Ontario Land Surveyor registered with the Association of 
Ontario Land Surveyors to prepare pre-fill and post-fill topographic plans for the 
Receiving Site; 

c) The Parties agree that the Grading Plan/Site Plan will specify a maximum volume of fill 
to be received at the Receiving Site under this Agreement; 

d) No deviance from the approved Grading Plan/Site Plan is authorized without amendment 
to this Agreement; 

e) The Grading Plan/Site Plan shall contain such reasonable conditions to guarantee that the 
Receiving Site is operated in accordance with this Agreement and Municipal By-Laws; 

f) Conditions of the Grading Plan/Site Plan may include details such as: 
a. Limiting quantity of fill to be received and or managed at the Receiving Site; 

Comment [WU10]: The Grading Plan 
may be named at the discretion of the 
municipality and is variously known as 
Grading Plan, Site Plan or Grading/Site 
Plan. 

Comment [CM11]: Add: and 30m 
beyond the property lines to clearly show 
the detailed existing topography of the 
Site and the adjacent lands. 

Comment [CM12]: The municipality 
may want to make requirements 
regarding the limit of stockpiling or 
prohibitions on stockpiling at large fill 
sites. These requirements or prohibitions 
would be different than for temporary 
stockpiling sites or “soil banks”. 

Comment [WU13]: The approving 
authority must include a volume limit in 
the Agreement or supporting Permit. 

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 4 
 



b. Final contours and compaction;  
c. Reconciliation of volumes; and  
d. Reporting timeframes. 

 
7. Mud and Dust Control 
 

a) The Owner shall at all times comply with the Mud and Dust Control Plan 
attached to this Agreement as Appendix D; and 

b) Notwithstanding the conditions of Appendix D, the Owner agrees to control dust, arising 
from the operation of the Receiving Site on the Receiving Site, on adjacent lands and on 
construction access roads to the satisfaction of the Director.  
 

8. Erosion and Sediment Control 
 

a) The Owner shall at all times comply with the Sediment and Erosion Control Plan as 
documented in Appendix E. 

b) The Owner shall not take or cause any work to be done that will adversely affect drainage 
from or onto neighbouring properties in the vicinity of the Receiving Site, and the Owner 
shall with the prior approval of the Municipality, at the Owner’s expense, construct such 
drainage works as may be required. Notwithstanding the aforesaid, the Owner shall 
indemnify and save harmless the Municipality with respect to drainage from or onto 
lands adjoining the Receiving Site as a result of the operations hereby contemplated and 
the construction of any works, facilities or structures on the Receiving Site, whether 
approved by the Municipality or not; 

c) The Owner shall construct and install temporary or permanent erosion and siltation 
control devices required by the Municipality or as deemed necessary by industry best 
management practices, prior to importing any fill to the Receiving Site and shall maintain 
these facilities in good working order;  

d) The Owner shall provide additional erosion and siltation control devices/measures as may 
be required by the Municipality during construction of this project, and as may be 
required by the Municipality thereafter from time to time; 

e) The Owner shall ensure Erosion and Sediment control plans are consistent with the latest 
guidelines for erosion measures of the local Conservation Authority. The owner shall 
complete Table 2 and 3 from the Erosion and Sediment Control Guideline for Urban 
Development, dated December 2006, and forward these for inspection and approval by 
the Director or his agent prior to undertaking fill operations. Municipal review and 
approval of such reports shall be at the cost of the owner; 

f) As a minimum: 
a. The Owner shall ensure that an adequate Erosion and Sediment Control Plan is in 

place for the Receiving Site at all times and that a Certified Inspector of Erosion 
and Sediment Control (CIESC), oversees the implementation and administration 
of the Erosion and Sediment Control Plan at the Receiving Site; 

b. The Owner shall report to the Municipality regarding sedimentation and erosion 
control inspections as detailed in the Erosion and Sediment Control Plan.  

Comment [WU14]: Periodically, the 
Owner should be required to reconcile 
actual volumes onsite by engaging an 
expert to calculate how much soil has 
been received and how much capacity is 
remaining under the terms of the 
Agreement.   

Comment [WU15]: This may require a 
paved entrance, wheel washing station 
and mud mats depending on the size and 
nature of the operations proposed. 
Installation of such dust and mud control 
measures will take place prior to Fill being 
imported to the site and after inspections 
and approval by the Director. 

Comment [WU16]: The following 
checklist provides a guide for effective 
erosion control measures, which should 
be part of any Erosion and Sediment 
Control Plan (ESC):  
 
Any Sediment and Erosion Control Plan 
should ensure that final cover is required 
on a progressive basis to minimize erosion 
and limit the rehabilitation work to be 
completed if the owner defaults on the 
agreement. 
 
The Plan may also specify interim and final 
side slope requirements such as a 
minimum of 4:1 for side slopes. 
 
• Check condition of temporary  and 
permanent stabilization measures, 
including vegetative filler strips (e.g., 
hydroseeding, mulch, growth media mats 
and blankets, compost, netting, plastic 
sheets or vegetation) to ensure they have 
been properly installed  and are working 
effectively. 
• Where vegetative cover has been 
planted, is seed well-established, with 
good coverage (>80%)? Are there any 
areas where wash-out or erosion has 
occurred? 
• Ensure construction vehicles have not 
exposed soils or removed vegetation.  
• Ensure that stabilization measures have ...
Comment [WU17]: This Guideline 
was prepared for common usage in an 
effort to coordinate the response of various 
municipalities and agencies involved in 
land development, construction and water 
management.   

Comment [WU18]:  Municipalities are 
strongly recommend to incorporate the 
following provisions in their permits and 
Agreements. 
  
Multi-barrier sediment controls should be 
included for any Fill in proximity to 
environmental features and property 
lines.  This redundancy is a positive 
safeguard to have in place to provide 
backup protection proximal to natural 
features and neighboring properties. This 
technique involves the use of a variety of 
controls in series from source to stream, ...

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 5 
 



c. The Owner shall inspect the Receiving Site regularly regarding erosion control. 
The inspection should include the following elements as a minimum: 

i. A ‘walk-through’ inspection of the construction site must be undertaken in 
anticipation of rain, extended wet weather periods, snow melt events, or 
any conditions that could potentially yield significant runoff volumes; 

ii. Regular and adequate inspections should occur during all construction 
stages; and 

iii. The minimum frequency of inspection must be: 
(a) On a weekly basis; 
(b) Before and after every rainfall event; 
(c) After significant snowmelt events; 
(d) Monthly during inactive periods (> 30 days);  
(e) Daily during extended rain or snowmelt periods; and 
(f) More frequent inspections may be specified by the Director. 

 
9. Hours of Operation and Noise Mitigation  
 

a) The Owner shall at all times comply with the Municipality’s Noise By-Law Number 
xxxxx for both onsite and offsite activities related to Receiving Site operations; 

b) This may include providing instruction to staff and haulers or imposing requirements 
regarding minimizing excessive noise such as:  

a. tailgate banging; 
b. the use of engine brakes along the haul routes; and  
c. controlling excessive vehicle idling; 

c) Notwithstanding section 9(a), the permitted Hours of Operation for all Receiving Site 
activities including receipt and deposition of fill shall be only during the period Monday 
to Friday 7:30 am - 4:30 pm. There shall be no fill received outside these hours or on 
Saturdays, Sundays or Statutory Holidays; 

d) Hours of operation will be further restricted during any period in which a severe wind 
warning for the area has been issued by Environment Canada and during any time where 
weather, traffic and unusual events would compromise the ability of the Receiving Site 
activities to be conducted in a safe and environmentally sound manner with due 
consideration of the public; and 

e) The Owner may conduct site grading, levelling and contouring and general maintenance 
works on Saturdays so long as the activities comply with the Municipal Noise By-law.  

 
10. Approved Haul Routes  
 

a) The Owner shall at all times comply with the Haul Routes as set out and attached to this 
Agreement as Appendix F.  

b) In the event that a Truck Driver fails to use and/or comply with the approved Haul 
Routes, and such failure is confirmed by the Owner or the Director or his/her Designate: 

a. The Owner shall refuse to allow the Truck Driver to dump or place fill at the 
Receiving Site for a pre-determined period of time approved by the Director; 

b. In the event that the Truck Driver has already dumped or placed the fill at the 
Reciving Site and fails to use and or/comply with the approved Haul Routes when 

Comment [WU19]: insert correct 
name if different 

Comment [WU20]: The municipality 
must decide if onsite operations such as 
grading can occur outside these hours and 
should so specify in the permit and/or this 
Agreement.  
The municipality may wish to consider  
further restricting hours of operation due 
to quality of life issues along the haule 
route, traffic and noise issues, or as 
deemed appropriate by the Director 
and/or Council. 

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 6 
 



exiting the Receving Site, the Owner shall refuse to accept any subsequent loads 
from such Truck Driver for a pre-determined period of time approved by the 
Director;  

c. The Owner shall forthwith report such incident to the Contractor from whence the 
fill originated and advise the Contractor that the Truck Driver has been instructed 
to return the Fill to the original source location, unless the fill has already been 
deposited at the Receiving Site, in which case the notification to the Contractor 
will be sufficient; 

d. In the event that one or more Truck Drivers from a single hauling company are 
non-compliant with the use of the Haul Routes, then that company shall be 
prohibited from bringing fill to the Receiving Site for a period of not less than 
three (3) months from the date of the 3rd infraction; 

e. The Owner shall record such incident(s) in a log book. The log shall include the 
following information as a minimum: 

i. The date and time of the occurrence; 
ii. The licence plate of the vehicle denied access; 

iii. The name of the Truck Driver and company, if known; 
iv. The source location of the fill; and 
v. The name of the Contractor who obtained the tickets to dump or place the 

fill.; 
c) To further ensure that Contractors and Truck Drivers use and or /comply with the Haul 

Routes, the Owner agrees as follows: 
i. To distribute and to have available to all Truck Drivers an illustrative map 

identifying the Haul Routes; 
ii. To post Signage identifying the Haul Routes at both the entrance and exit to the 

Receiving Site; and 
d) Provide a copy of the log book at the Director’s request.;and 
e) The Parties agree there shall be no queuing of trucks permitted on any roads leading to or 

from the Receiving Site 
 

11. Truck Traffic 
 

(a) The Owner shall at all times comply with the governing Region and/or County road 
requirements and the Ministry of Transportation requirements, if applicable, and as set 
out and attached to this Agreement as Appendix G; 

(b) Notwithstanding Section 11(a), the maximum number of trucks per day that may dump 
fill at the Receiving Site shall be 200; and 

(c) This number may be amended down to a specified number by the Director, should the 
Director so decide, and with the approval of Council.  

 
12. Complaint Protocol 

a) The Owner shall at all times comply with the Complaint Protocol which is attached to 
this Agreement as Appendix H; 

b) Upon receiving a complaint in accordance with the Complaint Protocol, the Owner shall: 
a. Acknowledge the complaint within 24hrs; 
b. Complete a public complaint form; 

Comment [WU21]: If three trucks 
from one company do not comply with the 
Haul Route requirements, that will be 
deemed to be three infractions 

Comment [CM22]: This may 
necessitate the construction of a long 
paved entrance inside the Receiving Site 
so that trucks may queue up during the 
permitted Hours of Operation, if 
necessary. 

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 7 
 



c. Investigate the complaint immediately upon notification; 
d. Notify the Director within 24 hours of the complaint and the proposed 

measures to address/mitigate the complaint; 
e. Respond to the complainant with clear direction; 
f. Implement measures to address the complaint to the satisfaction of the 

Municipality;  
g. Follow up on complaint reconciliation measures; and 
h. Subject to Condition 19(a) of this Agreement, prepare and maintain a record 

of the complaints received in any quarter and provide this summary to the 
Director in a timely manner. 

13. Security on Site 

(a) The Owner shall keep and maintain a gated entrance to the Receiving Site at all times; 
(b) At all times, when the Receiving Site is closed or during times outside the approved 

hours of operation, the gate shall be closed to incoming loads of fill as per the Hours of 
Operation stipulated in this Agreement, under condition 9, supra. 

14. Other Regulating Agencies 

(a) The Owner shall at all times comply with such federal, provincial or municipal 
legislation, regulations, rules and requirements as may be applicable; and  

(b) Where the Owner determines that, in their opinion, there is a conflict between any 
other legislation and this Agreement, they shall forthwith notify the Director of the 
presumed conflict for his/her consideration. 

15. Source Site Approval 
 

(a) The Owner shall post on a public Online Portal/Website the following documentation 
with 
respect to any Source Site used in connection with the Receiving Site: 

a. The test results, whether generated by the QP, their representative, the Owner 
or otherwise upon which the QP relied in his determination of the 
acceptability of fill from the Source Site; 

b. A copy of the QP’s approval of the Source Site which shall include the 
volume of fill approved based on the QP’s review of the Source Site soil test 
results; and  

c. The test results of any audit samples taken at the Receiving Site by the 
receiving QP or designate in accordance with the Fill Management Plan in 
Appendix A;  

(b) The Owner acknowledges and agrees that the Owner shall not import fill or topsoil onto 
the Receiving Site unless prior written approval is obtained from the Director and/or 
Municipal Consultant for each Source Site; and 

(c) The QP, upon approving a new Source Site shall, at the request of the Director, forthwith 
provide the Director with all of the documents posted on the Online Portal relevant to that 
approval and any other information such as, but not limited to, environmental 
assessments and Soil Management Plans for all Source Sites. 

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 8 
 



 
 
16. Imported Fill/Topsoil 
 

a) All handling and processing of the fill at the Receiving Site, shall follow the process 
described in the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Best Management 
Practices Guideline for Excess Soils, January 2014 as amended; 

b) The sampling requirements as noted in Section 55 and Schedule E in Ontario Regulation 
153/04, as amended, shall be met regardless of whether the Receiving Site Owner or 
designate is filing a Record of Site Condition or not:  

a. Specifically, for all soil to be brought to the Receiving Site, at least one soil 
sample shall be analyzed at an approved laboratory for each 160 cubic metres of 
soil for the first 5,000 cubic metres at each Source Site, following which at least 
one sample for each additional 300 cubic metres of soil which is to remain on, in 
or under the Receiving Site shall be analyzed; 

c) Soils brought from offsite Soil Remediation Facilities may have more stringent testing 
requirements as required in their Environmental Compliance approvals. In such instances, 
the more stringent testing requirements will apply with regards to testing at the Source 
Site; 

d) Fill received at the Receiving Site shall meet the soil standards as determined during the 
pre-assessment requirements for the Receiving Site and as agreed by the Council of the 
Municipality. No new contaminants may be introduced to the Receiving Site from fill 
operations, nor may the natural, ambient level of existing contaminants on site be 
increased; 

e) The SAR (Sodium Absorption Ratio) and Electrical Conductivity (EC) of the fill may not 
exceed Table 2 Standards for all imported soils; 

f) The QP of the Receiving Site shall ensure that fill imported to the Receiving Site does not 
contain any rock, brick, concrete or other construction/demolition debris that contains 
cement fines, exposed rebar, metal paint or coatings, decomposable materials, plastic, 
asphalt, petroleum products, hydrocarbon materials or any putrescible organic materials; 

g) The Receiving Site QP will review all required soil testing for the Source Site as required 
in this Section and will provide all such documentation to the Director and/or Municipal 
Consultant for review and approval in accordance with Section 15(b). 

  
 
17. Meetings 
 

(a) The Owner and the Municipality agree to hold project meetings, which will be attended 
by at least one (1) representative from each of the Parties:  

(b) The meetings will take place at the following intervals: 
a. First meeting within 30 days of the effective date of this Agreement; 
b. Second meeting within 90 days of the effective date of this Agreement; 
c. Third meeting within 180 days of the effective date of this Agreement; and 
d. Subsequent meetings, which may be called at the request of either party, and in 

any event the Parties shall meet no less than once in any six month period. 
  
18. Right of Entry 

Comment [CM23]: This direction is 
taken from the MOECC BMP. Aside from 
the “Contaminants of Concern” listed in 
the MOECC Site Condition Standard 
Tables, new contaminants may also refer 
to the introduction of invasive species 
including plants or animals (invertebrates).  

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 9 
 



 
a) The Owner shall permit the Municipality and its Director and inspectors, agents or 

contractors to enter and attend at the Receiving Site for the purposes of conducting an 
inspection at any reasonable time, including but not limited to inspections during 
approved Hours of Operation; 

b) In the course of any such inspection, the Municipality or its agents or contractors may 
carry out any activity necessary to determine compliance with this Agreement and the 
requirements of the By-Law including but not limited to: 

a. Soil and ground water sampling and testing at the discretion of the Director;  
b. Reviewing and making copies of on-site records; 
c. Inspection of equipment and vehicles used at the Receiving Site; 
d. Taking of photographs or video of the Receiving Site;  
e. Such further and other activities as may reasonably be necessary 

to determine compliance with the terms of this Agreement; and 
c) In addition to the inspections described in 18(a) and (b), the Municipality may 

carry out inspections at any reasonable time as permitted by law under the 
Municipal Act, 2001 S.O. 2001, Chapter 25 or a Municipal By-law Number xxxxxx. 

 
19. Reporting 
 

(a) The Owner shall direct the QP to report in writing, quarterly, to the Director during the 
term of this Agreement, within thirty (30) days of the end of each September, December, 
March and June, to verify that the Receiving Site alteration proceeded in accordance with 
the By-Law, the Site Alteration Permit, and this Agreement and its Appendices for the 
preceding quarter. The report will include, but is not limited to the following information: 

a. A list of all of the sources for fill received at the Receiving Site during the quarter 
including the owner and municipal address for the Source Site; 

b. The total volume of fill received at the Receiving Site for the quarter including the 
monthly load counts and volumes for each Source Site;  

c. A list of all complaints received including a brief description of the complaint, 
contact information of the complainant (where permitted by law), the time and 
date the complaint was received, the full name of the person who received the 
complaint and how the complaint was addressed along with any mitigation 
measures taken to rectify the complaint; 

d. The results of any testing conducted in connection with the fill operations, 
including but not limited to any soil and ground water testing on and off site and 
any confirmatory sampling conducted; and 

e. A list of any incidents involving a breach of this Agreement and its Appendices, 
the By-Law or Permit, if applicable including the date, time, brief description, the 
persons involved and any mitigative actions taken;  

(b) The Director may, at any time, require such other information to be included in the 
quarterly reports as deemed necessary by the Director; and 

(c) In the event of a serious single breach or a number of breaches of any requirement of this 
Agreement or the By-Law, more frequent reporting by the Owner may be required by the 
Director, including any further information deemed appropriate by the Director. 

 
 
20. Default 
 

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 10 
 



(a) In the event of any default by the Owner pursuant to any of the terms of this Agreement, 
and in addition to any other remedies available to the Municipality, the Director may: 

a. Draw on the Security Deposit referenced in Section 23 of this Agreement in 
whole or in part;  

b. Undertake or complete any obligation of the Owner hereunder; 
c. Enter upon the Receiving Site through its servants or agents for any purpose 

whatsoever; 
d. Issue a stop work order with respect to any further dumping operations or 

dumping related work upon the Receiving Site; and 
e. Recover from the Owner all costs and expenses incurred by the Municipality 

whether directly or indirectly, with respect to the default or the remedy thereof 
and collect such costs and expenses in like manner as municipal taxes; and 

(b) If the Owner is in breach of the Agreement and the Municipality cannot address such 
breach with its own forces or contractors, then the draw on the Securities shall be limited 
to $10,000 on the first occurrence in each calendar year, and $15,000 per each subsequent 
occurrence in a calendar year. In such case, there shall be no recompense to the Owner. 

 
21. Costs 
 

a) The Owner agrees to pay all costs incurred by the Municipality, whether directly or 
indirectly, in connection with this Agreement including but not limited to any inspection, 
monitoring and auditing of the site alteration and fill activities. Without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing, such costs and expenses shall include a charge for the review 
of any plans, reports or applications, review of all legal, surveying, geoscience and 
engineering costs and the costs of any consultants retained by the Municipality incurred 
in connection with the this Agreement, the supervision of all of the works undertaken in 
connection therewith or in ensuring compliance with this agreement and the registration 
thereof on title to the lands (Receiving Site); 

b) The Owner agrees that the Municipality reserves the right to randomly test the soil on a 
daily basis. The Owner shall reimburse the Municipality for all costs associated with the 
testing. The owner agrees that the Municipality may take, at a minimum, one (1) soil 
sample from a location of its choosing on a daily or weekly basis. The Municipality may 
complete additional soil testing at its discretion;   

c) The Owner agrees that the Municipality, at its discretion, may conduct other such 
monitoring and inspections in order to ensure compliance with this Agreement and ensure 
the objectives of the Site Alteration By-Law are maintained. These activities may 
include, but are not limited to, monitoring and testing ground water elevation levels and 
quality, monitoring the hours of operation and truck traffic to and from the Receiving 
Site, inspecting Erosion and Sediment control measures, and review of all documentation 
associated with the operations of the Receiving Site; and 

d) The Owner agrees to reimburse all such costs associated with Municipality monitoring 
and compliance audits within 30 days of receipt of any such invoices from the 
Municipality.  

e) The Owner agrees to reimburse the Municipality of all legal costs associated with the 
drafting and executing of this Agreement prior to commencing filling operations. 

 
22. Tipping Fee 
 

Comment [WU24]: Examples of this 
type of breach might include the 
acceptance of Fill on a non-business day or 
outside or permitted business hours, or if 
the limit of truck deliveries is exceeded 

Comment [WU25]: As per Section 436 
(4) of the Municipal Act Municipal Act 
2001 S.O. 2001, c.25, If a sample is taken 
for the purposes of inspection and the 
sample has not been divided into two 
parts, a copy of any report on the sample 
shall be given to the person from whom 
the sample was taken. 
 

Comment [WU26]: An alternative 
method of ensuring payment and 
compensation is for the municipality to 
adopt this option: 
 
The Owner will provide the Municipality 
with a Cash Deposit of $100,000, to be 
topped up within 30 days if Municipality 
draws from it. In the event that the Cash 
Deposit is not replenished within 30 days, 
a Stop Work Order will be issued until 
such time as the Cash deposit is 
replenished. 
 
Use of Cash Deposit  
The Cash Deposit will provide the 
Municipality the resources to retain 
appropriately qualified Peer Review 
Consultants to oversee all aspects of the 
Site Alteration including:  
• Source Site Assessment; 
• Report, manifest, and document review; 
• Site Inspections; 
• Site topographic survey, to confirm 
contours and volumes; 
• Drilling and test pitting to confirm sub-
surface conditions; and 
• Collection and analysis of samples for 
soil, surface water, groundwater and air 
quality. 
The Peer Review Consultant would assist 
the Director, and By-law Officer with 
inspections and make recommendations 
to the Director. 
The Peer Review Consultant could provide 
the expertise to review the completion of 
the site alteration and make 
recommendations for terminating the 
Permit and/or Agreement and/or Orders 
to allow the return of the unused portions 
of the Cash Deposit and Security Deposit.   

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 11 
 



a) The Owner shall provide the Municipality with payments equal to: 
a. $2.00 per cubic metre for all fill materials brought to this Receiving Site under 

this Agreement in accordance with the current Municipal Fees and Charges By-
Law (insert correct name of document if different than this); and 

b. The amount of $80,000 payable at the first of every month of this Agreement for 
all fill anticipated to be accepted at the Receiving Site during the following 
month; 

b) On a quarterly basis the amount of fill accepted at the Receiving Site will be reconciled 
against monies provided to the Municipality using the quarterly reports to determine the 
volume of fill received at the Receiving Site;  

c) Every six (6) months, on the semi-annual anniversary of Agreement, contour 
mapping/topographic surveys must be undertaken to validate the amount of fill received 
at the Receiving Site during the Term of this Agreement and any monies owing shall be 
paid in full forthwith;  

d) Should the contour mapping/topographic surveys show that monies in excess of those 
required have been paid by the Owner, these monies shall be carried forward and applied 
to future payments owing to the Municipality; and 

e) The amounts owing based on these assessments will be reconciled within sixty days 
thereafter. 

 
23. Securities 
 

a) The Security Deposit is designed to be used in situations when the Owner is unwilling or 
unable (due to financial, business, personal or other reasons) to comply with the terms of 
this Agreement or Orders issued by the Municipality. The Security Deposit must be able 
to survive the demise of the Owner’s financial and business resources; 

b) In addition to the Tipping Fees specified in section 22, the Owner will provide Security to 
the Municipality, prior to receiving any fill at this Receiving Site, in the amount of $1.00 
for every cubic metre authorized under the Site Alteration Permit or this Agreement, and 
as detailed in the approved Grading/Site Plan and acknowledges that the Municipality 
may use the Security to remedy any breach of this Agreement; 

c) The Security may be provided in the form of cash or an Irrevocable Letter of Credit in a 
form acceptable to the Director;  

d) Insurance policies may not be used as a form of Security; 
e) Provided that the Director has confirmed that no drawings on the Security are required, 

the Municipality will return the Security, or the amount thereof then remaining, to the 
Owner within ninety (90) days of the date that the Permit or this Agreement expires and 
the Receiving Site has been stabilized and revegetated according to the approved 
Grading/Site Plan;  

f) If the Municipality draws upon the Security Deposit, the Owner will top up the Security 
within 30 days of a request being received from the Municipality; 

g) In the event that the Agreement is expired, cancelled or revoked after work has 
commenced but prior to completion of the fill Operations in accordance with the 
Agreement, the Owner, at his/her cost shall forthwith stabilize the Receiving Site, 
including but not limited to adding topsoil, grading and sodding, to the satisfaction of the 
Director; and 

h) Should the costs referenced in this Agreement be incurred by the Municipality in excess 
of the amount of the Security Deposit, the Municipality shall place a lien on the 
Receiving Site for such amount necessary and the amount shall be deemed to be 

Comment [WU27]: The formula for 
calculating the amount payable is based 
on: $2/cu.m x 10 cu.m/truck x 200 trucks 
per day x 20 working days/month. This 
would decrease if load limits are 
decreased. 

Comment [CM28]: (This comment 
was added after documents went out to 
legal and consultants). 
 
The following Rationale is adapted from 
the Whitchurch Stouffville Site-Alteration 
Guidelines document 2014. 
 
 
The Security Deposit is required to provide 
the Municipality with the fiscal resources 
to address any liabilities that could result 
from granting permission to conduct site 
alteration and in particular fill activities. 
The Municipality needs to have the fiscal 
resources to address any liabilities that 
could exist during or after the site 
alteration and fill activities. The fiscal 
resources must be sufficient to complete or 
close the site alteration at any point in time 
should the owner be unwilling or unable to 
do so. The Security Deposit must be able 
to survive the economic and/or business 
entity demise of the owner. The owner 
being defined as the property 
owner/applicant/operator. The Security 
Deposit must be in the form of an 
Irrevocable Letter of Credit or cash. The 
potential fiscal liabilities include, but are 
not limited to, such things as:  
 Operational Liabilities:  
− Dirt on roads  
− Dust  
− Noise  
− Surface runoff  
− Fencing  
− Site access control  
 Environmental Liabilities:  
− Contaminated soil  
− Soil, surface water and groundwater 
impacts  
− Dust and nuisance impacts  
− Closure and Post Closure Liabilities:  
− Closure or Interim Closure of the site 
alteration should it be left in an 
uncompleted state  
− Post closure monitoring and care, as 
required  
− File a Record of Site Condition, if 
required.  
 
The amount of Security Deposit would be 
based on the specific details of the 
proposed site alteration. Site alterations 
that did not involve the importation of fill 
would not have the same liability as a fill 
operation as the most significant 
environmental liability is associated with 
the importation of potentially contaminated 
or deleterious materials.  
Formulas could be provided in the 
Municipality’s Fees and Charges By-law 
as a basis for calculating the Security 
Deposit.  
 
A suggested security deposit for large fill 
sites would be $1.00 for every cubic metre ...

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 12 
 



municipal taxes and may be collected in the same manner and with the same priorities as 
municipal taxes.  

 
 
24. Liability Insurance 
 

a) The Owner shall at all times maintain Insurance as outlined below, and documented in 
Appendix I, during the term of this Agreement and shall provide a Certificate of 
Insurance as proof of same. 

a. Commercial General Liability insurance subject to limits of not less than Five 
Million ($5, 000, 000) inclusive per occurrence. To achieve the desired limit, 
umbrella or excess liability insurance may be used. Coverage shall include but is 
not limited to bodily injury including death, personal injury, damage to property 
including loss of use thereof, blanket contractual liability, owner’s and 
contractor’s protective, non-owned automobile, and contain a cross liability, 
severability of insured clause. The Municipality is to be added as an additional 
insured on the Commercial General Liability Policy; 

b. Pollution Liability Insurance subject to limits of not less than Five Million 
($5,000,000) inclusive per claim and shall include coverage for but not limited to, 
bodily injury including death, property damage and remediation costs which are 
reasonable and necessary to investigate, neutralize, remove, remediate (including 
associated monitoring) or disposal of soil, fill, surface water, ground water or 
other contamination. The policy shall remain in force for a minimum of two (2) 
years following termination of this Agreement for whatsoever reason.  
Notwithstanding the aforementioned, the Pollution Liability insurance shall 
remain in effect until the Ground Water Monitoring Program as described in 
Section 5 is complete. The Municipality shall be named as an additional insured; 
and 

c. All policies shall be with insurers licensed to underwrite insurance in the Province 
of Ontario.  

 
25. Indemnity 
 

a) The Owner hereby indemnifies and holds the Municipality harmless for any 
liability, costs, damages or losses caused directly or indirectly by the issuance of the 
Agreement or Site Alteration permit. 
 

26. Registration on Title 
 

a) The Owner hereby consents to the registration of this Agreement on the title of 
the lands at the Owner's expense.  
 

27. Application to the Court 
 

a) Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to prevent: 
i. The Municipality or the Owner from applying to the Court for an Order 

for injunctive or other relief; or  

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 13 
 



ii. The Municipality from acting under the provisions of the By-Law or the 
Municipal Act, 2001, as amended. 

 
28. Invalidity 

a) If a court of competent jurisdiction should declare any section or part of a section 
of this Agreement to be invalid or unenforceable, such section or part of a section 
shall not be construed as being an integral part of the Agreement or having 
persuaded or influenced a party to this Agreement to execute the same, and it is 
hereby agreed that the remainder of the Agreement shall be valid and in full force 
and effect.  

 

 

29. Interpretation 

(a) In construing this Agreement, words in the singular shall include the plural and 
vice versa and words importing the masculine shall include the feminine and the 
neutral and vice versa, and words importing persons shall include corporations 
and vice versa;  

(b) In the event of inconsistencies between the Site Alteration By-Law and this 
Agreement, the Parties agree the provisions in this Agreement shall prevail; 

(c) In the event of inconsistencies between the terms of this Agreement and the 
Appendices, the Director shall provide clarity and the decision of the Director 
shall be final; 

(d) The Parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement shall be binding upon and 
shall ensure to the benefit of the Parties hereto, and each of their respective 
representatives, successors, heirs and assigns; and 

(e) This Agreement may not be assigned by the Owner without the express 
written consent of the Municipality, such consent to be at the sole discretion of 
the Municipality. 

 

30. Record Retention 

a) The Owner shall retain all records associated with the filling operations for a minimum of 
seven (7) years after completion of the filling operations. 

 
31. Record of Site Condition 
 
 

a) According to O. Reg. 153/04, as amended a Record of Site Condition (RSC) must be 
filed and acknowledged by the MOE for any future more sensitive land use; and  

b) The Agreement will remain in place until there is receipt of MOE acknowledgement of 
the filing of an RSC for the more sensitive property use, if applicable.  

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 14 
 



 
32. Public Liaison Committee 
 

a) Depending on the size and nature of the Site Alteration project and the public interest 
expressed by the community, the Owner, at the discretion of the Council of the 
Municipality, may be required to host a Public Liaison Committee (PLC) which shall 
meet, at a minimum, quarterly during the year;  

b) The Committee approved minutes shall be provided to Council within 30 days after the 
meeting date;  

c) The Terms of Reference for the PLC shall form part of the Agreement and are set out in 
Appendix J; and   

d) The Director may become involved in the development of the Terms of Reference, at 
their sole discretion, with respect to any matter including, but not limited to, membership 
and representation, timing and frequency of meetings, mandate and scope of the 
committee, and reporting. 

 
 
 
 
 
33. Notice 
 
Where notice is required under this Agreement it may be personally 
delivered, sent via fax, sent via mail or email and shall be addressed as follows: 
 
(a) Municipality: 
Insert name and title of Municipal representative and address 
Fax:  
Email:  
 
(b) Owner: 
Insert name and title of Receiving Site representative and address 
Fax:  
Email:  
 
(c) Notice sent via fax is effective on the date of transmittal, notice personally delivered is 
effective on the date it is delivered, notice sent via email is effective on the date it is 
acknowledged as received by reply email from the recipient, and notice sent by mail is 
Effective five (5) business days after mailing. 

IN WITNESS THEREOF the Corporation has caused its Corporate Seal to be 

affixed as attested to by the hands of its proper Officers in their behalf and the 

Owner has hereunto set his hand and seal. 

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED 

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 15 
 



THE MUNICIPALITY OF ______________ 
PER: 
____________________ I have the authority to bind the Corporation.          Etc. 

 Model Agreement for Fill Sites - OSRTF Page 16 
 



DRAFT 

Fill Management Plan for Large Scale Fill Sites 

Preamble: This Fill Management Plan was drafted with excerpts adapted from Fill Protocols in 
the municipalities of Uxbridge, Scugog, East Gwillimbury and Whitchurch-Stouffville and with 
reference to requirements detailed in the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change 
(MOECC), “Management of Excess Soil – A Guide for Best Management Practices” January 
2014, as amended (MOECC BMP).  

The purpose of this Plan is to ensure the environmentally protective placement of acceptable fill 
materials at the Receiving Site and to ensure the filling operations at the Receiving Site do not 
cause an adverse effect or a degradation of the pre-existing soil and ground water quality 
conditions. This document outlines the recommended minimum requirements that a Municipality 
may require and/or should consider be included in authorizing documents when managing large 
fill operations. 

FILL MANAGEMENT PLAN 

This Plan has been developed to manage operations at a Fill site _________ herein after referred 
to as “the Receiving Site”) 

INTRODUCTION  

The following document describes fill management procedures at the Receiving Site.  This Plan 
will be administered and enforced by the Receiving Site’s Qualified Person (QP) as defined in 
Section 5 of Ontario Regulation 153/04, as amended, on behalf of Owner of the Receiving Site. 
The Municipality or any other entity incorporated for self-government, at the expense of the 
Owner of the Receiving Site, will be responsible for ensuring compliance through audits, 
inspections, sampling and any other means deemed appropriate by the Municipality. 

DEFINITIONS 

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE 

Any soils received at the Receiving Site or destined for the Receiving Site shall be managed in 
accordance with the MOECC document entitled, “Soil Management – A Guide for Best 
Management Practices”,  January 2014 as amended (MOECC  BMP).  All handling, sampling, 
assessing and receipt of soils at the Receiving Site, shall be done in accordance with the 
provisions of O. Reg. 153/04, as amended where applicable. It should be noted that, for the 
purposes of this document, the applicability of the provisions of O. Reg. 153/04 are not limited 
to sites where a Record of Site Condition (RSC) has been submitted or will be submitted to the 
MOECC. Rather, the relevant provisions of O. Reg. 153/04, as amended, included in this 

Comment [WU1]: Insert name and 
municipal address of the receiving site 

Comment [CM2]: “Owner” will have to 
be defined to include the registered 
owner of the lands to which a site 
alteration is 
proposed and any person, firm or 
corporation in charge, management or 
control such lands. 

Comment [WU3]: Insert relevant 
definitions such as QP, Receiving Site, Soil 
Management Plan, acceptable fill 
materials etc. 

OSRTF Model Fill Management Plan Page 1 
 



document, apply and should be adhered to for any site where excess soils are generated or 
received for reuse. Compliance with either of the documents listed in this paragraph does not 
abrogate the need to comply with any other applicable federal, provincial or municipal legislative 
or regulatory requirements.  

SOURCE SITE APPROVAL  

Care needs to be taken to delineate and distinguish fill quality at every Source Site to ensure only 
acceptable soil and fill materials are shipped to the Receiving Site. Managing fill from Soil 
Remediation facilities is addressed in Appendix A.    

Before accepting any soil from a Source Site, the Receiving Site QP must review: 

(a) All environmental documentation regarding the management and treatment and 
quality of soils at the Source Site, including but not limited to any environmental 
assessments undertaken at the Source Site, including all Phase I and/or II 
Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) reports, and/or remediation reports, as well 
as any compliance documents issued (i.e. MOECC Environmental Compliance 
Approvals);  

(b)  A site specific Soil Management Plan (SMP) for the Source Site, signed by the 
Source Site QP, that will be utilized to ensure that soil transported to the 
Receiving Site meets the soil quality standards approved by the Municipality as 
designated in the Agreement for the Receiving Site;  

(c)  The Source Site SMP shall include as a minimum:  

(i) Indicators that define all areas to be excavated with the estimated volume 
of excess soil to be managed off-site and the representative chemical 
composition of the excess soils, along with detailed instructions to on-site 
contractors identifying the depth of soil to be excavated for off-site 
management; 

(ii)  Appropriate characterization of all excavated soil by a QP, or a person 
under the supervision of a QP, to determine the volume and chemical 
composition of the soil that is to be managed off-site; 

(iii)  Appropriate sampling and laboratory testing to ensure that all contaminant 
of concern parameters in the soil are identified and characterized. The 
sampling frequency of soils shipped to a Receiving Site must, at a 
minimum, be at a frequency as set out in O. Reg. 153/04, as amended for 
soils shipped to an RSC property.  For soils from all Source Sites, analysis 
shall be as follows at a minimum: one (1) sample for every 160 cubic 
metres for the first 5000 cubic metres from each Source Site, then one (1) 

Comment [CM4]: Note that in most 
instances the Table 1 Standard of the Soil, 
Ground Water and Sediment Standards 
for use Under Part XV.1 of the 
Environmental Protection Act, dated April 
15, 2011 is recommended.  
 
Otherwise, a Risk Assessment, as detailed 
in Schedule C of O. Reg. 153/04 as 
amended, including consideration of the 
effects of contaminant loading on pre-
existing ambient conditions, must be 
completed and should be peer reviewed 
by the Municipality’s consultant if 
Standards above Table 1 Background are 
being proposed. 
 
The Owner shall ensure a pre-assessment 
of the ambient soils on the Receiving Site. 
Soil placement should not degrade the 
existing conditions at a Receiving Site. 
There shall be no “polluting up”1. When 
applicable, the Owner shall also specify a 
grain size analysis of the Receiving Site 
soils to determine if the soil is medium 
and fine textured or coarse textured as 
per O. Reg. 153/04. This analysis will not 
be necessary when Table 1 Standards are 
used. 
 
1 “polluting up”: The Canadian Council of 
Ministers of the Environment, A Protocol 
for the Derivation of Environmental and 
Human Health Soil Quality Guidelines, 
Section 3. 
 

Comment [CM5]: All laboratory 
testing must be conducted by qualified 
and certified laboratories as required by 
O. Reg. 153/04, as amended. 
 

Comment [CM6]: The Chemical 
composition testing should be based on 
current and historical potentially 
contaminating activities. In the absence of 
land use information, soil samples should 
be analyzed for General & Inorganic 
Parameters, Metals, Volatile Organic 
Chemicals (VOC Scan), F1-F4 Petroleum 
Hydrocarbon Fractions and Polycyclic 
Aromatic Hydrocarbons. These analytical 
suits have the same meaning as the 
required analytical suits in O. Reg. 153/04.  
All soil samples must be tested for pH 
(Acidity). Samples with less than pH 5 or 
greater than pH 9 must be identified. The 
Receiving Site QP must be informed so 
that placement  of these soils can be 
determined to eliminate any potentially 
hazardous chemical reactions that may 
occur including but not limited to the ...

Comment [CM7]: Refer to PIBS 8429e 
– April 2011. 

OSRTF Model Fill Management Plan Page 2 
 



for each additional 300 cubic metres of soil from said Source Site. The QP 
of the Receiving Site must verify in writing that this has been done; and 

(iv)  Documentation signed by the Source Site QP, including appropriate and 
representative soil analyses, confirming that the quality of fill meets the 
Receiving Site’s soil standards as designated in the Agreement, including 
the Sodium Adsorption Ratio (SAR) and Electrical Conductivity (EC) 
standards.   

d) If the Receiving Site QP is unsure of the quality of the proposed soils, the QP 
must either order or undertake resampling or additional sampling of soils at the 
Source Site before further considering these soils for receipt at the Receiving Site.  

e)   If all criteria have been met, the Receiving Site QP will write a Source Site 
Approval Report indicating the volume of soil approved and any analysis and 
reports used to approve the Source Site soils.  

f)  The Owner of the Receiving Site shall provide all required documentation to the 
Municipality for review by the Municipality’s Consultant, who will peer review 
all documentation from the Source Sites at the expense of the proponent. The 
Municipality’s Consultant will have the option to carry out a reconnaissance of 
the Source Site to confirm that an appropriate representative Soil Management 
Plan is in place. All fees associated with the peer review will be borne by the 
Owner of the Receiving Site. The Municipality can request further documentation 
or testing at its discretion and will then approve or reject management of soils/fill 
from the Source Site at the Receiving Site based on the peer review. No soils are 
to be shipped to the Receiving Site without the advance written approval of the 
Municipality.  

ON SITE APPROVAL PROCEDURES 

Volume Approval 

Once the above criteria have been met for excess soil at the proposed Source Site, the Source 
Site Manager is permitted to purchase fill tickets from the Receiving Site Owner. The number of 
tickets issued is based upon the estimated volume of soil to be received from the Source Site. 
Before any soil is shipped to the Receiving Site, the volume of soil must be approved by the 
Receiving Site QP based on a review of all documentation and analytical data and must further 
be approved by the Municipality. Should the operators of the Source Site wish to ship more soil 
than has been approved by the Receiving Site QP and the Municipality, the Receiving Site QP 
will justify the need to do so by requesting the appropriate supporting documentation stating the 
rationale for the increased soil volume. The Municipality shall be notified forthwith to facilitate 
the review and approval for management of the additional soils.   

Comment [CM8]: Where de-icing salts 
are known to have been used or 
suspected to have been used, metals 
analyses including total cyanide and 
boron, and pH must be included for the 
same soil sample. Cyanide salts are used in 
de-icing agents including salt. Cyanide 
contaminated soil will generate free 
hydrogen Cyanide gas under acidic 
conditions. Hydrogen Cyanide is highly 
toxic and can be lethal at high 
concentrations.    
 

Comment [CM9]: The municipality 
may want to consider being a co-signer on 
the fill tickets in order to further ensure 
the integrity of this process. 

Comment [CM10]: Estimated Soil 
Volume Method should be reviewed by 
the Receiving Site QP to insure that in-
place estimates have been subject to “fluff 
factor” correction by an additional factor 
of 10% as a general estimate. Other “fluff 
factors” can be used based on experience 
or testing. 
 
 
This will minimize requests of additional 
soil volume approval. 

OSRTF Model Fill Management Plan Page 3 
 



 

 

Posting Records/Transparency   

Following confirmation that the quality of fill from the Source Site is acceptable for placement at 
the Receiving Site, the Receiving Site QP will forthwith post Source Site Approval Reports on 
the internet at a unique website created for the Receiving Site (e.g. www.the Site.net). The 
Source Site Approval Reports are to be signed by the Receiving Site QP and must detail the 
volume of soil approved by the Receiving Site QP and the soil analytic results used by the 
Receiving Site QP when approving the Source Site. The web page will be available to the public 
for review. Note that all audit testing reports of soils at the Receiving Site shall be posted as well. 

Fill Tickets 

There must be a QP or a person designated by the QP at the Receiving Site at any time that the 
Receiving Site is open for receipt of fill.  The QP is responsible for monitoring the quality of 
incoming fill received at the Receiving Site. Any fill received at the Receiving Site shall be 
handled in accordance with this Plan.  

A sample Fill Ticket is included in Appendix B.   

A Fill Ticket must be presented to the Receiving Site’s gate staff before the truck offloads the 
fill.  Gate staff must check to ensure that the Fill Ticket is valid. Gate staff will provide each Fill 
Ticket to the Receiving Site administration staff for record-keeping purposes by the end of each 
working day.   

Documentation 

Administration staff at the Receiving Site are to keep the following documentation for the 
tracking of all incoming loads of fill for review by the Municipality at their request:  

(a) A copy of all Fill Tickets corresponding to all loads received at the Receiving Site; 

(b) Name and location of the Source Site;   

(c) Date and time of arrival of each load at the Receiving Site; 

(d) The name and licence plate number of each truck that delivers fill to the Receiving 
Site;  

(e) Daily volumes of soil received from each Source Site; 

(f) Documentation signed by the Source Site QP that includes appropriate and 
representative soil analyses of the soil at the Source Site by an accredited laboratory 

Comment [U11]: Audit testing refers 
to the routine sampling and analysis of soil 
undertaken at the Receiving Site by the 
Receiving Site QP to verify the quality of 
the Source Site soil being received. 

OSRTF Model Fill Management Plan Page 4 
 



(SCC - https://www.scc.ca. or CALA - http://www/cala.ca/) confirming the soil quality is 
acceptable for the intended Receiving Site in accordance with the Receiving Site’s Fill 
Management Plan;  

 
(g) Confirmation by the Receiving Site’s QP acknowledging that the quality and quantity 
of the soil is acceptable for receipt at the Receiving Site; and 

(h) Details of any rejections of any loads of soil due to visual inspection or review of 
analytical results, including reasons why the load was rejected at the Receiving Site and 
how it was eventually managed. 

Screening Loads  

Incoming loads of fill are to be monitored by the Receiving Site’s QP or the QP designate as they 
are unloaded to verify that only acceptable materials are included in each of the loads received.  
Each incoming load is to be visually inspected and screened for odours, staining, debris or other 
forms of contamination whether known or suspected. The use of a photoionization detector (PID) 
or flame ionization detector (FID) should be used to screen for VOCs. The daily shipments are to 
be reviewed by the Receiving Site QP or QP designate to ensure each load is coming from an 
approved Source Site.  

Fill that is observed to contain unacceptable materials, odours, staining or elevated headspace 
vapours as determined using a PID or FID, must be returned to the Source Site.  The Fill Ticket 
is forfeited under these circumstances.  Staff at the Receiving Site shall record the rejected load 
in a daily log. The Receiving Site QP will also keep a record of the contaminated load and its 
fate. Any further soils from the Source Site will not be permitted to be shipped to the Receiving 
Site until the unacceptable material is returned and until it can be demonstrated that the 
remaining soil at the Source Site that are destined to be shipped to the Receiving Site meets the 
appropriate standard for the Receiving Site. This will be carried out through confirmatory 
sampling of stockpiles or excavations at frequencies required by O. Reg. 153/04, as amended - 
See Table 2 and 3 in Schedule E of Part 12 of O.Reg. 153/04, as amended. 

The QP at the Receiving Site shall record, in a log kept at the Receiving Site, any instances when 
fill is returned under these circumstances, recording the Source Site, hauler, date of the incident, 
and any and all information pertaining to the unacceptable fill. This information shall be reported 
to the Municipality forthwith for review and action. If applicable, the Municipality could 
withdraw approval of the Source Site based on these incidences. The information should also be 
summarized in Quarterly Reports submitted to the Municipality.  

Segregation 

Soils from each Source Site shall be deposited in segregated areas within the approved fill area 
of the Receiving Site so that they can be assessed and returned to the source site if necessary.  

OSRTF Model Fill Management Plan Page 5 
 



Sampling Requirements at the Receiving Site 

The QP at the Receiving Site, or the QP’s representative, shall collect a minimum of one (1) 
audit sample of soil received from each approved Source Site per day, which shall be 
submitted to an approved laboratory for chemical analysis. Audit sampling protocols are to 
be developed and utilized by the Receiving Site QP, sufficient to produce results that would be 
representative of the volume of excess soil that is being received from each Source Site. 

Any significant discrepancy between source soil testing documentation and the audit testing 
performed at the Receiving Site should be reported forthwith to the Director or their designee.  

The Owner or designate shall ensure that the accredited testing laboratory copies the 
Municipality directly on reports for all audit samples taken.  

It is understood that the Municipality will retain their own QP (Municipal Consultant) to collect 
samples for testing at the frequency agreed to in the Agreement. The minimum amount of 
testing by the Municipality should be weekly. The location, frequency and timing of sampling 
will be at the Municipality’s sole discretion.  

All Municipal costs incurred will be borne by the Owner of the Receiving Site. 

CONTINGENCY PLAN FOR FAILED AUDIT TESTS 

In conjunction with the procedures for Screening Loads as detailed in this Plan, a Contingency 
Plan shall be developed by the Receiving Site Owner for review and approval by the 
Municipality to deal with failed audit tests received from the laboratory. Provisions in the plan 
must include, at a minimum, a rationale for the volume of soil that must be removed for export 
back to its origin and the amount of confirmatory sampling that will be carried out at the 
Receiving Site to ensure that all contaminated, non-compliant fill is identified for removal.   

A confirmatory sampling study will be performed at the Owner’s expense to verify that all 
contaminated fill has been removed.  The approach shall follow the procedures outlined in 
Schedule E of O. Reg. 153/04 as amended, as noted below. 

Schedule E of O. Reg. 153/04 as amended, Part III, Section 7.(1) to 7.(5) discusses delineation of 
soil not meeting Standards to establish vertical/lateral extent of impacts  (i.e. the volume of 
material needed to be excavated and removed from the site) and Sections 39 to 40 discuss the 
requirements for confirmatory sampling following excavation of impacted soil (i.e. confirmation 
that soil remaining meets Standards). Regarding confirmatory sampling, Table 2 and 3 of 
Schedule E of O. Reg. 153/04 provide frequency of sampling for stockpiles and excavations 
respectively. 

As for the provision under Screening Loads, any further soils from the Source Site will not be 
permitted to be shipped to the Receiving Site until the unacceptable material is returned and until 
it can be demonstrated that the remaining soil at the Source Site that are destined to be shipped to 

OSRTF Model Fill Management Plan Page 6 
 



the Receiving Site meets the appropriate standard for the Receiving Site. This will be carried out 
through confirmatory sampling of stockpiles or excavations at frequencies required by O. Reg. 
153/04, as amended - See Table 2 and 3 in Schedule E of Part 12 of O.Reg. 153/04, as amended. 

Haul Routes 

Trucks transporting fill material must enter and exit the Receiving Site along routes and time 
intervals designated in the Agreement. 

GEOTECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS 

The Receiving Site Operator will develop a Contingency Plan that will also address operational 
issues such as flooding, slumping or collapse of berms, crevicing and the like and will include 
provisions to mitigate and report on these issues. The Receiving Site Owner will retain the 
services of an Ontario licenced professional engineer (PEO) with academic qualifications in 
geotechnical engineering who will assess these issues and provide a quarterly 

SECURITY/ ENFORCEMENT 

The Receiving Site will be monitored by security cameras located in such a manner as to record 
movement of soil into the Site.   

The Receiving Site will be secured by a fence and an entrance gate that will be locked outside of 
the approved Hours of Operation. The hours of operation shall be posted at the front gate. 

There will be personnel at the entrance to the Receiving Site at all times during Hours of 
Operation controlling traffic and directing trucks to the appropriate tipping areas. 

DAILY SITE INSPECTION REPORT 

Aside from the other reports and documentation requirements listed throughout this Plan, a Daily 
Site Inspection report will be generated and made available to the Municipality upon request. 
The checklist will include the following: 

• Date and time of inspection 

• Weather conditions 

• Printed name and signature of inspector 

• Haul route condition 

• Grading condition 

• Drainage conditions 

• Safety concerns 

Comment [WU12]: Need to determine 
how long the video recordings will be kept 

OSRTF Model Fill Management Plan Page 7 
 



• Dust and noise monitoring 

• Security camera function 

• Names of Personnel/Operators  

AMENDMENTS TO THE FILL MANAGEMENT PLAN  

This Plan will be deemed amended once reviewed and approved by the Director of Public Works 
and Parks and Municipal Council. Amended Plans shall form part of the legal Agreement with 
the Municipality. 

APPENDIX A 

SOILS FROM SOIL TREATMENT FACILITIES  

Before accepting any soil from a Soil Treatment Facility:  

a) The Receiving Site QP will retain a copy of the facility’s Compliance Approval (CA), along 
with relevant Schedules for review and provide the same to the Municipality. The Receiving Site 
QP will obtain and review relevant compliance testing and/or analytical reports and submit these 
to the Municipality for their review.    

b) The Receiving Site QP will reconcile the volumes of tested soils vs. volumes of soils to be 
shipped according to the requirements in the ECA and schedules. However, the more restrictive 
of the preceding requirements and those outlined below shall be required and reviewed by the 
Receiving Site QP. 

There is to be one (1) test for every fifty (50) cubic metres for Petroleum Hydrocarbon 
(PHC), Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC), and Benzene, Toluene, Ethylbenzene and 
Xylene Mixture (BTEX) and there is to be one (1) test for every two hundred (200) cubic 
metres for Semi-Volatile Organic Compounds (SVOC) and heavy metals by an accredited 
laboratory. (Note that these requirements are taken directly from Green for Life’s 
Compliance Approval.) All documentation shall be made available to the municipality and 
posted to the Receiving Site’s website as described in the “Posting Records” section above. 

c) The Receiving Site QP will ensure that the SAR and EC parameters are also tested and meet 
the accepted standard as agreed to by the Municipality.  The concentration levels will not exceed 
Table 2 Site Condition Standards (“SCS”) for the appropriate textured soils.   

d) The Receiving Site QP will ensure that any information provided by the Soil Treatment 
Facility is prepared or reviewed by the Facility’s  QP, or a person working under his/her direct 
supervision, before it is presented for review to the Receiving Site QP.  

OSRTF Model Fill Management Plan Page 8 
 



f) The Receiving Site QP and /or the Municipality may require additional sampling or testing of 
soils from the Facility over and above those parameters and frequencies defined in section B) 
above.    

 

Audit Sampling at the Receiving Site 

As with other Source Sites, the Receiving Site QP will collect a minimum of one (1) audit 
sample per day for laboratory testing. In conjunction with daily sampling, audit sampling 
protocols are to be developed and utilized by the Receiving Site QP sufficient to produce results 
that would be representative of the volume of excess soil that is being received from the facility. 
The rationale regarding audit sampling frequency that is representative of the volume of excess 
soil shall be provided to the Municipality for approval. 

In the event that analytical results from any audit sample indicate a concentration greater than the 
Receiving Site Condition Standards, the Receiving Site QP will immediately notify the Operator 
of the findings and provide recommendations for mitigation.  At a minimum, no further soils will 
be shipped from the Facility to the Receiving Site until the unacceptable soils are removed from 
the Receiving Site and the source of contamination at the Facility is discovered.   

Contingency Plan  

Please see the Contingency Plan Section as outlined in this Plan. 

Soils from the Green for Life Soil Treatment Facility (GFL) 

In addition to the requirements listed above, a copy of GFL’s “Bill of Lading” shall be 
maintained at the Receiving Site office for each load of soil shipped by GFL to the Receiving 
Site for inspection by the Receiving Site QP and municipal staff. Each Bill of Lading will list the 
source of the soil including the “cell” and “pad” number associated with the treated soil as well 
as the quantity in each load and the quantity in the “cell” from which the load originated.  

Regarding audit sampling, the soil received from the GFL Soil Treatment Facility will require 
additional audit sampling if soil from more than one (1) source cell is transported to the 
Receiving Site on any one day. 

Understanding that a particular treated “cell” at the GFL facility has a defined volume, when 
audit tests are taken of GFL soils at the Receiving Site, a rationale should be provided as to 
mitigation measures when audit tests do not meet the Receiving Site’s standard for specific 
chemical parameters. In the event that non-compliant soil (for whatever reason) is exported to 
the Receiving Site it will be exported back to GFL or if already tipped, must be delineated and 
removed for export back to GFL.  A confirmatory sampling program will be carried out at the 

OSRTF Model Fill Management Plan Page 9 
 



Receiving Site to ensure that contaminated, non-compliant fill is identified for removal followed 
by a verification sampling study to confirm that all contaminated fill has been removed.   

 

 

 

Appendix B 

 A sample fill ticket in included below. A similar one is to be developed and implemented by the 
QP for the Source Site and must include the quantity of soil on board every vehicle (Note the 
“volume” must be added to the sample Fill Ticket provided). All Fill Tickets must be retained at 
the Receiving Site for review by the Municipality at their request.  

 

(Source: The illustrated Fill Ticket is taken from the MNR’s Aurora Fill Protocol) 

OSRTF Model Fill Management Plan Page 10 
 



























































































































































































































REPORT PD-2015-003 

 

TO:  Mayor and Members of Council 
 
FROM: Chief Building Official 
 
DATE:  February 4, 2015 
  
SUBJECT: Site Alteration Agreement  

Marc & Andrea Reid – 7827 Wellington Road 36 
L04/REI 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Report PD-2015-03 regarding Site Alteration Agreement – Marc & Andrea Reid – 
7827 Wellington Road 36 be received; and 
 
That Council enact a By-law to authorize the entering into of an agreement as outlined 
in Report PD-2015-03 with Marc & Andrea Reid – 7827 Wellington Road 36 upon 
submission of required securities and the Halton Conservation Authority permit. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Purpose 
 
The subject property 7827 Wellington Rd 36 as shown on Schedule “A” and “B” 
attached to this Report is an agricultural property that is an active farm.  The owners of 
the property wish to import fill to allow for more efficient farming of the existing uneven 
land on the western portion of the property.  The property has a horse operation and the 
owners must find farming efficiencies to increase the productivity of these fields.  The 
site is located on the south side of Wellington Rd 36 and west side of Concession Rd 
11; with a legal description of Part lot 31 Concession 10.  It has a lot area of 
approximately 39.2 Hectares.   
The applicants are requesting Council to enter into a Site Alteration Agreement attached 
as Schedule “C” to authorize the Chief Building Official to proceed with issuing a Site 
Alteration Permit. 
  

1 
 



 
Background 
 
The applicants sought to obtain a site alteration permit for the levelling of a farm field in 
order to improve the efficiency of farming the land.  In order to make this necessity 
fiscally possible the applicant is seeking to import approximately 69,500 m³ of soils. 
 
The amount of proposed imported fill requires in addition to a site alteration permit, that 
the applicant enter into a Site Alteration Agreement with the Township, where securities 
are provided to the Township and the agreement is registered on title of the subject 
property.   
 
In accordance with the provisions of By-law 31/12, all requirements have been met and 
reviews completed by the Township’s consultants and outside agencies including GM 
BluePlan, Harden Environmental, GWS, Halton Conservation, County of Wellington 
Roads and Planning. 
 
Prior to bringing forward a By-law to Council authorizing the entering into of an 
agreement the applicant(s) is required to submit securities in a form satisfactory to the 
Township in the amount of $100,000.00 and the Halton Conservation Authority Permit. 
 
Applicable Legislation and Requirements 
 
Municipal Act, S. O. 2001, Section 142, as amended 
Township of Puslinch Zoning By-law 19/85 
 
Site Alteration By-law 31/12 – Excerpts of By-law 31/12 are attached as Schedule “D” to 
this Report to outline the application and document submission requirements. 
 
Attachments 
 
Key Map – Schedule A 
Arial photograph – Schedule B 
Agreement – Schedule C 
Excerpts of By-law 31/12 – Schedule D 

2 
 



Includes material © 2014 of the Queen's Printer for Ontario.  All rights reserved.

1.7

THIS IS NOT SURVEY DATA. Parcels - Teranet 2002, Wellington County 2014

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Kilometers1.7

Notes

Legend

This map is a user generated static output from an Internet mapping site and is for

reference only. Data layers that appear on this map may or may not be accurate,

current, or otherwise reliable.

0.860

1: 33,991

Map of Wellington County

Propane Tank

Propane Hazard Area

Municipal Offices

OPP Stations

Hospitals

Fire Stations

Information Centres

Schools

Post Offices

Arenas

Community Centres

Curling Rinks

Libraries

Museums

Park Parking Lots

County Garages

Parcels

Roads - Small Scale

Local Road

County Road

Highway

Railways

Trails

Waterbodies

Watercourses

Parks

Urban Centres and Hamlets

Municipalities



























































2 
 

 
 
APPLICATION CHRONOLOGY: 

1. Application 

An application was filed on October 2, 2013 in accordance with By-law 31/12. 

2. Notice: 

May 2013 started working with Halton Conservation on this file to delineate jurisdictional 
boundaries and for information sharing. 

October 7, 2013:  Notice of the application was sent to Township’s Engineers and 
Hydrogeologist. 

December 2, 2013:  Notice of the application was sent to the Township’s consultant 
GWS Ecological & Forestry Services. 

June 12, 2014:  Notice of the application was sent to the County of Wellington Roads 
Division. 

February 4, 2015: Report PD-2015-03 recommending that Council enact a By-law to 
authorize the entering into of an agreement as outlined in Report PD-2015-03 was listed 
on the Council agenda. 

February 4, 2015:  Council passed resolution 2015-053 referring the matter back to staff 
for a public meeting to be held on March 11, 2015 at 7:00 p.m. due to concerns 
received by residents at the February 4, 2015 Council Meeting. 



3 
 

February 19, 2015:  Staff circulated notice regarding the Public Meeting to be held on 
March 11, 2015 at 7:00 p.m. to property owners within 120 metres of the subject 
property and posted notice on the Township’s website. 

March 11, 2015: Public Meeting to be held at Township of Puslinch Municipal Complex. 

3. Staff, Agency & Public Circulation Comments: 

The application was circulated for review to the Township’s consultants and External 
Agencies for comments.  

The County of Wellington stated the applicant would have to apply for an Entrance 
Permit for the proposed widening, and the entrance is to be paved with hot mix asphalt 
from property line to edge of pavement.  Entrance permit no. 31-09-14 was issued by 
the County on August 26, 2014 and is attached as Attachment “A”.   

Halton Conservation issued Permit No. 4758 on February 4, 2015.  A copy of Permit 
4758 is attached as Attachment “B”. 

The Township’s consultants have provided comments and are satisfied the terms and 
conditions of the By-law have been met. 

The Township has received comments from the public. Public comments are attached 
as Attachment “C”.  

APPLICABLE LEGISLATION & REQUIREMENTS:  

1.  Site Alteration By-law 

The Site Alteration By-law requires the applicant to obtain a permit and enter into an 
agreement with the Township prior to importing any fill on the lands subject to a 
Township permit. 

Clean Fill Project Control Plan 

As required, a clean fill project control plan initially dated November 6, 2014 and with a 
revised date of February 13, 2015 has been submitted and forms part of the Site 
Alteration Agreement attached as Attachment “D” and “E” respectively and requires: 

• The applicant(s) to retain a qualified person that meets the requirements set out 
in O Reg 153/01 to provide professional environmental engineering oversight of 
the project.  Derek J. Maat M.A. Sc., P.Eng has been retained. 

  



4 
 

 

Groundwater Monitoring Program 

Three (3) groundwater monitoring wells will be constructed to monitor the impact of the 
filling operation on local groundwater quality.  The onsite groundwater monitoring wells 
will initially be sampled quarterly to confirm that the site groundwater is not impacted by 
the filling of the site.  Two base line samples have been collected by the owner and will 
be submitted to the Township for reference. The monitoring frequency as outlined in the 
Control Plan may be reduced on a well by well basis to an annual schedule if no impact 
is observed above applicable standards to the wells for three consecutive quarters.  
However, the Township has the right to request any testing at any time.  Monitoring of 
the wells will continue for two years following closure of filling operations.   

Clean Fill Acceptance Standards 

Only clean topsoil or clean subgrade material will be accepted at the property.  All soils 
will be free of garbage and foreign debris.  No construction or demolition waste will be 
received at this site.  At a minimum, the top 0.4 m of fill placed at the site will consist of 
clean topsoil, suitable for the growing of crops. 

All clean fill that is received at the site will comply with Table 1 soil standards in the 
“Soil, Ground Water and Sediment Standards for Use -  Under Part XV.1 of the 
Environmental Protection Act” as included in Ontario Regulation 153/04, as amended.   

Where the concentration of elements or compounds in clean fill requiring disposal 
naturally exceeds Table 1 standards, a qualified professional must issue a certificate 
indicating the material is not likely a source of contamination before the clean fill can be 
received at the site and be submitted to the Township prior to placement of the fill. 
(Section 3 (9) of By-law) 

Procedure for Screening Proposed Clean Fill Sources for Approval 

Each potential clean fill source site will be required to provide one or more of the 
following documents in order to be deemed a viable source site: 

a. A Phase I ESA and/or Phase II ESA indicating that the soil at the source site 
meets the Clean Fill Acceptance Standards 

b. A signed letter by a Qualified Person along with supporting documents 
confirming that all the soil designated for disposal from the source site meets the 
Clean Fill Acceptance Standards  

c. A Record of Site Condition from the source site indicating that the soil meets the 
Clean Fill Acceptance Standards 



5 
 

A Qualified Person (QP) retained by Reid will review the documents provided by the 
source site.  If the documents from the source site are not stamped by a third party QP 
and/or in the opinion of the QP retained by Reid, do not adequately characterize the 
soil, the QP retained by Reid will conduct a site visit to the source site to sample and 
assess the soil.  The number of samples obtained will be based on the volume of soil to 
be removed for the source site.  The Reid QP will consult with the Township Peer 
Reviewer when determining the number of samples.  If the source site is recommended 
for approval by the QP, the clean fill will be accepted. 

Reporting – Fill placed on site 

1. On a quarterly basis, the QP will obtain a minimum of one audit sample for every 
1000 loads of soil received. 
 

2. Audit samples to be submitted to the Township quarterly. 

3. If an audit sample is found to exceed the clean fill acceptance standards for the 
site, the Township and the source site responsible will be notified.  The QP will 
delineate the substandard soil through additional sampling and the substandard 
soil will be excavated and returned to the source site.   

Ticket Process for Tracking Load of Clean Fill 

1. Each approved clean fill source site will be sold truck tickets equal to the 
estimated amount of clean fill at the source site. 
 

2. Each ticket will be numbered according to coding system that identifies the 
specific source site, the contractor, the date of the haul and the associated 
environmental reports. 
 

3. Trucks that do not have a previously issued ticket will not be permitted to dump 
their load at the site. 
 

4. Each truck load that is dumped will be visually inspected.  If the load is deemed 
to contain unacceptable material it will be reloaded and trucked offsite. 
 

5. The general location of each load that is dumped will be recorded according to a 
location grid system that will be developed for the site. 
 

6. The ticket information will be maintained in a database and will be available for 
review at any time by the Township of Puslinch. 

  



6 
 

 

Truck Traffic Control  

The site entrance will be constructed to comply with Wellington County Entrance Permit 
requirements.  A gate will be maintained at the entrance and will be closed during non-
operating hours to prevent unauthorized vehicular traffic on the site.  Trucks will be 
required to present their ticket to a ticket agent (machine operator) that will be located a 
minimum distance of 100 m inside the gate to prevent queuing of truck traffic on 
Wellington County Road 36.  The ticket agent (machine operator) will receive the truck 
ticket and keep a record of its information. 

All trucks leaving the site will be required to travel over two separate rumble strips each 
of a minimum distance of 30 m consisting of gabion stone in excess of 100 mm 
diameter.  The rumble strips will be designed to remove any mud or soil from the truck 
tires and to prevent it from being deposited on the street. 

Sedimentation and Erosion Control 

Erosion and sedimentation control fencing (silt fencing) will be placed at all site 
boundaries where natural and or constructed topography would direct surface water 
flow off of the site as per the attached Grading Plan. 

The site will be inspected daily by the operator (machine operator) and monthly by the 
QP to ensure that all silt fencing and other required sedimentation and erosion control 
measures are in good and working condition.   

The site will be operated such that the placing of fill will not result in: 

• soil erosion 
• blockage of a swale, ditch, drainage course or watercourse 
• siltation in a swale, ditch, drainage course or watercourse 
• pollution of a swale, ditch, drainage course or watercourse 
• flooding or ponding of abutting lands 
• flooding or ponding caused by a swale, ditch drainage or watercourse 

overflowing its banks 
Dust 
 
Dust control will be provided on an as required basis through the use of a water truck. 
 
Operating Hours 
 
Monday to Friday 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. 



7 
 

Saturday  7:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. 
Excluding Holidays 
 
Truck Route  
 
The Truck Route Map prepared by Maat Environmental Engineering Corp dated 
December 8, 2014 is attached as Attachment “F”. 
 
The route is Highway 401 to County Road 46 to County Road 36. 
 
Estimated Start and Completion Dates 
 
The permit is valid from the date of issuance for a period of one year.  The permit can 
be extended for an additional period of one (1) year. 
 
Site Closure and Restoration 
 
Upon completion of filling operations at the site, the entire site will be covered with 0.4 
m of topsoil.  The final grade of the site is as outlined in the Site Plan attached as 
Attachment “G”.  At site closure, all land at the site will either be farmed or will be 
seeded.  Seed mix will consist of grass and wildflower varieties native to the area.  
Grasses should comprise no more than 30% of the mixture.  Care will be taken to 
ensure that no invasive species are included in the seed mix. 
 
Securities 
 
In order to guarantee that the works will be completed in accordance with the approved 
plans and documents, we typically consider the overall “value” of the work in 
determining security amounts.  In this instance, the site work guarantee amount of 
$100,000 is sufficient to guarantee the works. 
 
The applicant has submitted securities in the amount of $100,000.00 in the form of an 
irrevocable letter of credit. 
 
Insurance 
 
Insurance has been provided naming the Township and County as an additional 
insured.  

  



8 
 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
A  Entrance Permit - County 
B Halton Conservation Permit 
C Public Comments 
D Site Control Plan 
E Agreement 
F Truck Route Map 
G Site Plans 
  



9 
 

Response to Public Comments 

1. Q - On page 13 of Report PD-2015-003 under “Truck Haul Route” it refers to a 
map as described in Schedule B. Referring to Schedule “B”, page 9, column 1, 
row 4 it says NA. 

 
 R - Refer to Attachment “F” for a copy of the map identifying the Truck Haul 

Route.  The NA in the agreement is for the purpose of noting the map is not 
identified by a drawing number. 

 
2. Q - On page 3 of By-law 31/12 under “Application Requirements” section 3, 

subsection 3 it says “a control plan” is a requirement and referring to Schedule 
“B” on page 9, column 1, row 3, it says NA. 

R - Refer to Attachment “D” for a copy of the Site Control Plan.  The NA in the 
agreement is for the purpose of noting the Site Control Plan is not identified by 
a drawing number. 

3. Q - Also, under “Application Requirement”, section 3, subsection 7 are the 
following: 

a. An Archaeological Report.  In 1985 the ROM did an archaeological excavation 
on my property unearthing several artifacts dating to the Woodland period.  A 
report was issued by the ROM. 

R - The Township determined that an Archaeological Report is not required. 

b. Chemical groundwater analysis.  Without background data ie before the fill 
project begins, any contamination going forward could be disputed.  
Background data should be established for the following, heavy metals, 
mercury, lead, selenium, cadium, thorium, beryllium and arsenic, and organic 
carcinogens such as dioxins and PAH’s (poly aromatic hydrocarbons). 

R - Two base line samples have been collected by the owner and will be 
submitted to the Township for reference upon execution of the agreement. 

c. A Noise Study.  This fill operation will deploy the use of heavy equipment, thus 
generating noise and impacting adjacent property owners right to “quiet 
enjoyment” of their property and under subsection 9, “Proof from an accredited 
laboratory that any fill being imported to the fill site complies with the clean fill 
parameters as set out in Table 1 of Ontario Regulation 153/04 as amended. 



10 
 

R - With regard to the matter of noise, the Township does not require the 
completion of a noise study as the hours of operation are in keeping with the 
Township’s noise by-law. 

Hours of Operation 
  
Monday to Friday  7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. 
Saturday   7:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. 
Excluding Holidays 
 
Noise By-law 

The Noise By-law prohibits the operation of equipment between 9:00 p.m. and 
7:00 am. 

With regard to proof of an accredited laboratory, the proponent as outlined in the 
by-law, agreement and the control plan is required to retain a qualified person 
being a qualified engineer or environmental consultant.  The proponent has 
retained Derek J. Maat M.A. Sc., P.Eng. 

4. Q - On page 4 of By-law 31/12, section 5.1: 
a. Subsection 17, a list of equipment and machinery being used during the site 

alteration process including expected days and hours of operation. 
b. Subsection 23, an operation’s manual. 
 
R - The applicant has advised that the following equipment will be used: 

 
• Bulldozer 
• Backhoe/Excavator 
• Dump Trucks 
• Sheep’s foot packer 

 The applicant has submitted a Control Plan to the satisfaction of the Township 
refer to Attachment “D”. 

5. Q - Is security in the amount $100,000.00 sufficient?   
 
 R - The Township passed the Site Alteration By-law in 2012 and determined the 

appropriate amount of securities to be posted at $100,000.00.  Refer to 
page 7 of the Report. 

 The applicant has submitted the securities as required.   
 



11 
 

6. Q – Where is the fill coming from? And is every load being tested for potential 
contaminants? 

R – Source sites are approved by a Qualified Person as noted on page 3 of the 
the Report. 

7. Q – What is the logical and practical purpose of this fill being dumped. 

 R – The property has a horse operation and the owners must find farming 
efficiencies to increase the productivity of these fields.  Refer to Page 1 
under Application. 

8. Q – What is the ongoing accountability of the parties involved  ie landowner, 
broker, contractor if local water and precious significant wetlands become 
affected 

R – Refer to pages 3 – 5 of the Report for the Clean Fill Project Control Plan, 
Groundwater Monitoring Program, Clean Fill Acceptance Standards, 
Procedure for Screening Proposed Clean Fill Sources for Approval, 
Reporting – Fill placed on site and Ticket Process for Tracking Load of 
Clean Fill. 

 Ongoing accountability is achieved through the entering into of an 
agreement with the owner that implements a groundwater monitoring 
program and the posting of securities for a period of time beyond the 
completion date. 

9. Q – What environmental impact studies have been done, if any and by whom? 

R – The applicant has completed two base line samples to be submitted to the 
Township for reference.  Refer to pages 3 – 5 of the Report for the Clean Fill 
Project Control Plan, Groundwater Monitoring Program, Clean Fill Acceptance 
Standards, Procedure for Screening Proposed Clean Fill Sources for 
Approval, Reporting – Fill placed on site and Ticket Process for Tracking Load 
of Clean Fill 

10. Q – Who is responsible for the post road condition repair? 

R – The road authority having jurisdiction over the road is responsible for its 
repair.   

Insurance has been provided naming the Township and County as an 
additional insured.  
 

11. Q – If permits are issued, for what period? 



12 
 

R – The permit is valid for one year but may be extended for a further one 
year period. 

12. Q – The proximity of the entrance is just over the crest of a blind hill, has there 
been traffic studies in the interest of Public safety?  Has the OPP and MTO 
done this?  The route for truck traffic proposed is south off the 401 to 
Wellington Rd 36 (lights in Morriston) east 5km to dump site). 

R – The By-law does not include a provision to require the completion of a 
traffic study as the permit is for a temporary period of time. 

13. Q – Can this property be restored to agricultural rural land for farm use as it is 
currently zoned? 

R – The subject lands are zoned Agricultural. 

14. Q – If approved, what measure would be put in place to stop the brokers and 
or contractors from buying farms in the Township for the purpose of dumping 
fill?  Instead of paying landowners to dump fill? 

R - The Township through the passing of By-law 31/12 as amended has the 
authority to regulate fill being placed on property within the Township that is 
not regulated by the Conservation Authority.  The Township has no authority 
or jurisdiction over the purchase and sale of land. 

15. Q – Is the current by-law designed to stop or curtail operations of fill dump 
sites within our Township? 

R – The purpose of the Township By-law in accordance with the Municipal Act 
is to: 

• prohibit or regulate the placing or dumping of fill; 
• prohibit or regulate the removal of topsoil; 
• prohibit or regulate the alteration of the grade of the land; 
• require that a permit be obtained for the placing or dumping of fill, 

the removal of topsoil or the alteration of the grade of the land; 
• impose conditions to a permit, including requiring the preparation 

of plans acceptable to the municipality relating to grading, filling or 
dumping, the removal of topsoil and the rehabilitation of the site. 



mhasan
Typewritten Text
Attachment A

mhasan
Typewritten Text

mhasan
Typewritten Text

mhasan
Typewritten Text

mhasan
Typewritten Text

mhasan
Typewritten Text

mhasan
Typewritten Text





mhasan
Typewritten Text

mhasan
Typewritten Text

mhasan
Typewritten Text
Attachment B

mhasan
Typewritten Text

mhasan
Typewritten Text

mhasan
Typewritten Text





mhasan
Typewritten Text
Attachment C

mhasan
Typewritten Text





mhasan
Typewritten Text
Attachment C



mhasan
Typewritten Text
Attachment D

mhasan
Typewritten Text















SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 2 

 

(complete and insert Document General Page as Page 1) 

 

 TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 

SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT 

 

B E T W E E N: 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 

- and - 

MARC REID AND ANDREA REID 

 

I N D E X 
 Page No. 

ARTICLE 1 - IDENTIFICATION OF LANDS APPROVED FOR DEVELOPMENT ..................................................................................... 3 

1.1 Legal description ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 3 

ARTICLE 2 - IDENTIFICATION OF PLAN(S) .................................................................................................................................................. 3 

2.1 Approved plan(s) ........................................................................................................................................................................................... 3 
2.2 Filing of plan(s).............................................................................................................................................................................................. 3 

ARTICLE 3 - SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS ........................................................................................................................................................ 3 

3.1 Additional requirements and provisions ......................................................................................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 4 - IMPLEMENTATION OF PLAN(S) .............................................................................................................................................. 4 

4.1 Owner's covenant to implement plan(s) .......................................................................................................................................................... 4 
4.2 Township's right of entry ................................................................................................................................................................................ 4 
4.3 Stop work orders ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 4 
4.4 Notice to comply ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 4 

ARTICLE 5 - FINANCIAL ASSURANCES ......................................................................................................................................................... 4 

5.1 Security requirement - public lands ................................................................................................................................................................ 4 
5.2 Security requirement - subject lands ............................................................................................................................................................... 4 
5.3 Township's right to draw upon security .......................................................................................................................................................... 4 
5.4 Release of Security ......................................................................................................................................................................................... 4 
5.5 Township’s Expenses ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 6 - INDEMNIFICATION ..................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

6.1 Owner's agreement to indemnify .................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 7 - LIABILITY INSURANCE ............................................................................................................................................................. 5 

7.1 When liability insurance required ................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 8 - TIME LIMITS FOR COMPLETION ........................................................................................................................................... 5 

8.1 Consequences of delay ................................................................................................................................................................................... 5 
8.2 Phasing of Site Alteration Works ................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 9 - MAINTENANCE OBLIGATIONS ................................................................................................................................................ 5 

9.1 General covenant to maintain and repair ........................................................................................................................................................ 5 
9.2 Specific maintenance obligations ................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 10 - REGISTRATION OF AGREEMENT ......................................................................................................................................... 6 

10.1 Registration prior to permit issuance ........................................................................................................................................................ 6 

ARTICLE 11 - GENERAL PROVISIONS ............................................................................................................................................................ 6 

11.1 Notices ..................................................................................................................................................................................................... 6 
11.2 Township costs recoverable like taxes ...................................................................................................................................................... 6 
11.3 Waiver ..................................................................................................................................................................................................... 6 
11.4 Covenants as restrictive covenants ........................................................................................................................................................... 6 
11.5 No permit if money owed to Township .................................................................................................................................................... 6 
11.6 Number and Gender ................................................................................................................................................................................. 6 
11.7 Headings and Index .................................................................................................................................................................................. 6 
11.8 No assignment without consent ................................................................................................................................................................ 7 
11.9 Ultra vires terms ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 7 
11.10 Owner's acceptance of agreement ............................................................................................................................................................. 7 
11.11 Enurement ................................................................................................................................................................................................ 7 
 

SCHEDULE "A"  Description of Lands .............................................................................................................................................................. 8 

SCHEDULE "B" Description of Approved Plan(s) ............................................................................................................................................ 9 

SCHEDULE "C" Additional Requirements ...................................................................................................................................................... 10 

SCHEDULE "D" Financial Securities .............................................................................................................................................................. 21 

mhasan
Typewritten Text
Attachment E

mhasan
Typewritten Text

mhasan
Typewritten Text

mhasan
Typewritten Text



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 3 

 
 

 

 TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 

 SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT 

 

 

THIS AGREEMENT made this ______ day of _____________________, 2015, pursuant to Section 142 of the 

Municipal Act, S.O. 2001, as amended. 

 

B E T W E E N: 

 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH. 

(hereinafter called the "Township") 

 

 PARTY OF THE FIRST PART 

 

- and - 

 

MARC REID AND ANDREA REID 

 (hereinafter called the "Owner") 

 

 PARTY OF THE SECOND PART 

 

 

W H E R E A S: 

 

A. The Owner of the property described in Schedule "A" to this Agreement which is the subject matter of an 

application for Site Alteration Approval pursuant to section 5.2 of the Township by-Law Number 31/12; 

 

B. The Township requires that the Owner enter into a written agreement to identify approved plans, drawings and 

specifications and to require that the property be graded and maintained in accordance with the approved 

documents. 

 

 

NOW THEREFORE this Agreement witnesseth that in consideration of the premises, other good and valuable 

consideration and the sum of Two Dollars ($2.00) of lawful money of Canada, now paid by each of the parties hereto to 

each of the other parties hereto (the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged), the parties agree as follows:  

 

ARTICLE 1 - IDENTIFICATION OF LANDS APPROVED FOR DEVELOPMENT 

 

1.1 Legal description 

 

The Owner's property which is the subject matter of this agreement is described in Schedule "A" attached 

(herein called "the Lands").  

 

ARTICLE 2 - IDENTIFICATION OF PLAN(S) 

 

2.1 Approved plan(s) 

 

The Owner in making application for site alteration approval has agreed to provide to the satisfaction of the 

Township, plan or plans showing the location of all buildings, structures, facilities, works and site elevations 

and services existing and proposed and, where required, technical reports, studies monitoring programs and 

final site restoration. The plan(s) and drawings and reports described in Schedule "B" [hereinafter called the 

"Approved Plan(s)] shall be deemed to have been approved by the Township upon execution of this Agreement. 

 

2.2 Filing of plan(s) 

 

Five (or such greater number as shall be requested by the Township) copies of the Approved Plan(s) shall be 

filed with the Township's Clerk. 

 

ARTICLE 3 - SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS 

 

3.1 Additional requirements and provisions 

 

Notwithstanding the approval by the Township of the plans and drawings described in Schedule "B" the parties 

agree that the additional requirements referred to in Schedule "C" (if any) shall apply to the alteration of the 

Lands in addition to the information shown on the Approved Plan(s) and in the event of a conflict between the 

provisions of the Approved Plans and Schedule “C” then the provisions of the latter shall prevail. 

 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 4 

 

ARTICLE 4 - IMPLEMENTATION OF PLAN(S) 

 

4.1 Owner's covenant to implement plan(s) 

 

The Owner covenants and agrees that all works and features illustrated on the Approved Plan(s) and the 

additional requirements set out in Schedule "C", if any, shall be constructed, installed, performed or provided as 

the case may be at the Owner's sole risk and expense and to the satisfaction of the Township. 

 

4.2 Township's right of entry 

 

The Township shall have a right of entry upon the Lands, through employees, agents or contractors to ensure 

that the provisions of this agreement are complied with at all times. 

 

4.3 Stop work orders 

 

The Township's Chief Building Official shall treat a breach of the terms of this Agreement or covenants 

contained herein in a manner similar to a breach of the Township's Site Alteration By-Law and shall issue a stop 

work order until such breach is rectified. The Owner acknowledges that the requirements of this Agreement 

constitute applicable law for purposes of the Building Code Act. 

 

4.4 Notice to comply 

 

In the event that the Township gives written notice to the registered Owner of the Lands that it has failed to 

construct, provide or maintain any matter or thing illustrated on the Approved Plan(s) or required by this 

Agreement, and if the Owner fails to construct, provide or maintain such required matter or thing within thirty 

(30) days of the date that such notice is mailed by prepaid registered mail to such person at the address for such 

person set out in Article 11.1 or as shown on the most-recently revised assessment roll then the Township may 

enter upon the Lands, through employees, agents or contractors and construct, provide or maintain such matter 

or thing which had been specified in the notice at the expense of the registered Owner of the Land. 

 

ARTICLE 5 - FINANCIAL ASSURANCES 

 

5.1 Security requirement - public lands 

 

In the event any works are to be performed on municipally or publicly-owned property of any kind which may 

service the subject lands, the Owner shall, at the time of signing this Agreement and prior to the commencement 

of work, supply the Township with an unconditional irrevocable Letter of Credit from a chartered Canadian 

bank, in a form and an amount satisfactory to the Township sufficient to guarantee the satisfactory completion 

of the works to be constructed or performed by the Owner on municipally or publicly-owned lands and further 

guaranteeing the workmanship and materials of all such works and matters. The Letter of Credit shall further 

guarantee payment to the Township of all inspection or other costs that the Township may incur in connection 

with such works or the preparation and implementation of this Agreement. 

 

5.2 Security requirement - subject lands 

 

In addition to the security to be provided to the Township pursuant to Article 5.1, the Owner shall at the time of 

signing this Agreement and prior to the commencement of work, unless such requirement is specifically waived 

in writing by the Township, supply the Township with an unconditional irrevocable Letter of Credit from a 

chartered Canadian bank, in a form and an amount satisfactory to the Township sufficient to guarantee the 

satisfactory completion of the work and facilities to be provided on the Lands pursuant to the Approved Plan(s) 

and this Agreement and further guaranteeing the workmanship and materials of all such works and matters. The 

Letter of Credit shall further guarantee payment to the Township of all inspection or other costs that the 

Township may incur in connection with such works or the preparation and implementation of this Agreement. 

 

5.3 Township's right to draw upon security 

 

In the event that the Owner fails to comply with a notice given to him pursuant to Article 4.4 hereof the 

Township shall be at liberty to draw upon the security provided to it pursuant to this Article to pay for the cost 

of any work undertaken by it or on its behalf pursuant to such notice and to pay the costs incurred by the 

Township in the administration and implementation of this Agreement. 

 

5.4 Release of Security 

 

The security provided under this Article, or the amount thereof remaining after draws referred to in Article 5.3, 

shall be delivered or repaid to the Owner after all of the works have been completed in each stage to the 

satisfaction of the Township’s authorized personnel. 

 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 5 

 

5.5 Township’s Expenses 

 

The Owner agrees to pay to the Township all reasonable costs incurred by the Township in connection with the 

undertaking to alter this site which, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, shall include all expenses of 

the Township heretofore and hereinafter incurred for legal, engineering, surveying, planning and inspection 

services, extra Council meetings, if any, and employees’ extra time, if any, and shall pay such costs from time to 

time forthwith upon demand, provided, if such costs be not paid forthwith same shall bear interest from the date 

which is 10 days following the date of demand to the date of payment at two (2) percentage points in excess of 

prime rate of interest charged by the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce during such period. 

 

ARTICLE 6 - INDEMNIFICATION 

 

6.1 Owner's agreement to indemnify 

 

The Owner agrees on behalf of himself, its heirs, executors, administrators and assigns to save harmless and 

indemnify the Township, and, if applicable, the County of Wellington, and their respective officials employees 

and agents, from all losses, damages, costs, charges and expenses which may be claimed or recovered against 

the Township or the County of Wellington, as the case may be, by any person or persons arising either directly 

or indirectly as a result of any action taken by the Owner pursuant to or implementing the terms of this 

Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE 7 - LIABILITY INSURANCE 

 

7.1 When liability insurance required 

 

In the event that work is to be performed by the Owner, its servants, agents or contractors on lands owned by the 

Township, or the County of Wellington, the Owner shall supply the Township or the County of Wellington with 

written evidence of a current comprehensive liability insurance policy in form satisfactory to the Township, 

holding the Township (and if applicable the County of Wellington) harmless for any and all claims for damages, 

injuries or losses in connection with the work done by or on behalf of the Owner, its servants, agents or 

contractors on or adjacent to the Lands in an amount of not less than Two Million ($2,000,000.00) Dollars 

inclusive. The Township (and if applicable the County of Wellington) are to be named as insured parties in the 

said policy. 

 

ARTICLE 8 - TIME LIMITS FOR COMPLETION 

 

8.1 Consequences of delay 

 

In the event that a site alteration permit is not issued and re-grading has not commenced within one year from 

the date of this Agreement, or if the works and facilities contemplated in the Approved Plan(s) are not fully 

completed within two (2) years from the date of this Agreement, the conditions of approval and provisions of 

this Agreement will be reviewed and may be subject to revision by the Township by notice in writing to the 

Owner which revisions shall be accepted and implemented by the Owner. 

 

8.2 Phasing of Site Alteration Works 

 

The Owner agrees that all works and features illustrated on the Approved Plan(s) shall represent the total 

alterations on the property. The Owner also agrees that any future development beyond the approved plans will 

be subject to any additional plans, agreements and provisions as required by the Township. 

 

ARTICLE 9 - MAINTENANCE OBLIGATIONS 

 

9.1 General covenant to maintain and repair 

 

The Owner agrees that all of the facilities, works and features illustrated on the Approved Plan(s) shall be 

maintained and kept in good repair at the Owner's sole risk and expense and to the satisfaction of the Township. 

In the event that the Township gives written notice to the Owner or the of the Lands that maintenance or repair 

of any matter required to be provided by this Agreement is to be undertaken, and if the Owner fails to undertake 

such required maintenance or repair within thirty (30) days of the date that such notice is mailed by prepaid 

registered mail to such person at the address for such person set out in Article 11.1 or as shown on the most-

recently revised assessment roll then the Township may enter upon the Lands, through employees, agents or 

contractors and perform such maintenance or repairs which had been specified in the notice at the expense of 

the registered Owner of the Land. 

 

9.2 Specific maintenance obligations 

 

The Owner covenants with the Township as follows: 

 

(a) that it shall at all times maintain the installations, structures and facilities illustrated on the Approved 

Plan(s) and described in Schedule "B", if applicable, in good condition and repair; 

 

(b) that it shall ensure that all required environmental control and or monitoring devices identified on the 

Approved Plan(s) are properly maintained and protected from damages at all times. 

 

In the event that the Owner of the Lands, is in breach of any of the covenants in this Article then the provisions 

of Article 11.2 hereof shall apply. 

 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 6 

 

ARTICLE 10 - REGISTRATION OF AGREEMENT 

 

10.1 Registration prior to permit issuance 

 

This Agreement will be registered against the title to the Lands and the Owner will pay for the cost of 

registration. 

 

ARTICLE 11 - GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

11.1 Notices 

 

Any notice, invoice or other writing required or permitted to be given pursuant to this agreement (including 

notice of a change of address) shall be deemed to have been given if delivered personally to the party or to an 

officer of the applicable corporation or if delivered by prepaid first class mail, on the third (3rd) day after 

mailing. The address for service of each of the parties is as follows: 

 

Owner:   Marc Reid and Andrea Reid 

   7827 Wellington Road 36 

Moffat, ON  L0P 1J0 

 

Township:  The Corporation of the Township of Puslinch 

7404 Wellington Road 34 

RR 3 

Guelph, ON  N1H 6H9 

 

To any other person: at the address shown for such person in the 

last revised assessment roll or the latest 

address for such person as shown in the 

Township's records. 

 

11.2 Township costs recoverable like taxes 

 

Notwithstanding any other remedy available to the Township, the Owner acknowledges and agrees that any 

expense incurred by the Township in connection with the approval of the Approved Plans or the preparation, 

registration, administration, implementation and enforcement of this Agreement, and specifically the 

maintenance obligations in Article 9, may be recovered by the Township in like manner as municipal taxes 

pursuant to the provisions of Section 326 of the Municipal Act. 

 

11.3 Waiver 

 

It is expressly understood and agreed that the remedies of the Township under this Agreement are cumulative 

and the exercise by the Township of any right or remedy for the default or breach of any term, covenant, 

condition or agreement herein contained shall not be deemed to be a waiver or alter, affect or prejudice any 

other right or remedy or other rights or remedies, to which the Township may be lawfully entitled for the same 

default or breach; and any waiver by the Township of the strict observance, performance or compliance by the 

Owner or with any term, covenant, condition or agreement herein contained, or any indulgence granted by the 

Township to the Owner shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent default or breach by the Owner, 

nor entitle the Owner to any similar indulgence heretofore granted. 

 

11.4 Covenants as restrictive covenants 

 

So far as may be, the covenants of the Owner herein shall be restrictive covenants running with the land for the 

benefit of the adjoining lands of the Township or such of them as may be benefited thereby and shall be binding 

on the Owner, its heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns as Owner and occupier of the said land 

from time to time. 

 

11.5 No permit if money owed to Township 

 

The Owner hereby agrees to pay all municipal taxes on the Lands which may be in arrears at the time of signing 

this Agreement and shall ensure that all taxes are paid up to date with respect to the Lands. Additionally, the 

Owner shall ensure that all taxes owing by him to the municipality on all other properties owned by the Owner 

elsewhere in the Township and any other accounts owing by him to the Township are also paid up to date. No 

site alteration permit will be issued with respect to the Lands until this Article has been complied with. 

 

11.6 Number and Gender 

 

It is agreed between the parties hereto that the appropriate changes in the number and gender shall be implied 

where the context of this Agreement and any schedules hereto so require in order that the Agreement and any 

part thereof shall be construed to have its proper and reasonable meaning. 

 

11.7 Headings and Index  

 

All headings and sub-headings and the Index within this agreement are incorporated for ease of reference 

purposes only and do not form an integral part of the Agreement. 

 

11.8 No assignment without consent 

 

The Owner shall not assign this Agreement until all works and facilities required by this Agreement have been 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 7 

 

completed without the prior written consent of the Township, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld. 

 

11.9 Ultra vires terms 

 

If any term of this Agreement shall be found to be Ultra Vires of the Township, or otherwise unlawful, such 

term shall conclusively be deemed severable and the remainder of this Agreement mutatis mutandis shall be and 

remain in full force and effect. 

 

11.10 Owner's acceptance of agreement 

 

The Owner shall not call into question, directly or indirectly, in any proceedings whatsoever in law or in equity 

or before any administrative tribunal the right of the Township to enter into this Agreement and to enforce each 

and every term of this Agreement and this Agreement may be pleaded as an estoppel against the Owner in any 

such proceedings. 

 

11.11 Enurement 

 

This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto, and their respective 

successors and assigns. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have hereunto set their hands and seals or where applicable have 

caused to be affixed their corporate seals under the hands of their duly authorized officers in that behalf. 

 

 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF 

PUSLINCH 

per: 

 

 

_________________________________________________ 

Dennis Lever, Mayor 

 

per: 

 

 

_________________________________________________ 

Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk 

 
I/We have authority to bind the Corporation 

 

 

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED   

 

in the presence of:    per: 

 

 

_________________________________________________

Marc Reid 

 

per: 

 

 

_________________________________________________

Andrea Reid 

 

 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 8 

 

SCHEDULE "A" 

 

 

DESCRIPTION OF LANDS 

 

Part of Lot 31, Concession 10 Township of Puslinch, County of Wellington,  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 9 

 

SCHEDULE "B" 

 

 

DESCRIPTION OF APPROVED PLANS 

 

 

DWG. NO. REV. NO. DATE DESCRIPTION PREPARED BY 

1 3 Jan. 15, 2015 Grading Plan Van Harten Surveying Inc. 
2 3 Jan. 15, 2015 Cross Sections Van Harten Surveying Inc. 

NA 2 Feb. 13, 2015 
Reid Property Clean Fill 
Project – Control Plan 

Maat Environmental 
Engineering Corp. 

NA 0 Aug. 26, 2014 Entrance Permit No. 31-09-14 County of Wellington 

NA 0 Dec. 8, 2014 Truck Route Map 
Maat Environmental 
Engineering Corp. 

     

     

     

     

     

     

 

  



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 10 

 

SCHEDULE "C" 

 

 

ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS (in addition to matters shown on Approved Plan(s) 

 

INSPECTIONS 

 

Every Permit Holder shall ensure that a request is made to the Chief Building Official by the Permit 

Holder or his/her authorized agent to make inspections at the commencement and completion of the 

work that is the subject of the Permit, and to make any such further inspection(s) as may be required 

by the Chief Building Official. 

 

TERM OF PERMIT AND PERMIT RENEWAL 

 

Any Permit issued pursuant to this agreement shall be valid for a period of one year from the date of 

issuance unless revoked in accordance with this agreement. 

 

A Permit which has expired may be renewed by the Chief Building Official within a six month 

period from the date of expiry upon the making of a written request to the Chief Building Official 

accompanied by a payment of one-half of the original Permit fee, provided that the proposed work 

which was the subject of the Permit, has not been revised. A permit that has been renewed in 

accordance with this section shall not be renewed again. 

 

TRANSFER OF SITE 

 

If registered ownership of the Site for which a Permit has been issued is transferred while the Permit 

remains in effect and outstanding, the new Owner shall, prior to the closing of the transfer; 

 

1. provide the Township with its written undertaking to comply with all of the conditions under 

which the Permit was issued; and 

2. provide security in a form and amount acceptable to the Chief Building Official, at which 

time any security previously provided by the original Permit Holder shall be released; 

3. and failing which the Permit shall be deemed to be cancelled as of the date of the transfer. 

 

REGULATIONS 

 

In addition to the other requirements of this agreement, no Person shall Place or Dump, or cause or 

permit the Placing or Dumping of Fill on, or alter or cause or permit the Alteration of the Grade of, 

or remove or cause or permit the removing of any Topsoil from any land in the Township of 

Puslinch, including any lands which are submerged under any watercourse or other body of water 

unless: 

 

1. it is done with the consent of the Owner of the Site where the Fill is to be Placed or Dumped, 

the Grade altered or the Topsoil removed; 

2. all Fill to be used includes only Soil, stone, sod or other material acceptable to the Chief 

Building Official and that such material is clean and free of any glass, plastics, rubber, 

metals, liquid, garbage and/or contaminants; 

3. the Drainage system for the Site is provided in accordance any Permit issued hereunder and 

as otherwise required by law, and in accordance with proper engineering standards and 

practices and will not result Erosion, blockage, siltation or contamination of a water course, 

flooding or Ponding; 

4. the Fill is Placed or Dumped, any Retaining Wall containing such Fill is erected, the Grade is 

altered, or the Topsoil is removed, in such a manner that no flooding, Ponding, or other 

adverse effects are caused on other lands. 

 

Every Person to whom a Permit is issued pursuant to this by-law shall, in addition to any conditions 

of the Permit; 

 

1. provide a Retaining Wall where required by the Chief Building Official which does not 

encroach upon abutting lands, either above or below Existing Grade, and such Retaining 

Wall shall be constructed to the satisfaction of the Chief Building Official and comply with 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 11 

 

the requirements of the Ontario Building Code. 

2. ensure that the Finished Grade surface is protected by sod, turf, seeding for grass, Vegetation, 

asphalt, concrete or other similar means, or combination thereof; 

3. ensure that Fill shall not be Placed or Dumped around the perimeter of any existing building 

in contravention of the requirements of the Ontario Building Code; 

4. ensure that no trench in which piping is laid forming part of the Drainage system shall be 

covered and backfilled until the work has been inspected and approved by the Chief Building 

Official. 

5. provide such protection for trees as may be required by the Chief Building Official; 

6. provide siltation control measures as may be required by the Chief Building Official; 

7. ensure that the work that is the subject of the Permit does not soil or otherwise foul any 

municipal roads. In the event that this occurs, the Person to whom the Permit was issued 

shall, in accordance with the Township’s by-law to prohibit the obstructing, encumbering, 

injuring or fouling of highways and bridges, as amended from time to time, ensure that the 

road(s) affected are cleaned to the satisfaction of the Township Road Superintendent. 

8. ensure that all conditions of the Permit issued pursuant to this by-law and any requirements 

of this by-law are fulfilled to the satisfaction of the Chief Building Official; 

9. ensure the work that is the subject of the Permit does not occur in areas regulated by a 

Conservation Authority or approval agency without written approval of the respective 

regulatory agency, and in the event this occurs, ensure that the affected areas are restored to 

the satisfaction of the Chief Building Official. 

 

EXEMPTIONS 

 

The provisions of this agreement do not apply to; 

 

1. activities or matters undertaken by a municipality or a local board of a municipality; 

2. the Placing or Dumping of Fill, removal of Topsoil or Alteration of the Grade of land 

imposed as a condition to the approval of a site plan, a plan of subdivision or a consent under 

section 41, 51, or 53, respectively, of the Planning Act or as a requirement of a site plan 

agreement or subdivision agreement entered into under those sections; 

3. the Placing or Dumping of Fills, removal of Topsoil or Alteration of the Grade of land 

imposed as a condition to a development permit authorized by regulation made under section 

70.2 of the Planning Act or as a requirement of an agreement entered into under that 

regulation; 

4. the Placing or Dumping of Fill, removal of Topsoil or Alteration of the Grade of land 

undertaken by a transmitter or distributor, as those terms are defined in section 2 of the 

Electricity Act, 1998, for the purpose of constructing and maintaining a transmission system 

or a distribution system, as those terms are defined in that section; 

5. the Placing or Dumping of Fill, removal of Topsoil or Alteration of the Grade of land 

undertaken on land described in a licence for a pit or quarry or a permit for a wayside pit or 

wayside quarry issued under the Aggregate Resources Act; 

6. the Placing or Dumping of Fill, removal of Topsoil or Alteration of the Grade of land 

undertaken on land in order to lawfully establish and operate or enlarge any pit or quarry on 

land, 

a. that has not been designated under the Aggregate Resources Act or a predecessor of 

that Act, and 

b. on which a pit or quarry is a permitted land use under a by-law passed under section 

34 of the Planning Act; 

7. the Placing or Dumping of Fill, removal of Topsoil or Alteration of the Grade of land 

undertaken as an incidental part of drain construction under the Drainage Act or the Tile 

Drainage Act, 2001; 

8. topdressing of lawns with Topsoil provided the ground elevation of the lands is not increased 

by more than two hundred (200) millimeters; 

9. cultivation or tilling of garden beds so long as such work does not have an adverse effect on 

existing Drainage patterns on neighbouring properties; 

10. excavation of Soil involving an area of less than nine square metres and a depth of less than 

0.5 meters having no significant impact on trees, ground cover, Vegetation, watercourses, or 

storm water swales and not altering or creating a slope at greater than 8%; 

11. minor landscaping works which are at least 0.3 metres from any property line and do not 

impact Drainage patterns on neighbouring properties; and 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 12 

 

12. the removal of Topsoil as an incidental part of a normal agricultural practice, including such 

removal as an incidental part of sod-farming, greenhouse operations and nurseries for 

horticultural products, provided however that this provision shall not exempt from the by-law 

the removal of Topsoil for sale, exchange or other disposition. 

 

If a regulation is made under section 28 of the Conservation Authorities Act respecting the Placing or 

Dumping of Fill, removal of Topsoil or Alteration of the Grade of land in any area of the Township, 

this by-law is of no effect in respect of that area. 

 

CEASE AND DESIST ORDER 

 

Where an Owner or any other Person is in contravention of the agreement, the Chief Building 

Official or an Officer may make an Order directing that the Owner or such Person cease any or all of 

the work immediately. 

 

WORK ORDER 

 

Where a Permit has been issued and an Owner or Permit Holder is in contravention of this 

agreement, the Chief Building Official or an Officer may issue a Work Order directing the Owner or 

Permit Holder, within the time set out in the Order, to take such steps as are necessary so that the 

work which was the subject of the Permit is completed in accordance with the approved Permit, 

plans, documents and other information upon which the Permit was issued. 

 

ORDER FOR REMOVAL 

 

Where a Permit has not been issued and any Person is in contravention of this agreement, the Chief 

Building Official or an Officer may issue an Order for Removal requiring the Person to restore the 

property to a condition it was prior to commencement of such work, to the satisfaction of the Chief 

Building Official, within the time set out in the Order. 

 

COMPLIANCE WITH ORDERS 

 

Any Person to whom a Cease and Desist Order, a Work Order or an Order for Removal is issued 

pursuant to this agreement shall comply with the terms of such Order, within the time set out therein. 

 

Where an Owner of land to whom a Work Order is issued fails to perform the work required by the 

Order, the Township, in addition to any other remedy, may perform such work at the Owner’s 

expense and may recover the cost incurred by adding the costs to the tax roll and collecting them in 

the same manner as property taxes. 

 

ENFORCEMENT 

 

The administration and enforcement of this agreement, shall be performed by the Chief Building 

Official and by those Persons designated as By-Law Officers of the Township, as may be amended 

from time to time. 

 

1. The Chief Building Official and Officers may, at any reasonable time, enter and inspect any 

land to determine whether this agreement, a Cease and Desist Order, a Work Order or an 

Order for Removal, a condition to a Permit issued pursuant to this agreement, or a Court 

Order relating to this agreement is being complied with. 

2. For purposes of an inspection under (1), the Chief Building Official and Officer may; 

a. require the production for inspection of documents or things relevant to the 

inspection; 

b. inspection and remove documents or things relevant to the inspection for the purpose 

of making copies or extracts; 

c. require information from any Person concerning a matter related to the inspection; 

and 

d. alone or in conjunction with a Person possessing special or expert knowledge, make 

examinations or take tests, samples or photographs necessary for the purpose of the 

inspection. 

3. No Person shall obstruct the Chief Building Official or an Officer in carrying out an 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 13 

 

inspection or exercising his or her powers or duties under this by-law. 

4. No Person shall fail to produce any information required by the Chief Building Official or an 

Officer pursuant to clause 29(2) of this by-law. 

 

SERVICE 

 

Any service required to be given under this agreement is sufficiently given if delivered personally or 

sent by registered mail to the Owner at the last known address of the Owner of the land. 

 

Where service is effected by registered mail, it shall be deemed to be made on the fifth (5) day after 

the date of mailing. 

 

PERMIT CONDITIONS 

 

All Permit Holders shall: 

1. Notify the Chief Building Official in writing within 48 hours of commencing any Land 

Disturbance; 

2. Notify the Chief Building Official in writing of the completion of any control measures 

within fourteen (14) days after their installations; 

3. Obtain permission in writing from the Chief Building Official prior to modifying the Control 

Plan; 

4. Install all control measures as identified in the approved Control Plan; 

5. Maintain all road Drainage systems, stormwater Drainage systems, control measures and 

other facilities identified in the Control Plan; 

6. Repair any siltation or Erosion damage to adjoining surfaces and Drainage ways resulting 

from land developing or disturbing activities; 

7. Inspect the construction control measures at least once per week and after each rainfall of at 

least 1 centimetre and make needed repairs; 

8. Allow employees of the Township to enter the Site for the purpose of inspecting for 

compliance with the Control Plan or for performing any work necessary to bring the Site into 

compliance with the Control Plan; and 

9. Maintain a copy of the Control Plan and Operational Procedures Manual on the Site. 

 

The Township shall: 

1. Upon the failure by the Permit Holder to complete all or part of the works in the time 

stipulated in the Control Plan, may draw the appropriate amount from the securities posted 

and use the funds to arrange for the completion of the said works, or any part thereof; 

2. Upon the failure by the permit Holder to repair or maintain a specific part of the works as 

required by the Township, and in the time requested, the Township may at any time authorize 

the use of all or part of the securities to pay the cost of any part of the works it may in its 

absolute discretion deem necessary; or 

3. In the case of emergency repairs or clean-up, the Township may undertake the necessary 

works at the expense of the Permit Holder and reimburse itself out of securities posted by the 

applicant or to add to the cost of the works to the real property tax roll to be collected in like 

manner as taxes. 

 

TRUCK HAUL ROUTE 

 

The truck haul route shall at all times be restricted as illustrated on the ‘Truck Route Map’ as 

described in Schedule “B”. The truck haul route shall not be modified without prior approval from 

the Township. Additional security for the protection of Township roads may apply if changes from 

the route presented herein are requested.  

 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL PROGRAM 

 

The Owner is responsible to verify the type and quality of fill material to be imported to the site. All 

fill material must comply with the parameters as set out in Ontario Regulation 153/04, as amended, 

and Table 1 of the “Soil, Groundwater and Sediment Standards for Use under Part XV.1 of the 

Environmental Protection Act”. Where the concentration of elements or compounds naturally exceed 

Table 1 standards, the applicant must obtain a certificate from a qualified professional attesting that 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 14 

 

the fill material is not or will not likely to be a source of contamination. The intent of this quality 

control is to prevent the importation of material that is of lower chemical quality standard than on-

site material. 

 

Laboratory analysis of soil samples should include metals and inorganics (including Sodium 

Absorption Ratio (SAR), Electrical Conductivity (EC)), Petroleum Hydrocarbons (PHCs -F1-F4 and 

BTEX) and Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs). 

 

Operational Standards 

 

The following criteria are standards for the maintenance and operation of the fill area: 

 

1. Site personnel will receive specialized training for their specific work tasks. 

2. The placement of clean fill material at the site will be adequately and continually supervised. 

3. Clean material will be placed in an orderly manner at the fill area. 

4. Procedures will be established, signs posted, and safeguards maintained for the prevention of on-

site accidents. 

5. Vehicular access to the property will be by roadway closed by a gate capable of being locked. 

6. Access roads and on-site roads will be provided so that vehicles hauling clean material to and on 

the site may travel readily under all normal weather conditions. 

7. Access to the site will be limited to times when an attendant is on duty and accessible only to 

persons authorized to deposit clean material at the fill area. 

8. Drainage passing over or through the site will not adversely affect adjoining property. Natural 

drainage will not be obstructed. 

9. Clean fill material will be placed in such manner that groundwater aquifers will not be impaired. 

10. If groundwater contamination not consistent with the Reasonable Use Criteria as described in 

Ontario Ministry of the Environment Policy 19-08 is encountered, action will be taken to isolate 

the source of contamination and effectively prevent the egress of contaminants from the Site. 

11. Where there is a possibility of groundwater pollution resulting from the operation of the fill area, 

samples will be taken and tests made by the owner of the site to measure the extent of 

contamination and, if necessary, measures will be taken for the collection and treatment of 

contaminants and for the prevention of groundwater pollution. 

12. When the fill area has reached its limit of fill, a final cover of soil will be designed and 

constructed to a grade capable of supporting vegetation and that minimizes erosion. All slopes 

will be designed to drain runoff away from the cover and to prevent water from ponding. No 

standing water will be allowed anywhere in or on the completed fill area. The fill area will then 

be seeded with vegetation to minimize wind and water erosion. The vegetation used will be 

compatible with (i.e., grow and survive under) the local climatic conditions and may include a 

diverse mix of native and introduced species consistent with the post closure land use. However, 

highly invasive alien plants are not acceptable for planting on fill sites. Temporary erosion 

control measures will be undertaken while vegetation is being established. 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 15 

 

Incoming Fill Materials 

 Pre-approval of the Quality of the Fill 

Source 

 Assignment of manifests to track and 

control fill material brought to the site 

Site Inspection Checklist 
 

 All required information 

Visual inspection to ensure that the 

fill does not contain unauthorized 

materials 

Load Cleared to 

proceed to fill area 

Fill Area 

 

Secondary Visual 

Inspection 

Placement and 

Compaction of Fill 

Materials 

Final Grading 

Topsoil & Seeding 

Transportation for Off 

Site Landfill Disposal 
Load Rejected 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL PROGRAM 

 

OPERATIONAL FLOWCHART 

 

 

 

  

 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 16 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL PROGRAM 

 

Fill Screening Procedures 

 

The initial inspection of the truck and its load of clean fill will include a review of the chain of 

custody provided by the transporter and a visual inspection of the fill for signs of contamination. If, 

at any point during the visual inspection there is evidence that the fill may be contaminated it will be 

rejected. 

 

The attached Fill Inspection Checklist will be used to record and document the chain of custody and 

all initial and secondary inspections. 

 

The first procedure for the site inspector will be to record the load number, truck number, the name 

of the company hauling the fill, the driver’s name and ensure that the transporter provides a chain of 

custody (refer to check list). The chain of custody will include a record for the fill being delivered, 

from its place of origin to the site. 

 

The chain of custody will include information concerning the clean fill, the transport of the clean fill, 

and the truck itself. Information pertaining to the clean fill should include: place of origin; soil 

constituents; proof that the fill is clean; and copies of analyses to provide evidence that the soil is not 

contaminated. Records pertaining to the transport should include: a list of all drivers involved in the 

haulage of the clean fill from its place of origin to the Site; documentation of all stops made from the 

place of origin to the Site; documentation that ensures the truck is at the proper location. Records of 

transport cleaning and sanitation procedures for the truck and loading equipment should also be 

provided upon request to ensure that the fill has not been contaminated by previously transported 

materials. 

 

An initial visual inspection of the clean fill will occur while the fill is still in the truck and, if the fill 

is deemed satisfactory, a secondary visual inspection will be performed when the fill is being 

dumped in the designated fill area. Both initial and secondary inspections will include a first-hand 

observation of the following: 

 

 odours  discoloration 

 usual clumping  viscosity (liquids and sludge) 

 hazardous materials (biomedical, 

flammable etc.) 

 putrescible wastes 

 food, household waste  any other unauthorized materials 

 

Initial and secondary inspections will include the raking and probing of the fill in order to agitate the 

soil and bring underlying soil to the surface so that an accurate representation of the soil may be 

inspected. 

 

If there is evidence that the soil may be contaminated the site inspector will reject the load. 

 

When either the initial or secondary inspections provide evidence that the soil is not clean the 

truckload will be refused and directed to the appropriate licensed waste disposal facility. The site 

supervisor will document what was found, why the load was refused and to which facility the load 

was directed. 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 17 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL PROGRAM 

 

Fill Inspection Checklist 

 

Fill Site: Date: Ticket No: 

Time: Inspected by: 

Driver Information: No. of Loads: Quantity: 

 

m³ Company:   

Truck No:   

ACCEPTED REJECTED Driver’s Name:   

   

Source Information: Report Provided 

at Source: 

Type of Fill: 

(Check appropriate box) 

Address:   

YES NO 

RESIDENTIAL  

   INDUSTRIAL  

   AGRICULTURAL  

Visual Inspection Report: Load(s) Contains Clean Fill 

Primary Inspection YES NO 

If “NO” complete the 

following: Secondary Inspection YES NO 

1 Odours   

2 Unusual Discoloration   

3 Hazardous Materials (Biomedical, 

Flammable) 

  

4 Food/Domestic Waste   

5 Liquid or Sludge   

6 Construction Materials (Wood, Drywall etc.)   

7 Scrap Metals   

8 Vegetation (Stumps/Sod)   

9 Asphalt   

10 Other (Describe)   

Comments: 

 

 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 18 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL PROGRAM 

 

Groundwater Monitoring 

 

Procedures for the Groundwater Monitoring Program 

 

To monitor the quality of groundwater migrating off-site a minimum of three monitor wells will be 

installed down gradient from the fill area as shown on the Site Grading Plan. Periodic analytical 

testing of the groundwater will be conducted to ensure that groundwater quality is not degraded as a 

result of the site alteration. Initial groundwater samples must be taken to establish the base line 

parameters of the existing groundwater quality before the filling operation. 

 

The following is an outline of the items related to the groundwater monitoring program that are 

addressed in the Environmental Control Program: 

 

The impacts of the seepage of leachate from the fill area will be assessed in a systematic fashion 

using the techniques described below. 

 

Procedures for performing the groundwater assessment: 

 

1. The concentration of constituents in the groundwater will be determined from laboratory 

analyses of groundwater samples collected down gradient from the fill area. 

2. Acceptable groundwater assessment. The groundwater quality will be considered acceptable if 

the post site alteration groundwater quality is within 5% of the existing groundwater quality and 

there are no statistically increasing trends in chemical concentrations indicative of degrading 

water quality conditions. 

 

Design, Construction and Operation of Groundwater Monitoring Systems 

 

All fill areas, will be identified and studied through a network of monitoring wells operated during 

the active life of the fill area and for two years after closure. Monitoring wells designed and 

constructed as part of the monitoring network will be maintained along with records that include, but 

are not limited to, well location, well size, type of well, the design and construction practice used in 

its installation and well and screen depths. 

 

a. Standards for the location of monitoring points: 

 

1. Monitoring points will be established at sufficient locations down gradient with respect 

to groundwater flow to detect discharge of potential contaminants from within the fill 

area. 

2. Monitoring wells will be located in stratigraphic horizons that could serve as contaminant 

migration pathways. 

3. Monitoring wells will be established as close to the potential source of discharge as 

possible without interfering with the fill operations, and within half the distance from the 

edge of the potential source of discharge to property line down gradient, with respect to 

groundwater flow, from the source. 

4. A minimum of at least three monitoring wells will be established at the property line and 

will be located down gradient from the fill area with respect to groundwater flow. Such 

well or wells will be used to monitor any statistically significant increase in the 

concentration of any constituent and will be used for determining compliance with 

applicable groundwater quality parameters. 

 

b. Standards for monitoring well design and construction: 

 

1. All monitoring wells will be cased in a manner that maintains the integrity of the 

borehole. The casing material will be inert so as not to affect the water sample. Well 

casings requiring a solvent-cement type coupling will not be used. 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 19 

 

2. Wells will be screened to allow sampling only at the desired interval. Annular space 

between the borehole wall and well screen section will be packed with gravel or sand 

sized to avoid clogging by the material in the zone being monitored. The slot size of the 

screen will be designed to minimize clogging. Screens will be fabricated from material 

expected to be inert with respect to the constituents of the groundwater to be sampled. 

3. Annular space above the well screen section will be sealed with a relatively impermeable, 

expandable material such as a cement/bentonite grout, which does not react with or in 

any way affect the sample, in order to prevent contamination of samples and groundwater 

and avoid interconnections. The seal will extend to the highest known seasonal 

groundwater level. 

4. The annular space will be back-filled from an elevation below the frost line and mounded 

above the surface and sloped away from the casing so as to divert surface water away. 

5. The annular space between the upper and lower seals and in the unsaturated zone may be 

back-filled with uncontaminated cuttings. 

6. All wells will be covered with caps and equipped with devices to protect against 

tampering and damage. 

7. All wells will be developed to allow free entry of water to minimize turbidity of the 

sample and minimize clogging. 

8. Other sampling methods and well construction techniques may be utilized if they meet 

Provincial water well construction standards. 

 

c. Standards for Sample Collection and Analysis 

 

1. The groundwater monitoring program will include consistent sampling and analysis 

procedures to assure that monitoring results can be relied upon to provide data 

representative of groundwater quality in the zone being monitored. 

2. The operator will utilize procedures and techniques to insure that collected samples are 

representative of the zone being monitored and that prevent cross contamination of 

samples from other monitoring wells or from other samples. 

3. The operator will establish a quality assurance quality control program for groundwater 

sample collection. 

4. The operator will institute a chain of custody procedure to prevent tampering and 

contamination of the collected samples prior to completion of analysis. 

 

Groundwater Monitoring Program 

 

a. The operator will implement a monitoring program in accordance with the following 

requirements: 

 

1. Monitoring schedule and frequency: 

A. The monitoring period will begin as soon as a fill permit is issued. Monitoring will 

continue for a minimum period of two years after closure. The operator will sample 

all monitoring points on a quarterly basis. 

B. The monitoring frequency may change on a well by well basis to an annual schedule 

if all constituents monitored within the zone of attenuation are less than or equal to 

Standards criteria for three consecutive quarters. However, monitoring will return to 

a quarterly schedule at any well where a statistically significant increase is 

determined to have occurred in the concentration of any constituent with respect to 

the previous sample. 

C. Monitoring will be continued for a minimum period of two years after closure. 

Monitoring beyond the minimum period may be discontinued if no statistically 

significant increase is detected in the concentration of any constituent above that 

measured and recorded during the immediately proceeding schedule sampling for 

three consecutive quarters. 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 20 

 

2. Criteria for choosing constituents to be monitored: 

A. The operator will monitor each well for constituents that will provide a means for 

detecting groundwater contamination. Constituents will be chosen for monitoring if 

the constituent appears in, or is expected to be in, the leachate. 

B. One or more indicator constituents, representative of the transport processes of 

constituents in the leachate, may be chosen for monitoring in place of the constituents 

it represents. 

b. If the analysis of the monitoring data shows that the concentration of one or more 

constituents is attributable to the fill operations and exceeds pre-approval concentrations, 

then the operator will conduct a groundwater impact assessment. The assessment monitoring 

program will be conducted in accordance with the following requirements: 

 

1. The impact assessment will be conducted to collect additional information to assess the 

nature and extent of groundwater contamination, which will consist of, but not be limited 

to, the following steps: 

A. More frequent sampling of the wells in which the observation occurred; 

B. More frequent sampling of any surrounding wells; 

C. The placement of additional monitoring wells to determine the source and extent of 

the contamination; and 

D. Monitoring of additional constituents to determine the source and extent of 

contamination. 

2. If the analysis of the assessment monitoring data shows that the concentration of one or 

more constituents monitored is above the applicable groundwater quality standards and is 

attributable to the fill operations, the operator will determine the nature and extent of the 

groundwater contamination, including an assessment of the continued impact on the 

groundwater should additional fill continue to be accepted at the facility, and will 

implement remedial action. 

 

Plugging and Sealing of Drill Holes 

 

a. All drill holes, including exploration borings that are not converted into monitoring wells, 

monitoring wells that are no longer necessary to the operation of the site, and other holes that 

may cause or facilitate contamination of groundwater shall be sealed in accordance with the 

Ontario Regulation 903. 

 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 21 

 

SCHEDULE “D”  

FINANCIAL SECURITIES 

 

1.0 SECURITY FOR SITE ALTERATION MEASURES 

 

Pursuant to Article 5 of this Agreement the Owner is to provide security in the form of an 

unconditional irrevocable Letter of Credit, for the applicant’s obligations under the By-law 

and any Permit issued, and such requirements as the Chief Building Official considers 

necessary to ensure that the work which is the subject of the Permit is completed in 

accordance with proper engineering standards and practice, this By-law, and the terms and 

conditions of the Permit. Said agreement may be registered on title. The Mayor and the 

Township Clerk are hereby authorized to execute any such agreement on behalf of the 

Township. 

 

1.1 The Letter of Credit or agreement must remain in effect for the full duration of the 

Permit. Any Letter of Credit or agreement and its subsequent renewal forms shall 

contain a clause stating that thirty (30) days written notice must be given to the 

Township prior to its expiry or cancellation. 

1.2 The Letter of Credit shall contain a clause stating that in the event that the Township 

receives notice that a Letter of Credit is expiring and will not be renewed and further 

or additional securities are not provided forthwith, the Township may draw on the 

current Letter of Credit at the discretion of the Chief Building Official. The Permit 

Holder agrees that any interest accruing on the realized security shall belong to the 

Township and not to the Permit Holder. 

 

2.0 GUARANTEE OF SITE WORKS 

 

2.1 The applicant shall provide the Township with a letter of credit in the amount of 

$100,000.00 to guarantee that the works will be completed in accordance with the 

approved plans and documents. 

 

3.0 PROTECTION OF TOWNSHIP HIGHWAYS 

 

3.1 This requirement shall come into effect between the Township of Puslinch and the 

owner (or its authorized agent) of private lands adjacent to a Township Highway 

when the owner has initiated an undertaking that may cause injurious effects to 

Township Highways. 

3.2 When it is determined by the Township Road Superintendent or designate, that the 

scope of a private undertaking will foul, damage, obstruct, injure or encumber the 

Township’s highways; the owner shall provide financial securities to the Township to 

compensate for all such manners of maintenance and restitution that may result from 

the owner’s actions on the thoroughfare. 

3.3 With regards to the security deposit: 

3.3.1 The Township Road Superintendent shall determine the value of the financial 

securities required by the Township. 

3.3.2 The valuation of the security deposit will be an estimate based upon the scope 

of the owner’s undertaking and potential costs to maintain and restore the 

Township highways to their existing conditions prior to the initiation of the 

undertaking. 

3.3.3 The minimum security deposit shall be $1,000.00. 

3.3.4 At any time during the course of the owner’s undertaking, the Township 

Road Superintendent may draw upon the securities posted by the owner to 

clean, maintain, repair or control the effects of the owner’s undertaking on 

the Township highways. 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 22 

 

3.3.5 Should the Township Road Superintendent determine that highway 

maintenance or restitution costs resulting for the owner’s undertaking will 

exceed the estimated security deposit; the owner shall forthwith provide the 

additional securities as deemed necessary by the Roads Superintendent. 

3.3.6 Upon the completion of the owner’s undertaking, the Township will inspect 

the adjacent Township highways and refund the balance of the unused 

security deposit. Similarly, the owner will immediately reimburse the 

Township upon its demand for any and all additional funds expended to 

maintain, repair or correct any deficiencies to the Township’s highways as a 

result of the owner’s undertaking. 

3.4 The security deposit to be posted with the Township shall be in the form of an 

unconditional irrevocable Letter of Credit. 

3.4.1 The deposit must remain in effect for the full duration of the owner’s 

undertaking or until such additional time as the Township Roads 

Superintendent deems necessary due to the season of the activities. 

3.4.2 Any letter of credit and its subsequent renewal forms shall contain a clause 

stipulating that thirty (30) days written notice must be given to the Township 

prior to its expiry or cancellation. 

3.4.3 The Letter of Credit shall contain a clause stating that in the event that the 

Township receives notice that the Letter of Credit is expiring and will not be 

renewed and further or additional securities are not provided forthwith, the 

Township may draw upon the current Letter of Credit at the discretion of the 

Township Treasurer. 

3.5 In the case of emergency repairs or clean-up the Township Road Superintendent may 

undertake the necessary works at the expense of the owner and draw upon the 

securities posted by the owner. 

3.6 All decisions of the Township’s Road Superintendent shall be final with respect to 

any maintenance, cleaning, restoration or repairs to the Township highways resulting 

from the owner’s undertaking. 

3.7 Nothing within these requirements shall preclude the authority of the Township 

Roads Superintendent to maintain the standard duty of care on the Township 

highways, nor limit the abilities of the Superintendent to control or cease the 

proponent’s activities upon the Township highways. 

 

4.0 MUNICIPAL SERVICE FEES 

 

4.1 The applicant shall pay to the Township of Puslinch a Municipal Service Fee of 

$0.06/Tonne or $0.10/c.m. of material imported to the fill site. 

4.2 Payment is to be made to the Township at six (6) month intervals or at the 

completion of the project whichever occurs first. 

 

5.0 IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE PERMIT HOLDER: 

 

5.1 To obtain the approval of the Chief Building Official that the Site has been 

adequately reinstated and stabilized in accordance with this by-law, the plans 

accompanying the Permit and the terms and conditions of the Permit; and, 

5.2 To request that the Township carry out a final inspection of the Site and to obtain the 

approval of the Chief Building Official that this by-law and the terms and conditions 

of the Permit have been complied with the Permit Holder. 

6.0 When the provisions of sections 4.0 and 5.0 above as well as Schedule C – Ground Water 

Monitoring Program have been fully complied with to the satisfaction of the Chief Building 

Official, he or she shall release the Permit Holder’s security. 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 23 

 

 

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL SECURITIES 

 

A. Site Works  $100,000.00 

B. Township Roadways (Min.) $  n/a 

 TOTAL DEPOSIT $100,000.00 

C. Municipal Service Fees  

 Fee based upon quantity of fill material imported. 

 

 



mhasan
Typewritten Text

mhasan
Typewritten Text
Attachment F

mhasan
Typewritten Text



mhasan
Typewritten Text
Attachment G



mhasan
Typewritten Text
Attachment G

mhasan
Typewritten Text

mhasan
Typewritten Text



REPORT PD-2015-007 

 

TO:  Mayor and Members of Council 
 
FROM: Robert Kelly, Chief Building Official 
 
MEETING  
DATE:  April 15, 2015 
  
SUBJECT: Site Alteration Agreement  

Marc & Andrea Reid – 7827 Wellington Road 36 
L04/REI 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Report PD-2015-003 regarding Site Alteration Agreement – Marc & Andrea Reid 
7827 Wellington Rd 36 be received; and  
 
That Report PD-2015-05 regarding Public Meeting - Site Alteration Application – Marc & 
Andrea Reid – 7827 Wellington Road 36 be received; and 
 
That Report PD-2015-007 regarding Site Alteration Agreement – Marc & Andrea Reid – 
7827 Wellington Road 36 be received; and 
 
That Council enact a By-law to authorize the entering into of an Agreement as outlined 
in Report PD-2015-007 with Marc & Andrea Reid – 7827 Wellington Road 36 upon 
submission of required securities and the ground water monitoring well locations, size, 
depth and baseline testing results; for review and approval by the Chief Building Official 
in consultation with the Township consultants. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Purpose 
 
The subject property 7827 Wellington Rd 36 is an agricultural property that is an active 
farm.  The owners of the property wish to import fill to allow for more efficient farming of 
the existing uneven land on the western portion of the property.  The property has a 
horse operation and the owners must find farming efficiencies to increase the 
productivity of these fields.  The site is located on the south side of Wellington Rd 36 

1 
 



and west side of Concession Rd 11; with a legal description of Part Lot 31 Concession 
10.  It has a lot area of approximately 39.2 Hectares. 
   
The applicants are requesting Council to enter into a Site Alteration Agreement attached 
as Schedule “D” to authorize the Chief Building Official to proceed with issuing a Site 
Alteration Permit. 
 

Background 

The applicants sought to obtain a Site Alteration Permit for the levelling of a farm field in 
order to improve the efficiency of farming the land.  In order to make this necessity 
fiscally possible the applicant is seeking to import approximately 69,500 m³ of soils. 
 
The amount of proposed imported fill requires in addition to a Site Alteration Permit, that 
the applicant enter into a Site Alteration Agreement with the Township, where securities 
are provided to the Township and the Agreement is registered on title of the subject 
property.   
 
In accordance with the provisions of By-law 31/12, all requirements have been met and 
reviews completed by the Township’s consultants and outside agencies including GM 
BluePlan, Harden Environmental, GWS, Halton Conservation and County of Wellington 
Roads and Planning Departments. 
 
During consideration of Report PD-2015-03 Council requested that a Public Information 
meeting be held based on input from the community raised at the February 4, 2015 
Council meeting.  A Public Information meeting was held on Wednesday March 11, 
2015 at 7:00 pm at the Puslinch Community Centre. 
 
Public Meeting 
 
The Public Information meeting minutes are listed under section 3 item (b) of the April 
15, 2015 Council Agenda. 
 
In response to questions and concerns raised the following information outlined below is 
provided. 
 
Fill Permits Issued By Other Authorities 
 
The applicant’s fill broker agreed to provide information on previous fill permits issued to 
him. The following information was provided to the Township: 

• 2250 Hi-way 6 South, Flamborough. Permit from Halton Conservation Authority. 
• Pan-am Games site, Tremaine Rd, Milton. Owner is Gov't of Ontario. Permits issued by 

the Town of Milton 
• 5154 3rd Line, Erin. Permits issued by both Grand River Conservation Authority and the 

Town of Erin. 

2 
 



 
County Roads 
 
The Wellington County Roads Department has confirmed that Wellington Road 36 has 
been posted as a Half Load road at Highway 6 and Concession 6 and all the Township 
roads that lead onto WR 36 are posted half load as well. 

The requirement for truck entrance signs has been determined to be required by 
Wellington County Roads Department and will be installed once the frost has thawed 
and before the half load signs are taken down.   

Source Site Audit Process 
 
The Township Site Alteration by-law requires an applicant to retain a qualified engineer 
or environmental consultant to be responsible for ensuring that the site alteration is in 
accordance with reasonable engineering and environmental practices and in 
accordance with the requirements of the Township of Puslinch Site Alteration By-Law, 
including the requirement that fill material must comply with Table 1 of the "Soil, 
Groundwater and Sediment Standards”.   It is up to this qualified person to determine 
the number of samples required to be satisfied that the work is proceeding in 
accordance with the requirements set forth. The Site Alteration By-law does not specify 
minimum sampling requirements. 

The Source site audit process is outlined in the submitted control plan for the proposed 
alteration.  A source site is required to have at least one environmental report 
completed or analysis data and a signed letter from a qualified person who is third party 
to the source site.  The property owner’s qualified person will attend the source site and 
take samples for analysis on sites when the source documents do not adequately 
characterize the soil. After review of analysis and documents the qualified person will 
determine if the site should be deemed acceptable for use as a source site. 

Tracking of imported soils from a source site will be conducted through a ticket process 
and every truck coming to site will have to have the appropriate pre purchased ticket for 
the site. Information on the ticket about the source site and a copy of the soil analysis 
from the source site is required to accompany the fill to complete the chain of custody 
from source site to placement. The location of the fill placement will be conducted based 
on a grid system after each load is inspected. 

Site Alteration Agreement 
 
Further, to Report PD-2015-03 a few modifications have been made to the Site 
Alteration Agreement to provide clarification. 
 

3 
 



 
Section 6.0 of Schedule “D” has been amended to clarify that the permit holder’s 
security will be retained until two years after the fill operation is completed while the 
ground water monitoring program remains in effect. 
 
Sections 4.3 has been added to clarify that the Municipal Service Fee is for recovering 
expenses incurred in accordance with section 5.5 of the Agreement. 
 
HRCA PERMIT 
 
Any changes proposed to the portion of the site governed by the Halton Region 
Conservation Authority permit that deviates from the approved permit will require a 
permit revision or a new permit.  A new grading plan would have to be submitted to 
HRCA to accompany an application to revise an existing permit or obtain a new permit. 
 
Additional Information 
 
For Council’s information a copy of the Hydrogeology Report is attached as Schedule 
‘A’ and the previous reports to Council are attached as Schedules “B” & “C”. 
 
Applicable Legislation and Requirements 
 
Municipal Act, S. O. 2001, Section 142, as amended 
Township of Puslinch Site Alteration By-Law 31/12 
 
Attachments 
 
Schedule “A” - Hydrogeology Report  

Schedule “B” - Report PD-2015-03 

Schedule “C” - Report PD-2015-05  

Schedule “D” -  Site Alteration Agreement  

 
 

 

4 
 















REPORT PD-2015-003 

 

TO:  Mayor and Members of Council 
 
FROM: Chief Building Official 
 
DATE:  February 4, 2015 
  
SUBJECT: Site Alteration Agreement  

Marc & Andrea Reid – 7827 Wellington Road 36 
L04/REI 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Report PD-2015-03 regarding Site Alteration Agreement – Marc & Andrea Reid – 
7827 Wellington Road 36 be received; and 
 
That Council enact a By-law to authorize the entering into of an agreement as outlined 
in Report PD-2015-03 with Marc & Andrea Reid – 7827 Wellington Road 36 upon 
submission of required securities and the Halton Conservation Authority permit. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Purpose 
 
The subject property 7827 Wellington Rd 36 as shown on Schedule “A” and “B” 
attached to this Report is an agricultural property that is an active farm.  The owners of 
the property wish to import fill to allow for more efficient farming of the existing uneven 
land on the western portion of the property.  The property has a horse operation and the 
owners must find farming efficiencies to increase the productivity of these fields.  The 
site is located on the south side of Wellington Rd 36 and west side of Concession Rd 
11; with a legal description of Part lot 31 Concession 10.  It has a lot area of 
approximately 39.2 Hectares.   
The applicants are requesting Council to enter into a Site Alteration Agreement attached 
as Schedule “C” to authorize the Chief Building Official to proceed with issuing a Site 
Alteration Permit. 
  

1 
 



 
Background 
 
The applicants sought to obtain a site alteration permit for the levelling of a farm field in 
order to improve the efficiency of farming the land.  In order to make this necessity 
fiscally possible the applicant is seeking to import approximately 69,500 m³ of soils. 
 
The amount of proposed imported fill requires in addition to a site alteration permit, that 
the applicant enter into a Site Alteration Agreement with the Township, where securities 
are provided to the Township and the agreement is registered on title of the subject 
property.   
 
In accordance with the provisions of By-law 31/12, all requirements have been met and 
reviews completed by the Township’s consultants and outside agencies including GM 
BluePlan, Harden Environmental, GWS, Halton Conservation, County of Wellington 
Roads and Planning. 
 
Prior to bringing forward a By-law to Council authorizing the entering into of an 
agreement the applicant(s) is required to submit securities in a form satisfactory to the 
Township in the amount of $100,000.00 and the Halton Conservation Authority Permit. 
 
Applicable Legislation and Requirements 
 
Municipal Act, S. O. 2001, Section 142, as amended 
Township of Puslinch Zoning By-law 19/85 
 
Site Alteration By-law 31/12 – Excerpts of By-law 31/12 are attached as Schedule “D” to 
this Report to outline the application and document submission requirements. 
 
Attachments 
 
Key Map – Schedule A 
Arial photograph – Schedule B 
Agreement – Schedule C 
Excerpts of By-law 31/12 – Schedule D 

2 
 



Includes material © 2014 of the Queen's Printer for Ontario.  All rights reserved.

1.7

THIS IS NOT SURVEY DATA. Parcels - Teranet 2002, Wellington County 2014

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Kilometers1.7

Notes

Legend

This map is a user generated static output from an Internet mapping site and is for

reference only. Data layers that appear on this map may or may not be accurate,

current, or otherwise reliable.

0.860

1: 33,991

Map of Wellington County

Propane Tank

Propane Hazard Area

Municipal Offices

OPP Stations

Hospitals

Fire Stations

Information Centres

Schools

Post Offices

Arenas

Community Centres

Curling Rinks

Libraries

Museums

Park Parking Lots

County Garages

Parcels

Roads - Small Scale

Local Road

County Road

Highway

Railways

Trails

Waterbodies

Watercourses

Parks

Urban Centres and Hamlets

Municipalities































































































































































SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 2 
 

(complete and insert Document General Page as Page 1) 
 

 TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT 

 
B E T W E E N: 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
- and - 

MARC REID AND ANDREA REID 
 

I N D E X 
 Page No. 

ARTICLE 1 - IDENTIFICATION OF LANDS APPROVED FOR DEVELOPMENT ..................................................................................... 3 
1.1 Legal description ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 3 

ARTICLE 2 - IDENTIFICATION OF PLAN(S) .................................................................................................................................................. 3 
2.1 Approved plan(s) ........................................................................................................................................................................................... 3 
2.2 Filing of plan(s).............................................................................................................................................................................................. 3 

ARTICLE 3 - SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS ........................................................................................................................................................ 3 
3.1 Additional requirements and provisions ......................................................................................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 4 - IMPLEMENTATION OF PLAN(S) .............................................................................................................................................. 4 
4.1 Owner's covenant to implement plan(s) .......................................................................................................................................................... 4 
4.2 Township's right of entry ................................................................................................................................................................................ 4 
4.3 Stop work orders ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 4 
4.4 Notice to comply ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 4 

ARTICLE 5 - FINANCIAL ASSURANCES ......................................................................................................................................................... 4 
5.1 Security requirement - public lands ................................................................................................................................................................ 4 
5.2 Security requirement - subject lands ............................................................................................................................................................... 4 
5.3 Township's right to draw upon security .......................................................................................................................................................... 4 
5.4 Release of Security ......................................................................................................................................................................................... 4 
5.5 Township’s Expenses ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 6 - INDEMNIFICATION ..................................................................................................................................................................... 5 
6.1 Owner's agreement to indemnify .................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 7 - LIABILITY INSURANCE ............................................................................................................................................................. 5 
7.1 When liability insurance required ................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 8 - TIME LIMITS FOR COMPLETION ........................................................................................................................................... 5 
8.1 Consequences of delay ................................................................................................................................................................................... 5 
8.2 Phasing of Site Alteration Works ................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 9 - MAINTENANCE OBLIGATIONS ................................................................................................................................................ 5 
9.1 General covenant to maintain and repair ........................................................................................................................................................ 5 
9.2 Specific maintenance obligations ................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 10 - REGISTRATION OF AGREEMENT ......................................................................................................................................... 6 
10.1 Registration prior to permit issuance ........................................................................................................................................................ 6 

ARTICLE 11 - GENERAL PROVISIONS ............................................................................................................................................................ 6 
11.1 Notices ..................................................................................................................................................................................................... 6 
11.2 Township costs recoverable like taxes ...................................................................................................................................................... 6 
11.3 Waiver ..................................................................................................................................................................................................... 6 
11.4 Covenants as restrictive covenants ........................................................................................................................................................... 6 
11.5 No permit if money owed to Township .................................................................................................................................................... 6 
11.6 Number and Gender ................................................................................................................................................................................. 6 
11.7 Headings and Index .................................................................................................................................................................................. 6 
11.8 No assignment without consent ................................................................................................................................................................ 7 
11.9 Ultra vires terms ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 7 
11.10 Owner's acceptance of agreement ............................................................................................................................................................. 7 
11.11 Enurement ................................................................................................................................................................................................ 7 
 
SCHEDULE "A"  Description of Lands .............................................................................................................................................................. 8 
SCHEDULE "B" Description of Approved Plan(s) ............................................................................................................................................ 9 
SCHEDULE "C" Additional Requirements ...................................................................................................................................................... 10 
SCHEDULE "D" Financial Securities .............................................................................................................................................................. 21 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 3 
 
 

 
 TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 

 SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT 

 
 
THIS AGREEMENT made this ______ day of _____________________, 2015, pursuant to Section 142 of the 
Municipal Act, S.O. 2001, as amended. 
 
B E T W E E N: 
 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH. 
(hereinafter called the "Township") 

 
 PARTY OF THE FIRST PART 
 

- and - 
 

MARC REID AND ANDREA REID 
 (hereinafter called the "Owner") 

 
 PARTY OF THE SECOND PART 
 
 
W H E R E A S: 
 
A. The Owner of the property described in Schedule "A" to this Agreement which is the subject matter of an 

application for Site Alteration Approval pursuant to section 5.2 of the Township by-Law Number 31/12; 
 
B. The Township requires that the Owner enter into a written agreement to identify approved plans, drawings and 

specifications and to require that the property be graded and maintained in accordance with the approved 
documents. 

 
 
NOW THEREFORE this Agreement witnesseth that in consideration of the premises, other good and valuable 
consideration and the sum of Two Dollars ($2.00) of lawful money of Canada, now paid by each of the parties hereto to 
each of the other parties hereto (the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged), the parties agree as follows:  
 
ARTICLE 1 - IDENTIFICATION OF LANDS APPROVED FOR DEVELOPMENT 
 
1.1 Legal description 
 

The Owner's property which is the subject matter of this agreement is described in Schedule "A" attached 
(herein called "the Lands").  

 
ARTICLE 2 - IDENTIFICATION OF PLAN(S) 
 
2.1 Approved plan(s) 
 

The Owner in making application for site alteration approval has agreed to provide to the satisfaction of the 
Township, plan or plans showing the location of all buildings, structures, facilities, works and site elevations 
and services existing and proposed and, where required, technical reports, studies monitoring programs and 
final site restoration. The plan(s) and drawings and reports described in Schedule "B" [hereinafter called the 
"Approved Plan(s)] shall be deemed to have been approved by the Township upon execution of this Agreement. 

 
2.2 Filing of plan(s) 
 

Five (or such greater number as shall be requested by the Township) copies of the Approved Plan(s) shall be 
filed with the Township's Clerk. 

 
ARTICLE 3 - SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
3.1 Additional requirements and provisions 
 

Notwithstanding the approval by the Township of the plans and drawings described in Schedule "B" the parties 
agree that the additional requirements referred to in Schedule "C" (if any) shall apply to the alteration of the 
Lands in addition to the information shown on the Approved Plan(s) and in the event of a conflict between the 
provisions of the Approved Plans and Schedule “C” then the provisions of the latter shall prevail. 

 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 4 
 
ARTICLE 4 - IMPLEMENTATION OF PLAN(S) 
 
4.1 Owner's covenant to implement plan(s) 
 

The Owner covenants and agrees that all works and features illustrated on the Approved Plan(s) and the 
additional requirements set out in Schedule "C", if any, shall be constructed, installed, performed or provided as 
the case may be at the Owner's sole risk and expense and to the satisfaction of the Township. 

 
4.2 Township's right of entry 
 

The Township shall have a right of entry upon the Lands, through employees, agents or contractors to ensure 
that the provisions of this agreement are complied with at all times. 

 
4.3 Stop work orders 
 

The Township's Chief Building Official shall treat a breach of the terms of this Agreement or covenants 
contained herein in a manner similar to a breach of the Township's Site Alteration By-Law and shall issue a stop 
work order until such breach is rectified. The Owner acknowledges that the requirements of this Agreement 
constitute applicable law for purposes of the Building Code Act. 

 
4.4 Notice to comply 
 

In the event that the Township gives written notice to the registered Owner of the Lands that it has failed to 
construct, provide or maintain any matter or thing illustrated on the Approved Plan(s) or required by this 
Agreement, and if the Owner fails to construct, provide or maintain such required matter or thing within thirty 
(30) days of the date that such notice is mailed by prepaid registered mail to such person at the address for such 
person set out in Article 11.1 or as shown on the most-recently revised assessment roll then the Township may 
enter upon the Lands, through employees, agents or contractors and construct, provide or maintain such matter 
or thing which had been specified in the notice at the expense of the registered Owner of the Land. 

 
ARTICLE 5 - FINANCIAL ASSURANCES 
 
5.1 Security requirement - public lands 
 

In the event any works are to be performed on municipally or publicly-owned property of any kind which may 
service the subject lands, the Owner shall, at the time of signing this Agreement and prior to the commencement 
of work, supply the Township with an unconditional irrevocable Letter of Credit from a chartered Canadian 
bank, in a form and an amount satisfactory to the Township sufficient to guarantee the satisfactory completion 
of the works to be constructed or performed by the Owner on municipally or publicly-owned lands and further 
guaranteeing the workmanship and materials of all such works and matters. The Letter of Credit shall further 
guarantee payment to the Township of all inspection or other costs that the Township may incur in connection 
with such works or the preparation and implementation of this Agreement. 

 
5.2 Security requirement - subject lands 
 

In addition to the security to be provided to the Township pursuant to Article 5.1, the Owner shall at the time of 
signing this Agreement and prior to the commencement of work, unless such requirement is specifically waived 
in writing by the Township, supply the Township with an unconditional irrevocable Letter of Credit from a 
chartered Canadian bank, in a form and an amount satisfactory to the Township sufficient to guarantee the 
satisfactory completion of the work and facilities to be provided on the Lands pursuant to the Approved Plan(s) 
and this Agreement and further guaranteeing the workmanship and materials of all such works and matters. The 
Letter of Credit shall further guarantee payment to the Township of all inspection or other costs that the 
Township may incur in connection with such works or the preparation and implementation of this Agreement. 

 
5.3 Township's right to draw upon security 
 

In the event that the Owner fails to comply with a notice given to him pursuant to Article 4.4 hereof the 
Township shall be at liberty to draw upon the security provided to it pursuant to this Article to pay for the cost 
of any work undertaken by it or on its behalf pursuant to such notice and to pay the costs incurred by the 
Township in the administration and implementation of this Agreement. 

 
5.4 Release of Security 
 

The security provided under this Article, or the amount thereof remaining after draws referred to in Article 5.3, 
shall be delivered or repaid to the Owner after all of the works have been completed in each stage to the 
satisfaction of the Township’s authorized personnel. 

 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 5 
 
5.5 Township’s Expenses 
 

The Owner agrees to pay to the Township all reasonable costs incurred by the Township in connection with the 
undertaking to alter this site which, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, shall include all expenses of 
the Township heretofore and hereinafter incurred for legal, engineering, surveying, planning and inspection 
services, extra Council meetings, if any, and employees’ extra time, if any, and shall pay such costs from time to 
time forthwith upon demand, provided, if such costs be not paid forthwith same shall bear interest from the date 
which is 10 days following the date of demand to the date of payment at two (2) percentage points in excess of 
prime rate of interest charged by the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce during such period. 

 
ARTICLE 6 - INDEMNIFICATION 
 
6.1 Owner's agreement to indemnify 
 

The Owner agrees on behalf of himself, its heirs, executors, administrators and assigns to save harmless and 
indemnify the Township, and, if applicable, the County of Wellington, and their respective officials employees 
and agents, from all losses, damages, costs, charges and expenses which may be claimed or recovered against 
the Township or the County of Wellington, as the case may be, by any person or persons arising either directly 
or indirectly as a result of any action taken by the Owner pursuant to or implementing the terms of this 
Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE 7 - LIABILITY INSURANCE 
 
7.1 When liability insurance required 
 

In the event that work is to be performed by the Owner, its servants, agents or contractors on lands owned by the 
Township, or the County of Wellington, the Owner shall supply the Township or the County of Wellington with 
written evidence of a current comprehensive liability insurance policy in form satisfactory to the Township, 
holding the Township (and if applicable the County of Wellington) harmless for any and all claims for damages, 
injuries or losses in connection with the work done by or on behalf of the Owner, its servants, agents or 
contractors on or adjacent to the Lands in an amount of not less than Two Million ($2,000,000.00) Dollars 
inclusive. The Township (and if applicable the County of Wellington) are to be named as insured parties in the 
said policy. 

 
ARTICLE 8 - TIME LIMITS FOR COMPLETION 
 
8.1 Consequences of delay 
 

In the event that a site alteration permit is not issued and re-grading has not commenced within one year from 
the date of this Agreement, or if the works and facilities contemplated in the Approved Plan(s) are not fully 
completed within two (2) years from the date of this Agreement, the conditions of approval and provisions of 
this Agreement will be reviewed and may be subject to revision by the Township by notice in writing to the 
Owner which revisions shall be accepted and implemented by the Owner. 
 

8.2 Phasing of Site Alteration Works 
 
The Owner agrees that all works and features illustrated on the Approved Plan(s) shall represent the total 
alterations on the property. The Owner also agrees that any future development beyond the approved plans will 
be subject to any additional plans, agreements and provisions as required by the Township. 
 

ARTICLE 9 - MAINTENANCE OBLIGATIONS 
 
9.1 General covenant to maintain and repair 
 

The Owner agrees that all of the facilities, works and features illustrated on the Approved Plan(s) shall be 
maintained and kept in good repair at the Owner's sole risk and expense and to the satisfaction of the Township. 
In the event that the Township gives written notice to the Owner or the of the Lands that maintenance or repair 
of any matter required to be provided by this Agreement is to be undertaken, and if the Owner fails to undertake 
such required maintenance or repair within thirty (30) days of the date that such notice is mailed by prepaid 
registered mail to such person at the address for such person set out in Article 11.1 or as shown on the most-
recently revised assessment roll then the Township may enter upon the Lands, through employees, agents or 
contractors and perform such maintenance or repairs which had been specified in the notice at the expense of 
the registered Owner of the Land. 

 
9.2 Specific maintenance obligations 
 

The Owner covenants with the Township as follows: 
 

(a) that it shall at all times maintain the installations, structures and facilities illustrated on the Approved 
Plan(s) and described in Schedule "B", if applicable, in good condition and repair; 

 
(b) that it shall ensure that all required environmental control and or monitoring devices identified on the 
Approved Plan(s) are properly maintained and protected from damages at all times. 

 
In the event that the Owner of the Lands, is in breach of any of the covenants in this Article then the provisions 
of Article 11.2 hereof shall apply. 

 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 6 
 
ARTICLE 10 - REGISTRATION OF AGREEMENT 
 
10.1 Registration prior to permit issuance 
 

This Agreement will be registered against the title to the Lands and the Owner will pay for the cost of 
registration. 

 
ARTICLE 11 - GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
11.1 Notices 
 

Any notice, invoice or other writing required or permitted to be given pursuant to this agreement (including 
notice of a change of address) shall be deemed to have been given if delivered personally to the party or to an 
officer of the applicable corporation or if delivered by prepaid first class mail, on the third (3rd) day after 
mailing. The address for service of each of the parties is as follows: 

 
Owner:   Marc Reid and Andrea Reid 
   7827 Wellington Road 36 

Moffat, ON  L0P 1J0 
 
Township:  The Corporation of the Township of Puslinch 

7404 Wellington Road 34 
RR 3 
Guelph, ON  N1H 6H9 

 
To any other person: at the address shown for such person in the 

last revised assessment roll or the latest 
address for such person as shown in the 
Township's records. 

 
11.2 Township costs recoverable like taxes 
 

Notwithstanding any other remedy available to the Township, the Owner acknowledges and agrees that any 
expense incurred by the Township in connection with the approval of the Approved Plans or the preparation, 
registration, administration, implementation and enforcement of this Agreement, and specifically the 
maintenance obligations in Article 9, may be recovered by the Township in like manner as municipal taxes 
pursuant to the provisions of Section 326 of the Municipal Act. 

 
11.3 Waiver 
 

It is expressly understood and agreed that the remedies of the Township under this Agreement are cumulative 
and the exercise by the Township of any right or remedy for the default or breach of any term, covenant, 
condition or agreement herein contained shall not be deemed to be a waiver or alter, affect or prejudice any 
other right or remedy or other rights or remedies, to which the Township may be lawfully entitled for the same 
default or breach; and any waiver by the Township of the strict observance, performance or compliance by the 
Owner or with any term, covenant, condition or agreement herein contained, or any indulgence granted by the 
Township to the Owner shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent default or breach by the Owner, 
nor entitle the Owner to any similar indulgence heretofore granted. 

 
11.4 Covenants as restrictive covenants 
 

So far as may be, the covenants of the Owner herein shall be restrictive covenants running with the land for the 
benefit of the adjoining lands of the Township or such of them as may be benefited thereby and shall be binding 
on the Owner, its heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns as Owner and occupier of the said land 
from time to time. 

 
11.5 No permit if money owed to Township 
 

The Owner hereby agrees to pay all municipal taxes on the Lands which may be in arrears at the time of signing 
this Agreement and shall ensure that all taxes are paid up to date with respect to the Lands. Additionally, the 
Owner shall ensure that all taxes owing by him to the municipality on all other properties owned by the Owner 
elsewhere in the Township and any other accounts owing by him to the Township are also paid up to date. No 
site alteration permit will be issued with respect to the Lands until this Article has been complied with. 

 
11.6 Number and Gender 
 

It is agreed between the parties hereto that the appropriate changes in the number and gender shall be implied 
where the context of this Agreement and any schedules hereto so require in order that the Agreement and any 
part thereof shall be construed to have its proper and reasonable meaning. 

 
11.7 Headings and Index  
 

All headings and sub-headings and the Index within this agreement are incorporated for ease of reference 
purposes only and do not form an integral part of the Agreement. 

 
11.8 No assignment without consent 
 

The Owner shall not assign this Agreement until all works and facilities required by this Agreement have been 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 7 
 

completed without the prior written consent of the Township, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld. 
 
11.9 Ultra vires terms 
 

If any term of this Agreement shall be found to be Ultra Vires of the Township, or otherwise unlawful, such 
term shall conclusively be deemed severable and the remainder of this Agreement mutatis mutandis shall be and 
remain in full force and effect. 

 
11.10 Owner's acceptance of agreement 
 

The Owner shall not call into question, directly or indirectly, in any proceedings whatsoever in law or in equity 
or before any administrative tribunal the right of the Township to enter into this Agreement and to enforce each 
and every term of this Agreement and this Agreement may be pleaded as an estoppel against the Owner in any 
such proceedings. 

 
11.11 Enurement 
 

This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto, and their respective 
successors and assigns. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have hereunto set their hands and seals or where applicable have 
caused to be affixed their corporate seals under the hands of their duly authorized officers in that behalf. 
 
 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF 
PUSLINCH 
per: 

 
 

_________________________________________________ 
Dennis Lever, Mayor 

 
per: 

 
 

_________________________________________________ 
Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk 

 
I/We have authority to bind the Corporation 

 
 
SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED   
 
in the presence of:    per: 

 
 
_________________________________________________
Marc Reid 
 
per: 
 
 
_________________________________________________
Andrea Reid 
 
 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 8 
 

SCHEDULE "A" 
 
 

DESCRIPTION OF LANDS 
 

Part of Lot 31, Concession 10 Township of Puslinch, County of Wellington,  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 9 
 

SCHEDULE "B" 
 
 

DESCRIPTION OF APPROVED PLANS 
 

 
DWG. NO. REV. NO. DATE DESCRIPTION PREPARED BY 

1 3 Jan. 15, 2015 Grading Plan Van Harten Surveying Inc. 
2 3 Jan. 15, 2015 Cross Sections Van Harten Surveying Inc. 

NA 2 Feb. 13, 2015 
Reid Property Clean Fill 
Project – Control Plan 

Maat Environmental 
Engineering Corp. 

NA 0 Aug. 26, 2014 Entrance Permit No. 31-09-14 County of Wellington 

NA 0 Dec. 8, 2014 Truck Route Map Maat Environmental 
Engineering Corp. 

     

     

     

     

     

     

 
  



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 10 
 

SCHEDULE "C" 
 
 

ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS (in addition to matters shown on Approved Plan(s) 
 

INSPECTIONS 
 
Every Permit Holder shall ensure that a request is made to the Chief Building Official by the Permit 
Holder or his/her authorized agent to make inspections at the commencement and completion of the 
work that is the subject of the Permit, and to make any such further inspection(s) as may be required 
by the Chief Building Official. 
 
TERM OF PERMIT AND PERMIT RENEWAL 
 
Any Permit issued pursuant to this agreement shall be valid for a period of one year from the date of 
issuance unless revoked in accordance with this agreement. 
 
A Permit which has expired may be renewed by the Chief Building Official within a six month 
period from the date of expiry upon the making of a written request to the Chief Building Official 
accompanied by a payment of one-half of the original Permit fee, provided that the proposed work 
which was the subject of the Permit, has not been revised. A permit that has been renewed in 
accordance with this section shall not be renewed again. 
 
TRANSFER OF SITE 
 
If registered ownership of the Site for which a Permit has been issued is transferred while the Permit 
remains in effect and outstanding, the new Owner shall, prior to the closing of the transfer; 
 

1. provide the Township with its written undertaking to comply with all of the conditions under 
which the Permit was issued; and 

2. provide security in a form and amount acceptable to the Chief Building Official, at which 
time any security previously provided by the original Permit Holder shall be released; 

3. and failing which the Permit shall be deemed to be cancelled as of the date of the transfer. 
 
REGULATIONS 
 
In addition to the other requirements of this agreement, no Person shall Place or Dump, or cause or 
permit the Placing or Dumping of Fill on, or alter or cause or permit the Alteration of the Grade of, 
or remove or cause or permit the removing of any Topsoil from any land in the Township of 
Puslinch, including any lands which are submerged under any watercourse or other body of water 
unless: 
 

1. it is done with the consent of the Owner of the Site where the Fill is to be Placed or Dumped, 
the Grade altered or the Topsoil removed; 

2. all Fill to be used includes only Soil, stone, sod or other material acceptable to the Chief 
Building Official and that such material is clean and free of any glass, plastics, rubber, 
metals, liquid, garbage and/or contaminants; 

3. the Drainage system for the Site is provided in accordance any Permit issued hereunder and 
as otherwise required by law, and in accordance with proper engineering standards and 
practices and will not result Erosion, blockage, siltation or contamination of a water course, 
flooding or Ponding; 

4. the Fill is Placed or Dumped, any Retaining Wall containing such Fill is erected, the Grade is 
altered, or the Topsoil is removed, in such a manner that no flooding, Ponding, or other 
adverse effects are caused on other lands. 

 
Every Person to whom a Permit is issued pursuant to this by-law shall, in addition to any conditions 
of the Permit; 
 

1. provide a Retaining Wall where required by the Chief Building Official which does not 
encroach upon abutting lands, either above or below Existing Grade, and such Retaining 
Wall shall be constructed to the satisfaction of the Chief Building Official and comply with 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 11 
 

the requirements of the Ontario Building Code. 
2. ensure that the Finished Grade surface is protected by sod, turf, seeding for grass, Vegetation, 

asphalt, concrete or other similar means, or combination thereof; 
3. ensure that Fill shall not be Placed or Dumped around the perimeter of any existing building 

in contravention of the requirements of the Ontario Building Code; 
4. ensure that no trench in which piping is laid forming part of the Drainage system shall be 

covered and backfilled until the work has been inspected and approved by the Chief Building 
Official. 

5. provide such protection for trees as may be required by the Chief Building Official; 
6. provide siltation control measures as may be required by the Chief Building Official; 
7. ensure that the work that is the subject of the Permit does not soil or otherwise foul any 

municipal roads. In the event that this occurs, the Person to whom the Permit was issued 
shall, in accordance with the Township’s by-law to prohibit the obstructing, encumbering, 
injuring or fouling of highways and bridges, as amended from time to time, ensure that the 
road(s) affected are cleaned to the satisfaction of the Township Road Superintendent. 

8. ensure that all conditions of the Permit issued pursuant to this by-law and any requirements 
of this by-law are fulfilled to the satisfaction of the Chief Building Official; 

9. ensure the work that is the subject of the Permit does not occur in areas regulated by a 
Conservation Authority or approval agency without written approval of the respective 
regulatory agency, and in the event this occurs, ensure that the affected areas are restored to 
the satisfaction of the Chief Building Official. 

 
EXEMPTIONS 
 
The provisions of this agreement do not apply to; 
 

1. activities or matters undertaken by a municipality or a local board of a municipality; 
2. the Placing or Dumping of Fill, removal of Topsoil or Alteration of the Grade of land 

imposed as a condition to the approval of a site plan, a plan of subdivision or a consent under 
section 41, 51, or 53, respectively, of the Planning Act or as a requirement of a site plan 
agreement or subdivision agreement entered into under those sections; 

3. the Placing or Dumping of Fills, removal of Topsoil or Alteration of the Grade of land 
imposed as a condition to a development permit authorized by regulation made under section 
70.2 of the Planning Act or as a requirement of an agreement entered into under that 
regulation; 

4. the Placing or Dumping of Fill, removal of Topsoil or Alteration of the Grade of land 
undertaken by a transmitter or distributor, as those terms are defined in section 2 of the 
Electricity Act, 1998, for the purpose of constructing and maintaining a transmission system 
or a distribution system, as those terms are defined in that section; 

5. the Placing or Dumping of Fill, removal of Topsoil or Alteration of the Grade of land 
undertaken on land described in a licence for a pit or quarry or a permit for a wayside pit or 
wayside quarry issued under the Aggregate Resources Act; 

6. the Placing or Dumping of Fill, removal of Topsoil or Alteration of the Grade of land 
undertaken on land in order to lawfully establish and operate or enlarge any pit or quarry on 
land, 

a. that has not been designated under the Aggregate Resources Act or a predecessor of 
that Act, and 

b. on which a pit or quarry is a permitted land use under a by-law passed under section 
34 of the Planning Act; 

7. the Placing or Dumping of Fill, removal of Topsoil or Alteration of the Grade of land 
undertaken as an incidental part of drain construction under the Drainage Act or the Tile 
Drainage Act, 2001; 

8. topdressing of lawns with Topsoil provided the ground elevation of the lands is not increased 
by more than two hundred (200) millimeters; 

9. cultivation or tilling of garden beds so long as such work does not have an adverse effect on 
existing Drainage patterns on neighbouring properties; 

10. excavation of Soil involving an area of less than nine square metres and a depth of less than 
0.5 meters having no significant impact on trees, ground cover, Vegetation, watercourses, or 
storm water swales and not altering or creating a slope at greater than 8%; 

11. minor landscaping works which are at least 0.3 metres from any property line and do not 
impact Drainage patterns on neighbouring properties; and 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 12 
 

12. the removal of Topsoil as an incidental part of a normal agricultural practice, including such 
removal as an incidental part of sod-farming, greenhouse operations and nurseries for 
horticultural products, provided however that this provision shall not exempt from the by-law 
the removal of Topsoil for sale, exchange or other disposition. 

 
If a regulation is made under section 28 of the Conservation Authorities Act respecting the Placing or 
Dumping of Fill, removal of Topsoil or Alteration of the Grade of land in any area of the Township, 
this by-law is of no effect in respect of that area. 
 
CEASE AND DESIST ORDER 
 
Where an Owner or any other Person is in contravention of the agreement, the Chief Building 
Official or an Officer may make an Order directing that the Owner or such Person cease any or all of 
the work immediately. 
 
WORK ORDER 
 
Where a Permit has been issued and an Owner or Permit Holder is in contravention of this 
agreement, the Chief Building Official or an Officer may issue a Work Order directing the Owner or 
Permit Holder, within the time set out in the Order, to take such steps as are necessary so that the 
work which was the subject of the Permit is completed in accordance with the approved Permit, 
plans, documents and other information upon which the Permit was issued. 
 
ORDER FOR REMOVAL 
 
Where a Permit has not been issued and any Person is in contravention of this agreement, the Chief 
Building Official or an Officer may issue an Order for Removal requiring the Person to restore the 
property to a condition it was prior to commencement of such work, to the satisfaction of the Chief 
Building Official, within the time set out in the Order. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH ORDERS 
 
Any Person to whom a Cease and Desist Order, a Work Order or an Order for Removal is issued 
pursuant to this agreement shall comply with the terms of such Order, within the time set out therein. 
 
Where an Owner of land to whom a Work Order is issued fails to perform the work required by the 
Order, the Township, in addition to any other remedy, may perform such work at the Owner’s 
expense and may recover the cost incurred by adding the costs to the tax roll and collecting them in 
the same manner as property taxes. 
 
ENFORCEMENT 
 
The administration and enforcement of this agreement, shall be performed by the Chief Building 
Official and by those Persons designated as By-Law Officers of the Township, as may be amended 
from time to time. 
 

1. The Chief Building Official and Officers may, at any reasonable time, enter and inspect any 
land to determine whether this agreement, a Cease and Desist Order, a Work Order or an 
Order for Removal, a condition to a Permit issued pursuant to this agreement, or a Court 
Order relating to this agreement is being complied with. 

2. For purposes of an inspection under (1), the Chief Building Official and Officer may; 
a. require the production for inspection of documents or things relevant to the 

inspection; 
b. inspection and remove documents or things relevant to the inspection for the purpose 

of making copies or extracts; 
c. require information from any Person concerning a matter related to the inspection; 

and 
d. alone or in conjunction with a Person possessing special or expert knowledge, make 

examinations or take tests, samples or photographs necessary for the purpose of the 
inspection. 

3. No Person shall obstruct the Chief Building Official or an Officer in carrying out an 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 13 
 

inspection or exercising his or her powers or duties under this by-law. 
4. No Person shall fail to produce any information required by the Chief Building Official or an 

Officer pursuant to clause 29(2) of this by-law. 
 
SERVICE 
 
Any service required to be given under this agreement is sufficiently given if delivered personally or 
sent by registered mail to the Owner at the last known address of the Owner of the land. 
 
Where service is effected by registered mail, it shall be deemed to be made on the fifth (5) day after 
the date of mailing. 
 
PERMIT CONDITIONS 
 
All Permit Holders shall: 

1. Notify the Chief Building Official in writing within 48 hours of commencing any Land 
Disturbance; 

2. Notify the Chief Building Official in writing of the completion of any control measures 
within fourteen (14) days after their installations; 

3. Obtain permission in writing from the Chief Building Official prior to modifying the Control 
Plan; 

4. Install all control measures as identified in the approved Control Plan; 
5. Maintain all road Drainage systems, stormwater Drainage systems, control measures and 

other facilities identified in the Control Plan; 
6. Repair any siltation or Erosion damage to adjoining surfaces and Drainage ways resulting 

from land developing or disturbing activities; 
7. Inspect the construction control measures at least once per week and after each rainfall of at 

least 1 centimetre and make needed repairs; 
8. Allow employees of the Township to enter the Site for the purpose of inspecting for 

compliance with the Control Plan or for performing any work necessary to bring the Site into 
compliance with the Control Plan; and 

9. Maintain a copy of the Control Plan and Operational Procedures Manual on the Site. 
 
The Township shall: 

1. Upon the failure by the Permit Holder to complete all or part of the works in the time 
stipulated in the Control Plan, may draw the appropriate amount from the securities posted 
and use the funds to arrange for the completion of the said works, or any part thereof; 

2. Upon the failure by the permit Holder to repair or maintain a specific part of the works as 
required by the Township, and in the time requested, the Township may at any time authorize 
the use of all or part of the securities to pay the cost of any part of the works it may in its 
absolute discretion deem necessary; or 

3. In the case of emergency repairs or clean-up, the Township may undertake the necessary 
works at the expense of the Permit Holder and reimburse itself out of securities posted by the 
applicant or to add to the cost of the works to the real property tax roll to be collected in like 
manner as taxes. 

 
TRUCK HAUL ROUTE 
 
The truck haul route shall at all times be restricted as illustrated on the ‘Truck Route Map’ as 
described in Schedule “B”. The truck haul route shall not be modified without prior approval from 
the Township. Additional security for the protection of Township roads may apply if changes from 
the route presented herein are requested.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL PROGRAM 
 
The Owner is responsible to verify the type and quality of fill material to be imported to the site. All 
fill material must comply with the parameters as set out in Ontario Regulation 153/04, as amended, 
and Table 1 of the “Soil, Groundwater and Sediment Standards for Use under Part XV.1 of the 
Environmental Protection Act”. Where the concentration of elements or compounds naturally exceed 
Table 1 standards, the applicant must obtain a certificate from a qualified professional attesting that 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 14 
 

the fill material is not or will not likely to be a source of contamination. The intent of this quality 
control is to prevent the importation of material that is of lower chemical quality standard than on-
site material. 
 
Laboratory analysis of soil samples should include metals and inorganics (including Sodium 
Absorption Ratio (SAR), Electrical Conductivity (EC)), Petroleum Hydrocarbons (PHCs -F1-F4 and 
BTEX) and Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs). 
 
Operational Standards 
 
The following criteria are standards for the maintenance and operation of the fill area: 
 
1. Site personnel will receive specialized training for their specific work tasks. 

2. The placement of clean fill material at the site will be adequately and continually supervised. 

3. Clean material will be placed in an orderly manner at the fill area. 

4. Procedures will be established, signs posted, and safeguards maintained for the prevention of on-
site accidents. 

5. Vehicular access to the property will be by roadway closed by a gate capable of being locked. 

6. Access roads and on-site roads will be provided so that vehicles hauling clean material to and on 
the site may travel readily under all normal weather conditions. 

7. Access to the site will be limited to times when an attendant is on duty and accessible only to 
persons authorized to deposit clean material at the fill area. 

8. Drainage passing over or through the site will not adversely affect adjoining property. Natural 
drainage will not be obstructed. 

9. Clean fill material will be placed in such manner that groundwater aquifers will not be impaired. 

10. If groundwater contamination not consistent with the Reasonable Use Criteria as described in 
Ontario Ministry of the Environment Policy 19-08 is encountered, action will be taken to isolate 
the source of contamination and effectively prevent the egress of contaminants from the Site. 

11. Where there is a possibility of groundwater pollution resulting from the operation of the fill area, 
samples will be taken and tests made by the owner of the site to measure the extent of 
contamination and, if necessary, measures will be taken for the collection and treatment of 
contaminants and for the prevention of groundwater pollution. 

12. When the fill area has reached its limit of fill, a final cover of soil will be designed and 
constructed to a grade capable of supporting vegetation and that minimizes erosion. All slopes 
will be designed to drain runoff away from the cover and to prevent water from ponding. No 
standing water will be allowed anywhere in or on the completed fill area. The fill area will then 
be seeded with vegetation to minimize wind and water erosion. The vegetation used will be 
compatible with (i.e., grow and survive under) the local climatic conditions and may include a 
diverse mix of native and introduced species consistent with the post closure land use. However, 
highly invasive alien plants are not acceptable for planting on fill sites. Temporary erosion 
control measures will be undertaken while vegetation is being established. 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 15 
 

Incoming Fill Materials 
• Pre-approval of the Quality of the Fill 

Source 
• Assignment of manifests to track and 

control fill material brought to the site 

Site Inspection Checklist 
 

• All required information 

Visual inspection to ensure that the 
fill does not contain unauthorized 

materials 

Load Cleared to 
proceed to fill area 

Fill Area 
 

Secondary Visual 
Inspection 

Placement and 
Compaction of Fill 

Materials 

Final Grading 
Topsoil & Seeding 

Transportation for Off 
Site Landfill Disposal Load Rejected 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL PROGRAM 
 
OPERATIONAL FLOWCHART 
 
 
 
  
 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 16 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL PROGRAM 
 
Fill Screening Procedures 
 
The initial inspection of the truck and its load of clean fill will include a review of the chain of 
custody provided by the transporter and a visual inspection of the fill for signs of contamination. If, 
at any point during the visual inspection there is evidence that the fill may be contaminated it will be 
rejected. 
 
The attached Fill Inspection Checklist will be used to record and document the chain of custody and 
all initial and secondary inspections. 
 
The first procedure for the site inspector will be to record the load number, truck number, the name 
of the company hauling the fill, the driver’s name and ensure that the transporter provides a chain of 
custody (refer to check list). The chain of custody will include a record for the fill being delivered, 
from its place of origin to the site. 
 
The chain of custody will include information concerning the clean fill, the transport of the clean fill, 
and the truck itself. Information pertaining to the clean fill should include: place of origin; soil 
constituents; proof that the fill is clean; and copies of analyses to provide evidence that the soil is not 
contaminated. Records pertaining to the transport should include: a list of all drivers involved in the 
haulage of the clean fill from its place of origin to the Site; documentation of all stops made from the 
place of origin to the Site; documentation that ensures the truck is at the proper location. Records of 
transport cleaning and sanitation procedures for the truck and loading equipment should also be 
provided upon request to ensure that the fill has not been contaminated by previously transported 
materials. 
 
An initial visual inspection of the clean fill will occur while the fill is still in the truck and, if the fill 
is deemed satisfactory, a secondary visual inspection will be performed when the fill is being 
dumped in the designated fill area. Both initial and secondary inspections will include a first-hand 
observation of the following: 
 

• odours • discoloration 
• usual clumping • viscosity (liquids and sludge) 
• hazardous materials (biomedical, 

flammable etc.) 
• putrescible wastes 

• food, household waste • any other unauthorized materials 
 
Initial and secondary inspections will include the raking and probing of the fill in order to agitate the 
soil and bring underlying soil to the surface so that an accurate representation of the soil may be 
inspected. 
 
If there is evidence that the soil may be contaminated the site inspector will reject the load. 
 
When either the initial or secondary inspections provide evidence that the soil is not clean the 
truckload will be refused and directed to the appropriate licensed waste disposal facility. The site 
supervisor will document what was found, why the load was refused and to which facility the load 
was directed. 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 17 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL PROGRAM 
 
Fill Inspection Checklist 
 

Fill Site: Date: Ticket No: 

Time: Inspected by: 

Driver Information: No. of Loads: Quantity: 
 
m³ Company:   

Truck No:   
ACCEPTED REJECTED Driver’s Name:   

   
Source Information: Report Provided 

at Source: 
Type of Fill: 
(Check appropriate box) 

Address:   
YES NO 

RESIDENTIAL  
   INDUSTRIAL  
   AGRICULTURAL  
Visual Inspection Report: Load(s) Contains Clean Fill 

Primary Inspection YES NO 
If “NO” complete the 
following: Secondary Inspection YES NO 
1 Odours   

2 Unusual Discoloration   

3 Hazardous Materials (Biomedical, 

Flammable) 

  

4 Food/Domestic Waste   

5 Liquid or Sludge   

6 Construction Materials (Wood, Drywall etc.)   

7 Scrap Metals   

8 Vegetation (Stumps/Sod)   

9 Asphalt   

10 Other (Describe)   

Comments: 

 
 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 18 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL PROGRAM 
 
Groundwater Monitoring 
 
Procedures for the Groundwater Monitoring Program 
 
To monitor the quality of groundwater migrating off-site a minimum of three monitor wells will be 
installed down gradient from the fill area as shown on the Site Grading Plan. Periodic analytical 
testing of the groundwater will be conducted to ensure that groundwater quality is not degraded as a 
result of the site alteration. Initial groundwater samples must be taken to establish the base line 
parameters of the existing groundwater quality before the filling operation. 
 
The following is an outline of the items related to the groundwater monitoring program that are 
addressed in the Environmental Control Program: 
 
The impacts of the seepage of leachate from the fill area will be assessed in a systematic fashion 
using the techniques described below. 
 
Procedures for performing the groundwater assessment: 
 
1. The concentration of constituents in the groundwater will be determined from laboratory 

analyses of groundwater samples collected down gradient from the fill area. 

2. Acceptable groundwater assessment. The groundwater quality will be considered acceptable if 
the post site alteration groundwater quality is within 5% of the existing groundwater quality and 
there are no statistically increasing trends in chemical concentrations indicative of degrading 
water quality conditions. 

 
Design, Construction and Operation of Groundwater Monitoring Systems 
 
All fill areas, will be identified and studied through a network of monitoring wells operated during 
the active life of the fill area and for two years after closure. Monitoring wells designed and 
constructed as part of the monitoring network will be maintained along with records that include, but 
are not limited to, well location, well size, type of well, the design and construction practice used in 
its installation and well and screen depths. 
 

a. Standards for the location of monitoring points: 
 

1. Monitoring points will be established at sufficient locations down gradient with respect 
to groundwater flow to detect discharge of potential contaminants from within the fill 
area. 

2. Monitoring wells will be located in stratigraphic horizons that could serve as contaminant 
migration pathways. 

3. Monitoring wells will be established as close to the potential source of discharge as 
possible without interfering with the fill operations, and within half the distance from the 
edge of the potential source of discharge to property line down gradient, with respect to 
groundwater flow, from the source. 

4. A minimum of at least three monitoring wells will be established at the property line and 
will be located down gradient from the fill area with respect to groundwater flow. Such 
well or wells will be used to monitor any statistically significant increase in the 
concentration of any constituent and will be used for determining compliance with 
applicable groundwater quality parameters. 

 
b. Standards for monitoring well design and construction: 

 
1. All monitoring wells will be cased in a manner that maintains the integrity of the 

borehole. The casing material will be inert so as not to affect the water sample. Well 
casings requiring a solvent-cement type coupling will not be used. 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 19 

 

2. Wells will be screened to allow sampling only at the desired interval. Annular space 
between the borehole wall and well screen section will be packed with gravel or sand 
sized to avoid clogging by the material in the zone being monitored. The slot size of the 
screen will be designed to minimize clogging. Screens will be fabricated from material 
expected to be inert with respect to the constituents of the groundwater to be sampled. 

3. Annular space above the well screen section will be sealed with a relatively impermeable, 
expandable material such as a cement/bentonite grout, which does not react with or in 
any way affect the sample, in order to prevent contamination of samples and groundwater 
and avoid interconnections. The seal will extend to the highest known seasonal 
groundwater level. 

4. The annular space will be back-filled from an elevation below the frost line and mounded 
above the surface and sloped away from the casing so as to divert surface water away. 

5. The annular space between the upper and lower seals and in the unsaturated zone may be 
back-filled with uncontaminated cuttings. 

6. All wells will be covered with caps and equipped with devices to protect against 
tampering and damage. 

7. All wells will be developed to allow free entry of water to minimize turbidity of the 
sample and minimize clogging. 

8. Other sampling methods and well construction techniques may be utilized if they meet 
Provincial water well construction standards. 

 
c. Standards for Sample Collection and Analysis 

 
1. The groundwater monitoring program will include consistent sampling and analysis 

procedures to assure that monitoring results can be relied upon to provide data 
representative of groundwater quality in the zone being monitored. 

2. The operator will utilize procedures and techniques to insure that collected samples are 
representative of the zone being monitored and that prevent cross contamination of 
samples from other monitoring wells or from other samples. 

3. The operator will establish a quality assurance quality control program for groundwater 
sample collection. 

4. The operator will institute a chain of custody procedure to prevent tampering and 
contamination of the collected samples prior to completion of analysis. 

 
Groundwater Monitoring Program 
 

a. The operator will implement a monitoring program in accordance with the following 
requirements: 

 
1. Monitoring schedule and frequency: 

A. The monitoring period will begin as soon as a fill permit is issued. Monitoring will 
continue for a minimum period of two years after closure. The operator will sample 
all monitoring points on a quarterly basis. 

B. The monitoring frequency may change on a well by well basis to an annual schedule 
if all constituents monitored within the zone of attenuation are less than or equal to 
Standards criteria for three consecutive quarters. However, monitoring will return to 
a quarterly schedule at any well where a statistically significant increase is 
determined to have occurred in the concentration of any constituent with respect to 
the previous sample. 

C. Monitoring will be continued for a minimum period of two years after closure. 
Monitoring beyond the minimum period may be discontinued if no statistically 
significant increase is detected in the concentration of any constituent above that 
measured and recorded during the immediately proceeding schedule sampling for 
three consecutive quarters. 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 20 

 

2. Criteria for choosing constituents to be monitored: 

A. The operator will monitor each well for constituents that will provide a means for 
detecting groundwater contamination. Constituents will be chosen for monitoring if 
the constituent appears in, or is expected to be in, the leachate. 

B. One or more indicator constituents, representative of the transport processes of 
constituents in the leachate, may be chosen for monitoring in place of the constituents 
it represents. 

b. If the analysis of the monitoring data shows that the concentration of one or more 
constituents is attributable to the fill operations and exceeds pre-approval concentrations, 
then the operator will conduct a groundwater impact assessment. The assessment monitoring 
program will be conducted in accordance with the following requirements: 

 
1. The impact assessment will be conducted to collect additional information to assess the 

nature and extent of groundwater contamination, which will consist of, but not be limited 
to, the following steps: 

A. More frequent sampling of the wells in which the observation occurred; 

B. More frequent sampling of any surrounding wells; 

C. The placement of additional monitoring wells to determine the source and extent of 
the contamination; and 

D. Monitoring of additional constituents to determine the source and extent of 
contamination. 

2. If the analysis of the assessment monitoring data shows that the concentration of one or 
more constituents monitored is above the applicable groundwater quality standards and is 
attributable to the fill operations, the operator will determine the nature and extent of the 
groundwater contamination, including an assessment of the continued impact on the 
groundwater should additional fill continue to be accepted at the facility, and will 
implement remedial action. 

 

Plugging and Sealing of Drill Holes 
 

a. All drill holes, including exploration borings that are not converted into monitoring wells, 
monitoring wells that are no longer necessary to the operation of the site, and other holes that 
may cause or facilitate contamination of groundwater shall be sealed in accordance with the 
Ontario Regulation 903. 

 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 21 

 

SCHEDULE “D”  
FINANCIAL SECURITIES 

 
1.0 SECURITY FOR SITE ALTERATION MEASURES 
 

Pursuant to Article 5 of this Agreement the Owner is to provide security in the form of an 
unconditional irrevocable Letter of Credit, for the applicant’s obligations under the By-law 
and any Permit issued, and such requirements as the Chief Building Official considers 
necessary to ensure that the work which is the subject of the Permit is completed in 
accordance with proper engineering standards and practice, this By-law, and the terms and 
conditions of the Permit. Said agreement may be registered on title. The Mayor and the 
Township Clerk are hereby authorized to execute any such agreement on behalf of the 
Township. 
 
1.1 The Letter of Credit or agreement must remain in effect for the full duration of the 

Permit. Any Letter of Credit or agreement and its subsequent renewal forms shall 
contain a clause stating that thirty (30) days written notice must be given to the 
Township prior to its expiry or cancellation. 

1.2 The Letter of Credit shall contain a clause stating that in the event that the Township 
receives notice that a Letter of Credit is expiring and will not be renewed and further 
or additional securities are not provided forthwith, the Township may draw on the 
current Letter of Credit at the discretion of the Chief Building Official. The Permit 
Holder agrees that any interest accruing on the realized security shall belong to the 
Township and not to the Permit Holder. 

 

2.0 GUARANTEE OF SITE WORKS 
 

2.1 The applicant shall provide the Township with a letter of credit in the amount of 
$100,000.00 to guarantee that the works will be completed in accordance with the 
approved plans and documents. 

 

3.0 PROTECTION OF TOWNSHIP HIGHWAYS 
 

3.1 This requirement shall come into effect between the Township of Puslinch and the 
owner (or its authorized agent) of private lands adjacent to a Township Highway 
when the owner has initiated an undertaking that may cause injurious effects to 
Township Highways. 

3.2 When it is determined by the Township Road Superintendent or designate, that the 
scope of a private undertaking will foul, damage, obstruct, injure or encumber the 
Township’s highways; the owner shall provide financial securities to the Township to 
compensate for all such manners of maintenance and restitution that may result from 
the owner’s actions on the thoroughfare. 

3.3 With regards to the security deposit: 

3.3.1 The Township Road Superintendent shall determine the value of the financial 
securities required by the Township. 

3.3.2 The valuation of the security deposit will be an estimate based upon the scope 
of the owner’s undertaking and potential costs to maintain and restore the 
Township highways to their existing conditions prior to the initiation of the 
undertaking. 

3.3.3 The minimum security deposit shall be $1,000.00. 

3.3.4 At any time during the course of the owner’s undertaking, the Township 
Road Superintendent may draw upon the securities posted by the owner to 
clean, maintain, repair or control the effects of the owner’s undertaking on 
the Township highways. 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 22 

 

3.3.5 Should the Township Road Superintendent determine that highway 
maintenance or restitution costs resulting for the owner’s undertaking will 
exceed the estimated security deposit; the owner shall forthwith provide the 
additional securities as deemed necessary by the Roads Superintendent. 

3.3.6 Upon the completion of the owner’s undertaking, the Township will inspect 
the adjacent Township highways and refund the balance of the unused 
security deposit. Similarly, the owner will immediately reimburse the 
Township upon its demand for any and all additional funds expended to 
maintain, repair or correct any deficiencies to the Township’s highways as a 
result of the owner’s undertaking. 

3.4 The security deposit to be posted with the Township shall be in the form of an 
unconditional irrevocable Letter of Credit. 

3.4.1 The deposit must remain in effect for the full duration of the owner’s 
undertaking or until such additional time as the Township Roads 
Superintendent deems necessary due to the season of the activities. 

3.4.2 Any letter of credit and its subsequent renewal forms shall contain a clause 
stipulating that thirty (30) days written notice must be given to the Township 
prior to its expiry or cancellation. 

3.4.3 The Letter of Credit shall contain a clause stating that in the event that the 
Township receives notice that the Letter of Credit is expiring and will not be 
renewed and further or additional securities are not provided forthwith, the 
Township may draw upon the current Letter of Credit at the discretion of the 
Township Treasurer. 

3.5 In the case of emergency repairs or clean-up the Township Road Superintendent may 
undertake the necessary works at the expense of the owner and draw upon the 
securities posted by the owner. 

3.6 All decisions of the Township’s Road Superintendent shall be final with respect to 
any maintenance, cleaning, restoration or repairs to the Township highways resulting 
from the owner’s undertaking. 

3.7 Nothing within these requirements shall preclude the authority of the Township 
Roads Superintendent to maintain the standard duty of care on the Township 
highways, nor limit the abilities of the Superintendent to control or cease the 
proponent’s activities upon the Township highways. 

 

4.0 MUNICIPAL SERVICE FEES 
 

4.1 The applicant shall pay to the Township of Puslinch a Municipal Service Fee of 
$0.06/Tonne or $0.10/c.m. of material imported to the fill site. 

4.2 Payment is to be made to the Township at six (6) month intervals or at the 
completion of the project whichever occurs first. 

4.3 This municipal service fee is for recovering expenses incurred in accordance with 
Section 5.5 of this Agreement. 

 
5.0 IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE PERMIT HOLDER: 
 

5.1 To obtain the approval of the Chief Building Official that the Site has been 
adequately reinstated and stabilized in accordance with this by-law, the plans 
accompanying the Permit and the terms and conditions of the Permit; and, 

5.2 To request that the Township carry out a final inspection of the Site and to obtain the 
approval of the Chief Building Official that this by-law and the terms and conditions 
of the Permit have been complied with the Permit Holder. 

6.0 When the provisions of sections 4.0 and 5.0 above as well as Schedule C – Ground Water 
Monitoring Program have been fully complied with to the satisfaction of the Chief Building 
Official, he or she shall release the Permit Holder’s security. 



SITE ALTERATION AGREEMENT  Page 23 

 

 
SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL SECURITIES 

 
A. Site Works  $100,000.00 
B. Township Roadways (Min.) $  n/a 
 TOTAL DEPOSIT $100,000.00 
C. Municipal Service Fees  

• Fee based upon quantity of fill material imported. 
 

 














































	2015 05 14 - Special Council Agenda 
	Delegation 3(a) 
	Delegation 3(b) 
	Ontario Soil Regulation Task Force Presentation
	By-Law Project Info
	Model Agreement for Large Scale Fill Receivng Sites
	Fill Management Plan for Large Scale Fill Sites 

	Report PD-2015-008 - Site Alteration Agreement Marc & ANdea Reid - 7827 Wellington Rd. 36 
	Schedule "A" 
	Schedule "B" 
	Schedule "C" 
	Schedule "D"
	Schedule "E"
	Schedule "F"
	Schedule "G" 
	Schedule "H"
	Schedule "I"
	Schedule "J"
	Schedule "J.A"
	Schedule "K"
	Schedule "L"
	Schedule "M"
	Schedule "N"
	Schedule "O"
	Schedule "P"
	Schedule "Q"
	Schedule "R"
	Schedule "S"
	Schedule "T"
	Schedule "U"
	Schedule "V"
	Schedule "W"
	Schedule "X"

	Report PD-2015-003 - Reid - Site Alteration Agreement  - Full Report
	Report PD-2015-03 Reid Site Alteration Agreement
	Report PD-2015-03 Schedule A Reid Key Map
	Report PD-2015-03 Schedule B Reid arials (2)
	 Schedule C - Agreement
	 Schedule D - excerpts from  By-law 

	Report PD-2014-005 - Public Meeting - Site Alteration Application File L04-REI - Marc & Andrea Reid - 7827 Wellington Road 36
	Attachement A 
	Attachment B 
	Attachment C 
	Attachment D 
	Attachment E 
	Attachment F 
	Attachment G 

	Report PD-2015-07 - Site Alteration Agreement - Marc & Andrea Reid - 7827 Wellington Rd. 36 - Full Report
	Report  PD-2015-007 
	Schedule A - Hydrogeology Report 
	Schedule B - Report PD-2015-003
	Schedule C - Report PD-2015-05
	Schedule D - SIte Alteration Agreement

	Public Meeting Minutes - March 11, 2015
	Council Meeting Minutes - April 15, 2015

